
 
Published and despatched by democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk on Friday 20 January 2023. 

 01476 406080 
Karen Bradford, Chief Executive 

www.southkesteven.gov.uk 

Governance 
and Audit 
Committee 

 

     
 

 

Monday, 30 January 2023 at 2.00 pm 
Council Chamber - Council Offices, St. Peter's Hill, 

Grantham. NG31 6PZ 
 

 

Committee 
Members: 

 

Councillor Paul Wood (Chairman) 
Councillor Kaffy Rice-Oxley (Vice-Chairman) 
 

Councillor Richard Dixon-Warren, Councillor Gloria Johnson, Councillor Ian Stokes, 
Councillor Sue Woolley and Vacancy (Alliance SK) 
 

Agenda 
 

 This meeting can be watched as a live stream, or at a later date, via the SKDC 
Public-I Channel 

 

 

1.   Apologies for absence 
 

 

2.   Disclosure of interests 
Members are asked to disclose any interests in matters for consideration at the 
meeting. 
 

 

3.   Minutes of the meeting held on 30 November 2022 
 

(Pages 3 - 11) 

4.   Updates from previous meeting 
To consider updates on Actions agreed at the meeting held on 30 November 
2022. 
 

(Page 13) 

5.   Appointment of External Auditors 
To inform committee of the outcome of the Public Sector Audit Appointment 
procurement process. 
 

(Pages 15 - 17) 

6.   Internal Audit Progress Report 
This report provides an update on progress against the internal audit plan and 
summarises the results of our work. 
 
 
 
 

(Pages 19 - 61) 

mailto:democracy@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://www.southkesteven.gov.uk/
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
https://southkesteven.public-i.tv/core/portal/home
https://southkesteven.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


 

7.   Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2023-24 
This Council is required by regulations issued under the Local Government Act 
2003 to produce a Treasury Management Statement for each financial year.  
The draft Statement meets the requirements of the CIPFA Code of Practice on 
Treasury Management (the Code) and the Prudential Code. 
 

(Pages 63 - 98) 

8.   Short Scrutiny Improvement Review 
To provide the Governance and Audit Committee with an opportunity to consider 
an updated Action Plan in response to the Short Scrutiny Improvement Review 
undertaken by the Centre for Governance and Scrutiny. 
 

(Pages 99 - 127) 

9.   Safeguarding Annual Report 2021-2022 
In accordance with Article 10 (Regulatory Framework – xxiii) of the 
Constitution, this report presents to the Governance and Audit Committee 
the Annual Report on Safeguarding. The report provides an overview of 
the Council’s involvement in the safeguarding of children, young people 
and vulnerable adults for 2021/2022.   
 

(Pages 129 - 141) 

10.   Work Programme 2022 - 2023 
To consider the Committee’s Work Programme for 2022 – 2023. 
 

(Pages 143 - 144) 

11.   Any other business, which the chairman, by reasons of special 
circumstances, decides is urgent. 
 

 



 
 

Meeting of the 
Governance and Audit 
Committee 
 
Wednesday, 30 November 2022, 
1.00 pm 

 

 

 
 

Committee Members present 
 

 

Councillor Paul Wood (Chairman) 
Councillor Kaffy Rice-Oxley (Vice-Chairman) 
 
Councillor Ashley Baxter 
Councillor Richard Dixon-Warren 
Councillor Gloria Johnson 
 

 

Cabinet Members 
 
Councillor Adam Stokes, Deputy Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Leisure 
 
Officers  
 
Alan Robinson (Deputy Chief Executive) 
Richard Wyles (Chief Finance Officer) 
Graham Watts (Assistant Director of Governance) 
Alison Hall-Wright (Assistant Director of Finance) 
Tracey Elliott (Governance and Risk Officer) 
Sarah Downs (Democratic Officer) 
 
Assurance Lincolnshire Auditor 

 

 
Lucy Pledge 
 
Grant Thornton Auditor 
 
Laurelin Griffiths 

 
1. Apologies for absence 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Ian Stokes and Sue Woolley. 
 
Councillor Ashley Baxter represented Alliance SK at the Committee meeting 
 

 

3

Agenda Item 3



 
 

2. Disclosure of interests 
 

No interests were disclosed. 
 

3. Minutes of the meeting held on 28 September 2022 
 

A Member asked for an update on minute no.24 (page 4 of the agenda).  Grant 
Thornton were asked to amend their report that previously had an incomplete 
sentence. 
 
The Assistant Director of Finance clarified that an amended report had been 
received.  The incorrect sentence should have read ‘spending’ not ‘accordingly’.  
The Officer clarified the corrected report was to be distributed to all Committee 
Members and Democratic Services were to ensure the report was published on the 
website.   
 

 
ACTION 1: 
 
Democratic Services Officer to distribute the amended audit report to 
Committee Members and publish on the website. 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 28 September 2022 were proposed, seconded 
and AGREED as a correct record.  

 
4. Updates from previous meeting 

 
A Member confirmed that they were grateful for the Scrutiny workshop held that 
morning that was made available to the public, although the Member expressed the 
view that it was a shame that the public were unable to speak, however it was a 
productive meeting and they looked forward to seeing the results implemented at 
the earliest opportunity. 

 
5. Internal Audit Progress Report 

 
The purpose of this report was to: 

 

• Provide details of the audit work during the period October 2022 to 15th 
November 2022  

• Advise on progress of the 2022/23 plan  

• Raise any other matters that may be relevant to the Audit Committee role 
 
Since the last progress report in September, one audit report has been completed – 
Cyber Security Phase 1.  This received a substantial assurance opinion although 
some improvement needed in the application of controls but overall, they were 
adequate, appropriate and operating sufficiently so that risks to the activity were 
medium / low.  
 

4



 
 

Reports at Draft stage were: 
 

• Programme management  
• Housing void management  
 
The delivery of the plan was on track and all audits were scheduled.  The key focus 
over the next five months included:  

 
• Health & Safety  
• Key control testing (Debtors – Creditors – Capital Programme)  
• Combined Assurance (addition to the plan)  

 
The following audits had been re-scheduled to April – June 2023 to ensure the 
audits  added most value:  
 
• Housing Income – new system currently being implemented  
• HRA building programme – programme not started 

 
There had been a request for some engagement with the internal audit plan and 
there was a brief outline of the process in the report.  A further report was to be 
presented in March 2023.  This was to enable earlier insight into any areas of 
concern the Committee may have. 
 
During discussion, a Member asked if the Committee were to have sight of the 
action plan? 
 
The Auditor confirmed given the subject matter, cyber-security, no details had been 
provided but there was a tracker available that provided more detail if required.  
There was substantial assurance but the Auditor informed that more detail would 
require the report to be an exempt item. 
 
The Chief Finance Officer confirmed that a detailed action plan would be welcomed 
so the Committee had full sight of the actions and the timelines agreed with the 
management responses. 
 
The Vice Chairman agreed more details would be very helpful, given the important 
subject matter.  Cyber-security had been in the news a lot recently and the 
Committee would like the extra assurance of seeing the details. 
 
The Chairman thanked the Auditor for the report. 
 
It was proposed, seconded and AGREED:  

 
a) That the Governance and Audit Committee noted the Internal Audit 

Progress Report 
 

 

5



 
 

6. External Audit Annual Governance Report 
 

This report, presented by an Auditor from Grant Thornton, summarised the findings 
to date on the 2021 – 2022 audit of the financial statements.  It was important to 
note this was a draft version currently due to the limited progress that had been 
made in audit procedures on the Council’s property valuations.  The aim was to 
finalise this work within the next couple of months so as to be in a position to sign 
off the financial statements.  To date no significant inconsistencies had been 
identified and progress had been made on outstanding audits since the report had 
been completed. 
 
The Auditor highlighted the fact that the assumption used for salary growth in the 
Pension Liability was considered optimistic.  However, no overall material issues 
were identified. 
 
Recommendations were listed within the appendices of the report.  It was expected 
that the Auditor’s Annual Report was to be issued by March 2023 in line with the 
National Audit Office’s revised deadline. 

 
During discussion, Members raised the following points: 

 

• In reference to the net pension liability, did there not need to be an agreement 
between the Auditor’s view and that of the Council? 

 

• There was no report obtained from the payroll software with respect to the 
availability of a service auditor report.   Why was this? 

 

• When was certification expected to be completed? 
 

• What audit had taken place on InvestSK Ltd and EnvironmentSK Ltd? 
 

The Auditor informed the Committee that a central report was written by appointed 
experts which set out the assumption range to be expected.  When assumptions fell 
out of this range, it had to be considered whether the assumption was appropriate 
and not materially different.  The Auditor added that in reference to the payroll 
services, i-trent were requesting a fee for the provision of a report and this had not 
been requested.  No significant concerns were identified with the processes.  
Certification was to be completed at the very end of the process once the National 
Audit Office as completed their guidance, early in the new year. 
 
The Assistant Director of Finance informed Members that the i-trent system was 
used for the storage of data only and clarified that payroll services had not been 
outsourced.  The Council had taken all steps to ensure a secure and robust process 
was in place.  Members were informed that group accounts were only required for 
the materiality threshold, for example Gravitas Housing Ltd.  LeisureSK Ltd 
accounts had been included within the Statement of Accounts in July 2022.  
InvestSK Ltd accounts had been considered at Companies Committee. 
 

6



 
 

It was proposed, seconded, and AGREED; 
 

a) That the Governance and Audit Committee noted and accepted the 
contents of the Annual Governance Report 

 
 

7. Treasury Management Mid-Year Report 2022-23 
 

The Council formally adopted the key recommendations of the Chartered Institute 
of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of Practice on treasury 
management (revised 2017).  In line with the Code the Council adopted a treasury 
management policy statement that requires a mid-year report on treasury and debt 
management operations during the financial year.  Additionally, under part 1 of the 
Local Government Act 2003, the Council was required to have regard to the 
Prudential Code for capital finance including the setting of Prudential Indicators.  
Relevant treasury management indicators were incorporated into the Treasury 
Management Strategy 2022-23 approved by Council on 3 March 2022.  This report 
was submitted in accordance with these requirements and provided a review of 
treasury management for the period ended 30 September 2022.  The following 
elements are covered by the report:  

 
• A review of debt management operations  
• A review of investment operations  
• An update on the treasury management Prudential Code Indicators  
• An economic update for the first part of the 2022/23 financial year  
 
No additional borrowing was required during the first half of 2022/23.  All current 
Council borrowing was with the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) and the average 
rate of interest paid on the debt portfolio was 2.47%.  Appendix A shows loans 
outstanding as at 30 September 2022.  
 
As at 30 September 2022, the Council had short-term borrowing, which is defined 
as borrowing due to be repaid within 365 days, of £3.221m.  This was to be repaid 
in instalments of £1.611m on 28 March 2023 and 28 September 2023. The average 
annual rate of interest on these loan repayments was 3.03%. 
 
As at 30 September 2022 the Council held short term investments of £77.424m 
(specified investments) and £5m (non-specified investments).   The Weighted 
Average Rate of Return was 2.17% compared with that of the Link (the Council’s 
treasury management advisors) Investment Benchmarking Analysis group which 
was 1.76%.  In the period ended 30 September 2022, £53.0m of short-term fixed 
deposits were placed; £64.0m of investments matured within this same period.  In 
the period ended 30 September 2022, there were no long-term fixed deposits 
placed and no long-term fixed deposits matured. 
 
Prudential Code indicators specific to treasury management were designed to 
ensure that treasury management is carried out in accordance with professional 

7



 
 

practice.  Indicators for 2022/23, 2023/24 and 2024/25 were approved by Council 
on 3 March 2022 as part of the Treasury management Strategy 2022/23. 
 
The Bank of England’s Monetary Policy Committee raised the base rate by 50 bps 
to 2.25% in September 2022 meeting, this was the 7th consecutive rate hike, and 
increased borrowing costs to the highest since 2008.  Retail sales reduced by 1.6% 
in August, the biggest decline so far this year, following a 0.4% rise in July.  In 
August 2022 initial estimates showed that the public sector spent more than it 
received in taxes and other income.  This resulted in £11.8 billion of borrowing, 
which was £5.8 billion more than the £6.0 billion forecast by the Office for Budget 
Responsibility (OBR). 
 
The Council’s Treasury Management Strategy has the following approved ethical 
investment statement: “The Council, in making investments through its treasury 
management function full supports the ethos of socially responsible investments”. 

 
However, it was proposed that the following ethical statement is included in the 
proposed 2023/24 Treasury Management Strategy:  
 
Investment guidance, both statutory and from CIPFA makes clear that all investing 
must adopt the key Treasury Management principles of security, liquidity and yield 
(SLY) in this order of priority. The Council is however committed to Environmental, 
Social and Governance (ESG) factors. Through the Treasury Management 
Strategy, in terms of ESG investment considerations, ESG metrics, will be used 
where appropriate and available in the credit rating agency assessments when 
considering investment opportunities. 
 
Members raised the following points during discussion: 
 

• It was unfortunate the Council had not managed to find an agreeable interest 
rate or make sufficient progress on the refurbishment of the Deepings Leisure 
Centre, due to the increased borrowing rate. 

 

• The negative press article in The Guardian about the Council’s investment in a 
Qatar bank was inaccurate and unfortunate. 

 

• The proposed alteration in text on the ethical statement was welcomed. 
 
The Chief Finance Officer confirmed that security was the principal concern, 
financially and they were ultimately responsible for those decisions.  It was clarified 
that the Council invests in only highly rated financial institutions and not countries 
themselves.  
 
It was proposed, seconded, and AGREED: 

 
That the Committee:  

 

8



 
 

a) Noted and approved the contents of the mid-year review of treasury 
management activity for 2022-2023.  

 
b) Agreed to propose an inclusion of an amended ethical statement in the 

2023/24 Treasury Management Strategy.  
 

8. Statement of Accounts and Annual Governance Statement 2021/22 
 

The Assistant Director of Finance presented the report.  The Officer informed the 
Committee that the Draft Accounts were reviewed by Governance and Audit 
Committee on 20 July 2022 and published on 29 July 2022.  The statutory deadline 
was 31 July 2022 and this was met.  The Statement of Accounts was updated to 
reflect any changes that were identified by the Finance Team and then agreed with 
External Audit and included a narrative report, providing a guide to the most 
significant matters reported within the accounts.  It explained the Council’s financial 
position and assisted in the interpretation of the accounting statements.  A table 
within the report listed amendments to the draft accounts made to date. 

 
The Council was required to produce an Annual Governance Statement (AGS) in 
accordance with the CIPFA/SOLACE framework “Delivering Good Governance in 
Local Government” in order to meet the statutory requirement set out in Regulation 
6 of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015.  The statement was an open and 
transparent review of the effectiveness of the Council’s system of governance, risk 
management and internal control, including performance across all its activities. 
 
The date for publishing the audited accounts was due to be 30 November 2022 but 
that deadline was not to be met due to delays beyond the Council’s control.  Such 
delays were unfortunately common across Local Government due to the limited 
resourcing of external audit. 
 
During discussion, Members raised the following points: 
 

• Where was the loan to EnvironmentSK Ltd recorded? 
 

• How and why had approximately £500,000 been paid in termination benefits 
to leaving staff members? 

 

• Was it not the case that all four wholly-owned companies of the Council 
receive their income from the Council itself? 

 

• How frequently were the risks reviewed on the register? 
 

• Why was there insufficient uncertainty to indicate any impairment of assets as 
a result of potentially needing to close facilities or services? 

 

• What were the two collaborations in reference to joint operations (mentioned 
on page 69)?  

 

9



 
 

• Who made the decision when determining the uncertainty? 
 

The Assistant Director of Finance confirmed that the EnvironmentSK Ltd loan was 
included within long-term Debtors on the balance sheet.  The Officer explained that 
LeisureSK Ltd received their income from customers.  This was a material amount 
(at least £1 million) of income from a third party.  This was the same for Gravitas 
Housing Ltd who received income from the sale of assets. 
 
The Chief Finance Officer informed Members that termination benefits were put 
through a ‘value for money’ process which was overseen by the Head of Paid 
Service – The Chief Executive the s151 Officer and the Monitoring Officer.  The 
majority of these costs referred to were part of the recent Arts Restructure or the 
Corporate Restructure implemented in April last year.  The costs were offset 
against salary savings in line with best value.  The Officer clarified that the 
recommendations within the report were based on there being no material changes, 
just disclosure changes that had been identified.  The report was seeking a 
delegation to continue the closedown process based on the advice of the External 
Audit Team in regards to the extended  audit period. 

 
A Member questioned whether it was ‘best practice’ to pay one Officer £81,000 and 
another £115,000 as severance payments. 
 
The Chief Finance Officer confirmed that a decision was made to remove specific 
posts with a value-for-money test being integral to the decision-making.  The posts 
being removed enabled savings going forward. 
 
The Chairman expressed an understanding of the reasons for these payments but 
added that it was important that these were scrutinised. 
 
The Assistant Director of Finance confirmed that the Finance Risk Register was 
reviewed at the Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee.  Assets were routinely valued and critical judgements 
made as to their potential impact on the statement of accounts.  With the Fair-
Funding review and Business Rates Retention review, there was insufficient 
information to assess the potential impact and this was recorded within the 
accounts.  The Chief Finance Officer clarified that this related to a theoretical risk as 
growth received from these income sources could potentially be redistributed 
elsewhere but the reviews were not progressing within the current political climate. 
 
The Assistant Director of Finance confirmed that they and the Chief Finance Officer 
made the decision alongside advisors when determining the uncertainty on asset 
impairment.  The collaborations referred to were the East Midlands Building Control 
Partnership and the collaboration with Burghley Ltd over the development at St 
Martin’s Park. 
 
The Chairman thanked the Finance Team for the extensive work that had been 
involved in the completion of the accounts. 
 

10



 
 

It was proposed, seconded, and AGREED: 
 
That the Governance and Audit Committee:  

 
a) Noted the outcome of the audit work to date by the Council’s external 

auditors Grant Thornton.  
 
b) Delegate authority to the Chief Finance Officer to make any final wording 

changes and accounting adjustments following the conclusion of any 
outstanding audit queries provided these were not material to the 
accounts.  

 
c) Delegate approval of the audited Statement of Accounts and the Letter of 

Representation to the Chairman on behalf of the Governance and Audit 
Committee in consultation with the Chief Finance Officer following the 
completion of the audit of the 2021/22 Statement of Accounts.  
 
The Chief Finance Officer was to provide members of the Governance 
and Audit Committee with the audited Statement of Accounts for the 
financial year 2021/22 upon completion of the audit.  
 

9. Work Programme 2022- 2023 
 

The Committee noted the contents of the Work Programme 2022 – 2023. 
 
The Chairman confirmed the next meeting of the Committee had been moved to 30 
January 2023. 
 
The findings from the recent Scrutiny Review were to be heard at the January 
meeting. 

 
10. Any other business, which the chairman, by reasons of special 

circumstances, decides is urgent. 
 

11. Close of meeting 
 

The Chairman closed the meeting at 14:05. 
 
 

11



This page is intentionally left blank



Action Sheet 
To provide members with an update on actions agreed at the 30 November 2022 meeting of the Governance and Audit Committee.  

Min 
no.  

Agenda 
Item 

Action(s) Assigned to Comments/status Deadline 

3 Minutes of 
meeting held 
on 28 
September 
2022 

That the Committee receive an 
amended audit annual report by 
email.  

Democratic Services Officer Information to be shared 
with Members once 
available 
 

Email sent on 1 
December 
2022 and 
amended 
report 
published 
online. 
 
COMPLETE 

 

13

A
genda Item

 4



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

       

Governance and 
Audit Committee 
 
 

Date 30 January 2023 
 
Report of Councillor Adam Stokes, 
Deputy Leader of the Council 
 
 

 

 

Appointment of External Auditors 
 

Report Author 

Alison Hall-Wright, Assistant Director of Finance 

  Alison.hall-wright@southkesteven.gov.uk  

 

 

Purpose of Report 

 

To inform the Committee of the outcome of the Public Sector Audit Appointment 

procurement process. 

 

 

Recommendations 

 

That the Governance and Audit Committee: 

1. Notes that KMPG LLP will be the Council’s external auditors for the period 
2023/24 to 2027/28 following the completion of the Public Sector Audit 
Appointments procurement. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

15

Agenda Item 5

mailto:Alison.hall-wright@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


Decision Information 

Does the report contain any 
exempt or confidential 
information not for publication? 

No 

 

What are the relevant corporate 
priorities?  

High performing Council 

Which wards are impacted? All  

 

1.  Implications 
 

Taking into consideration implications relating to finance and procurement, legal and 

governance, risk and mitigation, health and safety, diversity and inclusion, safeguarding, 

staffing, community safety, mental health and wellbeing and the impact on the Council’s 

declaration of a climate change emergency, the following implications have been 

identified: 

 

Finance and Procurement  

 

1.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report as it is informing 

Governance and Audit Committee on the outcome of the PSAA procurement 

process.   

 

Richard Wyles, Chief Finance Officer  

 

Completed by: (insert name and job title) 

 

Legal and Governance 

 

1.2 There are no legal and governance implications arising from this report. 

 

Completed by: Graham Watts, Assistant Director of Governance and Deputy Monitoring 

Officer 

 

2. Background to the Report 
 

2.1  The Council currently utilises Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA) for the 

procurement of external audit services. On 3 March 2022 Full Council approved 

that the Council should opt into the PSAA national procurement scheme for the 

provision of external audit services for the period commencing April 2023. 

 

2.2 On 17 October 2022 the PSAA informed the Council that KPMG LLG would be the 

appointed external auditor for the period 2023/24 to 2027/28 subject to 

consultation. 

16



 

2.3 Confirmation has now been received that KPMG LLP have been formally 

appointed as the Council’s external auditors.  The appointment was made under 

regulation 13 of the Local Audit (Appointing Person) Regulations 2015 and was 

approved by the PSAA Board at its meeting on 16 December 2022. 

 

2.4 Members should note that the audit of the 2023/23 Statement of Accounts will be 

completed by Grant Thornton so Governance and Audit Committee will continue 

to receive reports from the Council’s current external auditors during 2023/24. 

 

3. Other Options Considered 
 

3.1 There are no alternative options as Full Council approved on 3 March 2022 that 

the Council should opt into the national procurement for the provision of external 

auditor services. 

 

4. Reasons for the Recommendations 
 

4.1 To ensure that the Governance and Audit Committee is informed of the outcome 

of the appointment of external auditors’ procurement process for the period 

2023/24 – 2027/28. 

 

5. Consultation 
 

5.1 A report was presented to Full Council 3 March 2022 proposing that the Council 

opt into the Public Sector Audit Appointments national procurement process. 

 

6. Background Papers 
 

6.1 Public Sector Audit Appointments report. 

  

http://moderngovsvr/documents/s32588/Public%20Sector%20Audit%20Appointm

ents%20Report.pdf 

 

  

 

 

 

17

http://moderngovsvr/documents/s32588/Public%20Sector%20Audit%20Appointments%20Report.pdf
http://moderngovsvr/documents/s32588/Public%20Sector%20Audit%20Appointments%20Report.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



Internal Audit 
Progress Report 

South Kesteven 

District Council 

30 January 2023 

For all your assurance needs 19

Agenda Item 6



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Key Messages 

Assurances Given 

Progress & Delivery 

Page 1 

 
 
 

Appendices 

1 - Assurance Definitions 

2 - Internal Audit Plan 2022/23 – Progress to Date 

 
Attachments 

Internal Audit Report issued: 

Programme Management 

Housing Voids 

Page 4 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Lucy Pledge – Head of Internal Audit & Risk Management 

lucy.pledge@lincolnshire.gov.uk 
 
 

Alastair Simson – Principal Auditor 

alastair.simson@lincolnshire.gov.uk 
 
 
 

This report has been prepared solely for the use of Members and Management of South Kesteven District Council. Details may 

be made available to specified external organisations, including external auditors, but otherwise the report should not be used or 

referred to in whole or in part without prior consent. No responsibility to any third party is accepted as the report has not been 

prepared, and is not intended for any other purpose. 

 
The matters raised in this report are only those that came to our attention during the course of our work – there may be 

weaknesses in governance, risk management and the system of internal control that we are not aware of because they did not form 

part of our work programme, were excluded from the scope of individual audit engagements or were not bought to our attention. 

The opinion is based solely the work undertaken as part of the agreed internal audit plan. 

Contents 

20

mailto:lucy.pledge@lincolnshire.gov.uk
mailto:amanda.Hunt@lincolnshire.gov.uk


Audit Audit Type Assurance Level 

Programme 

Management 

Consultancy Not Applicable 

Housing Void Assurance Substantial – 

control design & 

framework 

 
Limited – operation 

/ implementation of 

controls & 

framework 

 

1 
(spit opinion) 

SUBSTANTIAL 

ASSURANCE 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Key Messages 
 

Assurances 

 
Since our last update report presented to the Governance & Audit 

Committee in December 2022, we have completed the following audits:- 

A copy of the Internal Audit Reports with the agreed action plans are 

attached to this report. 

 
Progress and Delivery 

 
All remaining audits are scheduled for completion by the end of March 

2023. Our key focus over the next five months include: 

 
• Health & Safety – nearing completion / draft report 

• Debtors – fieldwork stage 

• Creditors – fieldwork stage 

• Capital Monitoring – fieldwork stage 

• Combined Assurance – fieldwork stage 

 
 

A complete schedule of planned audits is included as Appendix 2. 
 
 

Note: The assurance expressed is at the time of issue of the report but before the full implementation of the agreed 1 
management action plan. The definitions for each level are shown in Appendix 1. 

0 
HIGH 

ASSURANCE 

Introduction 
The purpose of this report is to: 

 
• Provide details of the audit work during the period 1 December 2022 to 20 January 2023 

• Advise on progress of the 2022/23 plan 

• Raise any other matters that may be relevant to the Governance & Audit Committee role 

1 
(spit opinion) 

LIMITED 

ASSURANCE 

0 
LOW 

ASSURANCE 

1 
CONSULTANCY 

21



  Introduction & Key Messages  
 

 

Implementation of agreed actions 

The Council uses 4action to record and track internal audit recommendations. We plan to 

bring an update on outstanding recommendations to the next Governance & Audit 

Committee on the 15 March 2023. Thereafter, tracking of implementation of agreed 

management actions will be undertaken on a quarterly basis and reported within our 

Internal Audit progress reports. 

In addition to tracking implementation of agreed management actions during the year we 

will undertake a follow up audit to evidence that all actions have been satisfactorily 

implemented where we have issued a Limited or Low assurance opinion. 

Other relevant matters: Assurance Lincolnshire Update 

As you are aware, Lucy Pledge will be leaving Lincolnshire County Council on the 30 

March 2023. She will be retiring from a Head of Audit and Risk Management role having 

helped to build the Assurance Lincolnshire partnership into the success it is today. 

Following a successful recruitment process, we are delighted to confirm that Claire 

Goodenough, has been appointed as a new Head of Audit and Risk Management at the 

County Council – heading up the Assurance Lincolnshire Partnership. Claire has a good 

background of working within the public sector at a senior level and with the Institute of 

Internal Audit. She is looking forward to joining the team from the 23 January 2023, to 

enable a detailed handover, which will incorporate meeting with our clients over the coming 

months. 

We hope you will all join us in welcoming Claire this month as she begins her Assurance 

Lincolnshire journey taking the audit service forward. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2 

22



Appendix 1 Assurance Definitions 
 

High 
Our critical review or assessment on the activity gives us a high level 

of confidence on service delivery arrangements, management of 

risks, and the operation of controls and / or performance. 

 
The risk of the activity not achieving its objectives or outcomes is low. 

Controls have been evaluated as adequate, appropriate and are 

operating effectively. 

Substantial Our critical review or assessment on the activity gives us a 
 

substantial level of confidence (assurance) on service delivery 

arrangements, management of risks, and operation of controls and / 

or performance. 

 
There are some improvements needed in the application of controls 

to manage risks. However, the controls have been evaluated as 

adequate, appropriate and operating sufficiently so that the risk of the 

activity not achieving its objectives is medium to low. 

Limited 
Our critical review or assessment on the activity gives us a limited 

level of confidence on service delivery arrangements, management 

of risks, and operation of controls and/or performance. 

 
The controls to manage the key risks were found not always to be 

operating or are inadequate. Therefore, the controls evaluated are 

unlikely to give a reasonable level of confidence (assurance) that the 

risks are being managed effectively. It is unlikely that the activity will 

achieve its objectives. 

Low 
Our critical review or assessment on the activity identified significant 

concerns on service delivery arrangements, management of risks, 

and operation of controls and / or performance. 

 
There are either gaps in the control framework managing the key 

risks or the controls have been evaluated as not adequate, 

appropriate or are not being effectively operated. Therefore the risk 

of the activity not achieving its objectives is high. 

5 
23



Appendix 2 2022/23 Audit Plan to date 

Audit Scope of Work Start 

Planned 
Date 

Start Actual 

Date 

End 

Actual 
Date 

Rating 

Good 

Governance 
Phase 1 and 

Decision 
making 

To provide assurance that the 

Council has a robust Governance 
Framework in place that aligns to 

best practice (CIPFA / SOLACE 
‘Delivering good Governance in 

local government’ – issued 2016. 

Benchmarking against the 7 good 
governance principles and the 

principles and the Governance 
Risk Resilience Framework – 

issued by the Centre for 
Governance & Scrutiny – issued 

2021. 

22/06/22 22/06//22 08/09/22 Substantial 

Assurance 

Risk 

Management 

To review the effectiveness of the 

risk management arrangements 

including: 

• Leadership & 
Management

• Strategy and Policy

• People – Risk Culture

• Processes

• Risk Handling & 
Assurance

• Outcomes & Delivery

• Using risk maturity model

04/07/22 04/07/22 08/08/22 Substantial 

Assurance 

Cyber 

Security 

The National Cyber Security 
Centre (NCSC) has identified 10 

steps for cyber security to help 
organisations manage  cyber 

risks. The review will cover these 
10 steps with a view to confirming 

that appropriate consideration has 
been given to these areas. 

31/08/22 31/08/22 14/11/22 Substantial 

Assurance 

Health and 

Safety 

To review the effectiveness of the 

Council’s health and safety 

arrangements including: 

• Governance & Oversight

• Compliance

• Processes

• Risk Assessment and
Assurance

• Reporting  and monitoring
• Measuring performance

19/09/22 21/10/22 Fieldwork 

complete – 
drafting 
report 

Housing 

Void 
Management 

Review of the governance and 

procedures in place to monitor, 
manage and report housing voids 

10/10/22 11/10/22 19/01/23 Substantial / 

Limited 
Assurance 

6 
24



Appendix 2 2022/23 Audit Plan to date 

7 

Audit Scope of Work Start 

Planned 

Date 

Start 

Actual 

Date 

End 

Actual 

Date 

Rating 

Programme 

Management 

Review of the programme and 

project management 

procedures in place to provide 

management with assurance 

that a robust and consistent 

approach is being followed. 

This will be an advisory review. 

05/09/22 05/09/22 14/12/22 Consultancy 

Housing 

Income 

Management 

Review of the governance and 

procedures in place to monitor, 

manage and report housing 

income. 

Moved to April – June 2023 

HRA 

Building 

Programme 

Assurance over the Housing 

Revenue Account building 

programme processes and 

procedures. 

Moved to April – June 2023 

Key Control 

Testing 

Delivery of key control testing 

to enable Head of Internal 

Audit to form an opinion on the 

Council’s financial control 

environment. 

Terms of Reference which 

include scope and focus on key 

risks will be determined with 

the appropriate senior 

manager. 

05/12/22 09/01/23 Fieldwork 

Follow Ups To provide management with 

assurance that actions from 

previous key audits have been 

implemented and this has led 

to improved outcomes. 

01/02/23 Tracked with mgt quarterly 

– follow up low / limited

assurance opinion / high

priority actions 

Combined 

Assurance 

Working with management we 

co-ordinate the levels of 

assurance across the Council's 

critical activities, key risks, 

projects and partnerships – 

producing a Combined 

Assurance Status report in 

February / March 2023. 

14/12/22 14/12/22 Fieldwork 

25



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Unrestricted 

 

        

Audit Report 

Programme Management 

Consultancy  

December 2022 

27



 

 

Unrestricted 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Disclaimer 

The matters raised in this report are only those which came to our attention during our internal audit work.  Our quality 
assurance processes ensure that our work is conducted in conformance with the UK Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards and that the information contained in this report is as accurate as possible – we do not provide absolute 
assurance that material errors, fraud or loss do not exist.   
 
The Head of Audit is only responsible for the due professional care in developing the advice offered to managers on risk, 
control and governance issues.  Where managers accept our advice, they accept the accountability for the consequences 
of implementing the advice. Internal Auditors working in partnership with managers during the consultancy assignment will 
not take part in any sign off decision. 

This report has been prepared solely for the use of Members and Management of South Kesteven District Council. Details 
may be made available to specified external organisations, including external auditors, but otherwise the report should not 
be used or referred to in whole or in part without prior consent.  No responsibility to any third party is accepted as the 
report has not been prepared and is not intended for any other purpose.

28



 

Contents 

 

 

Unrestricted 

 

The contacts at Assurance Lincolnshire: 

 

Lucy Pledge CMIIA, QIAL 

Head of Internal Audit 
lucy.pledge@lincolnshire.gov.uk  

 

Emma Bee 

Audit Manager 

emma.bee@lincolnshire.gov.uk 

 

Alastair Simson  

Principal Auditor 

alastair.simson@lincolnshire.gov.uk 

 

Jodie Bromell 

Principal Auditor (SWAP) 

jodie.bromell@swapaudit.co.uk  

 

Background 

Scope & Coverage 

Executive Summary 

Page 

1 

2 

3 

Suggested Areas for Improvement  
 
 
 

5 
 
 

  

 
 
 

 

Distribution 

• Chief Executive 

• Deputy Chief Executive & Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 Officer) 

• Head of Corporate Projects, Policy and Performance  

• Governance and Audit Committee 

 

29

mailto:lucy.pledge@lincolnshire.gov.uk
mailto:emma.bee@lincolnshire.gov.uk
mailto:alastair.simson@lincolnshire.gov.uk
mailto:jodie.bromell@swapaudit.co.uk


 

Background  

 

1 | P a g e  
 

Unrestricted 

The Programmes Team is led by the Head of Corporate Projects, Policy and Performance 

who has a breadth of knowledge in programme and project management, working in this 

profession for 14 years.  Within the team are four Project Officers working on corporate 

projects which provides adequate resources to deliver them. A Policy Officer has recently 

been recruited at the beginning of October 2022 and there is an unfilled post for a 

Performance Lead due to an internal secondment.   

A new Project Framework and Toolkit was introduced in August 2022 and should now be 

followed for all corporate projects. Due to the recent implementation, it was noted that no 

projects have yet been through the framework from inception to completion. Adherence to 

the framework is monitored by the Programmes Team.  Whilst non-corporate projects can 

use and adopt the Project Framework and Toolkit, adherence to this is not monitored. 

There are a variety of corporate projects on the Corporate Projects Register, including 

projects in partnership with third parties, service transformational projects, compliance 

projects and capital projects. These range in complexity, value, and duration. 

30



 

Scope and Coverage  

 

1 | P a g e  
 

Unrestricted 

This was a consultancy review to assess the governance of programme management 

within the Council, to ensure that they deliver the required outcomes. We achieved the 

objective of this audit by assessing the effectiveness of the following controls: 

• The Council has an approved Programme Management Framework which is used 
for all projects. 

• There is a Project Initiation Document (PID) template utilised which has been signed 
off at an appropriate level within the Council. 

• A Project Plan or timeline template has been created with SMART targets and 
milestones set. 

• An initial Risk Assessment is undertaken, and a Risk Register/Issues Log is created 
and monitored for all projects. 

• Regular monitoring and reporting of a project's progress is undertaken by relevant 
parties against the milestones/targets and budget set out in the project plan. This 
feeds into the Programme Management monitoring to determine any capacity 
restraints.  

• Project outcomes and learning are captured and utilised to improve project 
methodology. 

• The Programmes Team are adequately resourced and trained to meet the needs of 

the Council. 

We met with the Head of Corporate Projects, Policy and Performance to undertake this 

review.  Supporting project documentation was reviewed and procedures examined to 

determine the effectiveness of the arrangements. 

31



 

Executive Summary  

 

1 | P a g e  
 

Unrestricted 

The new project management framework and toolkit was implemented to help enhance 

project controls and ensure a clear project methodology is consistently followed.  The Head 

of Service is now proactively working to embed this across the Council’s projects.  Whilst no 

projects have been through the framework in their entirety, all corporate projects are now 

being reviewed to align with the framework.  

 

The new project management framework and toolkit has been developed using best practice 

and recognised project management standards to best support the Council to deliver its 

ambitious plans and wide-ranging portfolio of projects.  The framework helps to aid 

governance over projects and consistency in approach.  

 

Our review identified areas which require improvement and we have made recommendations 

to support the Council in strengthening the controls and processes to ensure projects deliver 

the desired outcomes within the appropriate risk tolerance, budget, and deadlines.   

 

Risk 1: Poor programme management may lead to the failure to deliver project 

objectives within the required timescales resulting in potential financial loss and 

reputational damage 

We reviewed a sample of five projects to determine how well projects are being managed 

and monitored, and what project documentation was in place, using the new framework and 

toolkit as a compliance standard.   We noted that gaps against the new framework but 

acknowledge these projects commenced before it went live in August 2022.  

 

The Council should now actively promote and monitor compliance with the new framework 

to ensure it is embedded into new projects going forward.  The Council should also consider 

whether all existing corporate projects should be aligned to the new framework.  

 

There is a risk that projects are not well governed or delivered effectively if a defined and 

agreed methodology is not followed. For example: 

• Without clear project briefs, projects may not meet expected objectives. 

• Issues may not be resolved if they aren’t recorded throughout the project in a risks, 

assumptions, issues, and dependencies (RAID) log. 

• Absence of a robust project plan may mean project tasks take longer than expected if 

deliverables, timings, and resource are not clearly mapped out; and  

• Project spend may go over budget if finances aren’t robustly monitored.  

 

 

 

 

 

32



 

Suggested Areas for Improvement  

 

5 | P a g e  
 

Unrestricted 

1 
Risk Description Current Rating Target Rating 

Poor programme management may lead to the failure to deliver project 
objectives within the required timescales resulting in potential financial loss 
and reputational damage  

AMBER GREEN 

Findings 

We selected a sample of five projects to review, split across a range of project types listed on the Corporate Projects Register, 
noting that one of these was externally funded for fixed term of two years (with two posts joining the Corporate Projects Team in 
April 2022). One was a project not commencing until next year and another that had been ongoing for over two years regarding the 
Housing Revenue Account.  Using the Council’s new Project Management Framework and Toolkit we ascertained what project 
documentation had been produced and noted the following issues:  
 

• For 2 out of 5 projects, there was no ongoing RAID log. 

• For 1 out of 5 projects, it could not be evidenced that the business case was approved. 

• For 2 out of 5 projects, there were plans in place for individual schemes but there was not an overall plan to pull the whole project 
together. 

• For 2 out of 5 projects, the update reports could be strengthened so it is clear where the project was tracking against the original 
deadlines, and details of the project spend against budget could be added. 

• For 1 out of 5 projects, it could not be evidenced that the lessons learned had been signed off. The other 4 projects were still live 
at the time of audit testing and therefore not at the stage for needing a lessons learned review.  

 
 

Implications 

There is a risk that projects are not well governed or delivered effectively if a defined and agreed methodology is not followed.  This 
applies to existing and new projects.  

 

33



 

Suggested Areas for Improvement  

 

5 | P a g e  
 

Unrestricted 

  

Recommendations Priority level 

1. The Council should review existing live projects and ensure they align to the new framework. 
2. The Council should ensure there is adequate governance in place to embed the new framework. 
3. The Council should activity promote and monitor compliance with the new framework.  Medium 

Agreed Actions Responsibility Implementation dates 

1. To review live projects against toolkit (which includes the governance 
guidelines) and align documentation accordingly. 
 

2. To actively promote compliance across the Council. 

Head of 
Corporate 
Projects, Policy 
and 
Performance 

31st March 2023  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

34



 

Suggested Areas for Improvement  

 

5 | P a g e  
 

Unrestricted 

2 
Risk Description Current Rating Target Rating 

Poor programme management may lead to the failure to deliver project 
objectives within the required timescales resulting in potential financial loss 
and reputational damage  

AMBER GREEN 

Findings 

We also noted that the new Project Management Framework did not state that projects should be subject to an initial risk 
assessment based on the Council's Risk Management Framework prior to the commencement of the project.  None of the five 
projects reviewed underwent an initial risk assessment.  
 
The initial risk assessment is a key part of good governance on decision making and should be included in the framework and 
applied to new projects.  
 

Implications 

Risk assessment and risk monitoring of key corporate projects is a fundamental part of project management. There is a risk that 
decisions and projects are entered into without sufficient consideration of risk and outside of corporate policy and approach.   

Recommendations Priority level 

1. The new framework should be enhanced so projects are risk assessed against the Council’s Risk 
Management Framework prior to commencement.  Medium 

Agreed Actions Responsibility Implementation dates 

The Head of Corporate Projects, Policy and Performance will determine how 
projects can be assessed and included in the Risk Management Framework. 

Head of 
Corporate 
Projects, Policy 

31st March 2023 

35



 

Suggested Areas for Improvement  

 

5 | P a g e  
 

Unrestricted 

and 
Performance 

3 
Risk Description Current Rating Target Rating 

Poor programme management may lead to the failure to deliver project 
objectives within the required timescales resulting in potential financial loss 
and reputational damage  

AMBER GREEN 

Findings 

Non-corporate projects are not currently included in the roll out of the framework which support best practice and effective project 
management and delivery.  
 

Implications 

There is the risk of a two tier system for project management and that non-corporate projects fail to deliver and do not comply with 
best practice and the Councils new Project Management Framework.  

Recommendations Priority level 

1. The Council ensures all relevant projects are managed and delivered under an effective 
framework, which supports and enhances timely, managed delivery.    

Medium 

Agreed Actions Responsibility Implementation dates 

36



 

Suggested Areas for Improvement  

 

5 | P a g e  
 

Unrestricted 

We will identify all relevant posts and service areas undertaking project work and 
determine the best approach to provide training/guidance/ongoing support. 

Head of 
Corporate 
Projects, Policy 
and 
Performance 

31st March 2023 

 

37



T
his page is intentionally left blank



    

 

 

 
 

 Draft Internal Audit Report 

Housing Void Management 

             Date:  19 January 2023 

 

 

 

39



 

 

 

 

40



              Contents 

 

 
 

The contacts at Assurance Lincolnshire with this review are: 

Lucy Pledge 

Head of Internal Audit 

lucy.pledge@lincolnshire.gov.uk 

 

Alastair Simson 

Principal Auditor 

alastair.simson@lincolnshire.gov.uk 

 

Clare Pollard 

Senior Auditor 

Clare.Pollard@lincolnshire.gov.uk 

 

Samuel Baitup 

Senior Auditor  

Samuel.Baitup@lincolnshire.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Background and Scope                                                                                              

Page 
1 

  
Executive Summary  

Assurance Opinion and Key Messages                                                                                            
 

4 
 

Management Response                                                                                              10 
  
Action Plan   

Findings, Recommendations and Agreed Actions 11 
  
Advisory Points – Adding Value through Efficiencies   

Findings and advice 16 
  
Appendices  

Appendix 1 – Assurance Definitions 17 
Appendix 2 – Distribution List 18 
  
 
 
 
 

 

 

41

mailto:lucy.pledge@lincolnshire.gov.uk
mailto:alastair.simson@lincolnshire.gov.uk
mailto:Clare.Pollard@lincolnshire.gov.uk
mailto:Samuel.Baitup@lincolnshire.gov.uk


  Background and Scope 

P a g e | 1 
 

Background and Context 

South Kesteven District Council (SKDC) has nearly 6,000 properties for social housing needs, creating a large revenue for the 

Council, and providing affordable accommodation for multiple tenants who otherwise may struggle to find lodging within their 

budget. 

Around 5% of these properties become vacant every year and to ensure these houses are clean, safe, secure and meet the 

minimum standard set by the regulator of Social Housing and described within South Kesteven Void Quality Standard.  For these 

standards to be met, maintenance of varying degrees is required on the property making it uninhabitable or void during this period 

and therefore not generating any rent/income.  If appropriate, tenants are recharged a contribution of the costs of repairs and 

maintenance.    

A new Void Policy and Re-lets Standard was approved in January 2022.  It aims to provide a greater level of consistency and focus 

on void management – with the objective of: 

‘Delivering a clean, safe and secure property to incoming tenants, within our targets for turnaround times, standard and cost’. 

The Council’s Corporate Plan Priority 5 – ‘Undertake a housing review to provide the highest quality service possible to our tenants’ 

includes a new key performance indicator on average void times - < 60 days. This figure is a stretch target for the service with the 

aim of a 20% reduction in void days annually to eventually meet it.  

Performance is monitored quarterly through the Corporate Leadership Team and reported every six months to Rural and 

Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  Current performance is set out below: 

 2020/21 2021/22 
 

2022/23 – Q3  

Average Void times 
(calendar days)  

Major works: 162.48 
Minor works: 64.06 

83.46 days 
 

     96.72 days  

Void Rent Loss £174k £344k £213k  
Number of properties re-let 377 327 184 

 
 

42



  Background and Scope 

P a g e | 2 
 

The figures show an increase in the average void days lost and is still outside of the targeted <60 void days. 

The Council updated its Rechargeable Repairs Policy in October 2022, encouraging tenants to take responsibility for the 

maintenance and cleanliness of their homes in accordance with their responsibilities in their Tenancy Agreement.  It sets out 

tenants liability for the repair of items which have been caused by wilful damage or by carelessness/negligence by their family or 

visitors to the home. 

The Council has been on a significant improvement programme for its Housing Service – areas most relevant to this audit include: 

• Improved management structure – providing a new direction and transforming the service.  

• New structure for the Housing Repair Services – which includes a new post of Voids Contract Manager.  It aims to improve 

service delivery efficiency and effectiveness. 

• Better cross team working. 

• Improved processes and reporting.  

 

Scope 

The purpose of this audit is to provide assurance on the effective management of void housing. This will encompass reviewing the 

processes in place, testing a sample of cases and evaluating the monitoring systems used to report performance. We will also 

follow up on the previous audit recommendations.  

We tested 18 void properties with void end dates from June 2021 to September 2022. This number was made up of eight minor, 

four moderates and six major work categories.  We targeted a range of properties that had high void days compared to their 

grouping (minor, moderate or major) to ascertain the reasons for delays and identify areas of improvements. 

43



  Executive Summary 

 

P a g e | 3 
 

Substantial Assurance for control design and framework 

 

Substantial Assurance 

Our critical review or assessment on the activity gives us a 
substantial level of confidence (assurance) on service delivery 
arrangements, management of risks, and operation of controls 
and / or performance. 
 
There are some improvements needed in the application of 
controls to manage risks. However, the controls have been 
evaluated as adequate, appropriate and operating sufficiently 
so that the risk of the activity not achieving its objectives is 
medium to low.   

 

 
 

Limited Assurance for operation / implementation of controls and framework  

 
 

 

Limited Assurance 

Our critical review or assessment on the activity gives us a 
limited level of confidence on service delivery arrangements, 
management of risks, and operation of controls and / or 
performance. 
 
The controls to manage the key risks were found not always to 
be operating or are inadequate. Therefore, the controls 
evaluated are unlikely to give a reasonable level of confidence 
(assurance) that the risks are being managed effectively.  It is 
unlikely that the activity will achieve its objectives. 

Direction of Travel 
 
 
 
 

Improving  

 

 

44



  Executive Summary 

 

P a g e | 4 
 

Risk 
Rating 

(R-A-G) 
Recommendations 

  High Medium 

Ineffective management of void housing, leaving properties empty for extended periods and/or being 
below regulation standard for new tenants. 

Medium 1 4 

Processes are ineffective including budget monitoring and re-charge system. Low 0 0 

Skills and capacity to undertake the process are not in place Medium 0 0 

There is no reporting or management oversight of void housing Low 0 0 

Ineffective communication across the team Low 0 0 

Follow up previous audit by RSM Low 0 0 

TOTAL  1 4 
 

  

45



  Executive Summary 

 

P a g e | 5 
 

Key Messages 

 

Turnaround times and rent loss remains a challenging area for the Council.  The new policies and 

processes implemented to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of the Council’s management 

of void properties will take time to deliver expected results.  Whilst the direction of travel is 

improving - performance is still below the target of < 60 days at 96.72 days at Q3 2022/23 with an 

associated loss of income decreasing to £213k. 

The following management actions are already in progress: 

 Implementation of new Integrated Housing Management System which shall have full 
workflow and void process integration. This shall also enable effective recharges to outgoing 
tenants 

 Housing team restructure with an enhanced focus on voids 

 Contracts for Asbestos analytics, sampling and removal works have been procured 

 Implementation of Nat Fed 7 SOR’s to enable effective benchmarking of future costs 

 Implementation of Choice Based Lettings in quarter 2 2023 
 

Our review identified the following improvement areas: 

• Monitoring inspections timescales - 39% of voids were not inspected within 48 hours 
increasing the potential loss of rents due to the property being unoccupied.  We 
acknowledge that the reason for the delay has been recorded but recommend that 
management consider obtaining exception reports on inspection dates exceeding 48 hours 
and consider these as part of the weekly void meetings helping identify root causes and 
improvements. 

 

46



  Executive Summary 

 

P a g e | 6 
 

The service has been impacted by staff shortages in the inspector team which has delayed 

inspections of properties. To relieve staff pressures agency staff were hired to fill the gaps. 

This proved unsuccessful as they left shortly after being trained. The service has 

implemented a plan to also outsource inspections to an external contractor. This is in the 

preliminary stages but if successful will further alleviate pressures on the current in-house 

inspector team.  

The use of Agency staff has resulted in inconsistent application of the new void standard 
resulting in additional works on some properties with an effective increase in costs. This has 
been mitigated by temporary internal staff reshuffles and the clear instruction to contractors 
to cost and seek approval from the manager before carrying out any works not specified. 

  

• Improving data quality within the housing system. We confirmed that an asbestos 
survey was initiated the same day as the inspection in 39% of the samples checked, with 
45% already having survey data and therefore not requiring a survey. Two properties who 
had survey data and did not require an asbestos survey did not show these tasks as 
completed on the void management database. The properties were correctly managed in 
line with the asbestos procedures, but the data was not recorded on to the system. One 
property was delayed by three months due to the asbestos surveying and analytical 
company being out of contract, together with a backlog of work for SKDC. The intermediate 
solution implemented was to bring in an alternative contractor to meet their required KPI’s. 
The service now has a permanent contract in place. 

 

• Performance reporting. We identified some inconsistencies in reporting information on 
Housing Void updates and the Corporate Plan performance framework.  We have 
recommended a review of performance information and benchmarking with other high 
quartile performing council’s.   

47



  Executive Summary 

 

P a g e | 7 
 

 
 

• Reviewing the risk register - During our review we found two incomplete entries, risks are 
not clearly defined and some of the mitigations were not SMART.  Therefore, we have 
recommended a review of the risk register be undertaken.  We understand that service risks 
will be transferred to the 4risk system shortly and service plans are being developed.  This 
is a good time to revisit the risks and issues facing the Housing Repairs Service and 
achievement of the Voids policy. 
 
The service deems that skills and capacity to undertake the process are not in place as a 
medium risk. Even though the service has experienced staff shortages and lack of 
contractor capacity our review noted that the service has put in place satisfactory controls to 
effectively manage the situation. Therefore, we have no recommendations on this risk. 

 
The future of the Service will see the implementation of new systems. For example, 

• The introduction of National Federation Schedule of Rates. This will align the Council with 
contractor working rates removing the need for the contractor to convert them and therefore 
reducing costs. 
 

• The implementation of the housing management system scheduled for release in April 
2023.  This will provide improvement to efficiency through workload reduction and the 
incorporation of workflows. 

 

• A new staff restructure is being proposed which will see the creation of a new Voids 
Contract Manager post. The new member of staff will co-ordinate contractors freeing up 
capacity within the team. 

48



  Executive Summary 

 

P a g e | 8 
 

 
Further detail on our findings can be found in the attached action plan on the following pages.   
 
We have also included some advisory points which management may consider implementing to 
improve efficiency in their systems. 
 
We would like to thank all staff for their help during this review. 

  

49



  Executive Summary 

 

P a g e | 9 
 

Areas of Good 
Practice 
 

 
 
 
 

Through discussion we identified the following areas of good practice: 

 A new Void Policy and Re-lets Standard was approved in January 2022. 

 The Council updated its Rechargeable Repairs Policy in October 2022. 

 Procedure notes updated to reflect current practice. 

 Improved oversight on contractor activity and costings, balancing getting it right first time and 
keeping work within budget. 

 100% of post inspections were carried out on the same day works were completed. 

 Properties were promptly (within 24hrs) placed into the housing pool post inspection. 

 Weekly void monitoring and action tracker 

 Priority planning of works for quick turnaround times – quick wins. 
 

Managing your 
risks 
 

 

Good risk management, including maintaining risk registers, helps you to identify, understand and 
reduce the chance of risks having a negative impact on achievement of your objectives. 
 
During our review we didn’t identify any additional risks to be included on your risk register.  We have 
suggested that the risk register is reviewed, ensuring mitigating actions are SMART and considered in 
how they reduce the likelihood or impact of the potential risk. 
 
 

50



   Management Response 

 

P a g e | 10 
 

Management 
Response 

 
 

The audit has identified that the revised process and Void Policy and Re-let standard provide us with 

the foundations to deliver continuous improvement to this important aspect of Housing. 

The ‘Limited Assurance’ outcome is disappointing but understandable and is a reflection of the 

impact that several factors outside our direct control have had on our wider performance. 

The recent restructure shall remedy the staff levels with direct control of voids to a level that will 

enable positive performance and focus on the voids aside from our other repairs and maintenance 

commitments. 

The audit has highlighted the importance of our upcoming IHMS implementation and the enhanced 

reporting this shall provide us with. The data shall be transparent and of a higher quality enabling us 

to both manage in house resource more effectively alongside our contractor performance and work 

standards. 

The current KPI’s shall be revised as a part of the ongoing service planning and shall be integral to 

the new Corporate Plan. 

Completion and timely delivery of the agreed actions shall enable us to embed the positive 

foundations that we have created. 

 

 

 

 

51



  Action Plan 
  

P a g e | 11 
 

1.  

Risk Description Current Rating Target Rating 

Ineffective management of void housing, leaving properties empty 
for extended periods and/or being below regulation standard for new 
tenants. 

Medium Low 

Findings 

We found that 11 of the 18 (61%) property samples tested were inspected by the voids team within 48 hours of receiving the keys. 
The 7 (39%) properties that were outside of this timeframe was delayed due to staff shortages, Covid restrictions, the Council 
awaiting legal notices and chemical cleaning required. The effect of delayed inspections results in a loss of revenue for properties 
that require minor work; an example of this was a property that had a delay of 13 days for the inspection which is 76% of the total 
17 void days. 

Implications 

Loss of revenue due to the property being unoccupied for longer than necessary. 

Recommendation 

Management to obtain exception reports on inspection dates exceeding 48 hours and consider these 
as part of the weekly void meetings helping identify root causes and improvements.  

High 

Agreed Action Responsibility Implementation date 

1.1  Utilise the new reporting capability of IHMS to monitor each void stage 
and identify opportunities to improve and champion good performance.  

 

Repairs Manager and 
Voids and Responsive 
repairs surveyor. 

 

May 2023 

52



  Action Plan 
  

P a g e | 12 
 

2.  

Risk Description Current Rating Target Rating 

Ineffective management of void housing, leaving properties empty 
for extended periods and/or being below regulation standard for new 
tenants. 

Medium Low 

Findings 

We confirmed that an asbestos survey was initiated the same day as the inspection in 39% of the samples checked, with 45% already having 
survey data and therefore not requiring a survey. Two properties who had survey data and did not require an asbestos survey did not show 
these tasks as completed on the void management database. The properties were correctly managed in line with the asbestos procedures, 
but the data was not recorded on to the system.  

Implications 

Poor data integrity can lead to misinformed decisions and mistrust in the system. 

Recommendation 

2.1  Review data quality of  the Housing System reminding staff of the importance of complete and accurate  
data being input into the system.  Good data ensures good management information provided. 

2.2  Consider reviewing the mandatory fields within the housing system eg should asbestos survey be a   
mandatory field.  Alternatively, explore if management exception reports can be obtained from the system. 

 

Medium  

Agreed Action Responsibility Implementation date 

Weekly exception reports to identify any data inaccuracies to be introduced until the 
implementation of the new IHMS system in May 2023. 

Repairs Manager and 
Voids and Responsive 

repairs surveyor 
February 2023 

53



  Action Plan 
  

P a g e | 13 
 

3.  

Risk Description Current Rating Target Rating 

Ineffective management of void housing, leaving properties empty 
for extended periods and/or being below regulation standard for new 
tenants. 

Medium Low 

Findings 

Properties that have received maintenance work are re-inspected by the Void team to assess and ensure that the required void quality 
standard is met. On occasion properties are found to be sub-standard and require rework. This work is captured within the Void pack up but 
not recorded or used in an effective manner that could assist the service in future improvements.    

Implications 

The service is missing out on analytical data that could be used for improvements in the future. 

Recommendation 

Record post inspection data, where contractors have not completed work, allowing for appropriate contract 
management to be carried out. Medium 

Agreed Action Responsibility Implementation date 

3.1  Utilise the post inspection outcome report from new IHMS post launch to 
understand the level of additional work required post inspection. 
 

Repairs Manager and 
Voids and Responsive 
repairs surveyor. 

May 2023 

3.2  Ensure this report is monitored by the Voids Contract manager to inform contract 
meetings and drive performance improvement. 
 

Repairs Manager and 
Voids and Responsive 
repairs surveyor. 

May 2023 

54



  Action Plan 
  

P a g e | 14 
 

4.  

Risk Description Current Rating Target Rating 

Ineffective management of void housing, leaving properties empty 
for extended periods and/or being below regulation standard for new 
tenants. 

Medium Low 

Findings 

The Council has identified void management as one of its corporate priorities recognising that significant improvement and transformation was 
needed.  The relevant corporate ambition is ‘Housing that meets the needs of all residents’ with an associated Priority 5 – Housing Review to 
provide the highest quality service possible to our tenants’.  An average void turnaround performance of <60 days was set in 2021/22 as a 
key performance measure.   

Information was also provided on the income loss and number of homes re-let during 2021/22.   

Examination of the data showed: 

• Information presented to the Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the 8th December 2022 showed 
performance is currently 81 days turnaround time as at Q2 2022/23.  Although the performance measure was showing red – no 
commentary or improvement action was stated. 

• The new key performance measure amalgamates all types of works – minor / major.  Some major repairs may distort performance 
data and is not comparable with previous years.   

• No financial data is provided – one of the key drivers of the voids policy is to minimise potential revenue losses. 

• Whilst other councils may have different performance measures in place benchmarking with high performing Councils will help 
compare performance.   

Implications 

 Data integrity and consistency in reporting is vital to ensure informed decision making and appropriate action is taken. 

Recommendation 

55



  Action Plan 
  

P a g e | 15 
 

4.1  Review  current performance measures and data integrity, ensuring that the Council is measuring the right 
things to help oversight and monitoring of successful achievement of its Corporate Plan and its void policy.  
We suggest number of voids and £ should be included.  

4.2 That the Council benchmark its void performance with other Councils – perhaps visiting high performing 
Councils (with a turnaround of <60) to learn from best practice.  This should form part of the Voids 
performance update.   

4.3 Commentary on the Corporate Performance update should be action focussed where improvement 
required ie Red / Amber rating. 

 

Medium 

Agreed Action Responsibility Implementation date 

 
4.1  KPI review as a part of the Corporate Plan refresh 

 

Acting Director of 
Housing 

June 2023 

4.2  Utilise Housemark benchmarking figures to understand performance and 
provide context to performance reports 

 

Acting Director of 
Housing 

April 2023 

4.3  This shall be delivered in future performance reporting commentary 
 

Acting Director of 
Housing 

April 2023 

56



  Action Plan 
  

P a g e | 16 
 

5.  

Risk Description Current Rating Target Rating 

Ineffective management of void housing, leaving properties empty 
for extended periods and/or being below regulation standard for new 
tenants. 

Medium Low 

Findings 

The risk register is currently reviewed at the monthly meetings. Examination of the risk register showed: 

• Two incomplete entries 

• Risks that are not clearly defined 

• Mitigations that are not SMART and do not affect the likelihood or impact of the risk eg Risk No.1 mitigation of "Regular meetings to 
understand pressure" would not reduce the impact or likelihood of contractor capacity. 

We understand that service risks will be transferred to the 4risk system shortly and service plans are being developed.  This is a good time to 
revisit the risks and issues facing the Housing Repairs Service and achievement of the Voids policy. 

Implications 

 The Risk Register is an important tool to help prepare for events that effect output and prevent escalation of the issue. If these are not 
completed with due diligence, then output can be severely impacted causing irreparable damage. 

Recommendation 

Review the Risk Register ensuring risk mitigations actions are SMART.  Medium 

Agreed Action Responsibility Implementation date 

5.1  Undertake Risk Register refresh as a part of service planning 
 

Head of Technical 
Services 

April 2023 

  

57



  Advisory Points - Adding Value through Efficiencies 

 

P a g e | 17 
 

The following items are advisory recommendations / comments arising from the audit, which management may wish to consider 

implementing to improve efficiency of the system or performance. 

Ref Finding Advice 

AP 01 The monthly budget meetings held between the Repairs 
manager, Head of Housing Technical Services and 
Accounts incorporates discussions around budget control 
and produces actions to be completed. These taskings 
are captured on the spreadsheet used for the meetings 
but does not have a target completion date or persons 
responsible allocated. 

We recommend producing an action tracker incorporating 
tasks, target dates and responsible person. This will 
provide greater clarity for task management. 

AP 02 The service has produced a flowchart illustrating the 
pathways that Void management should follow. One of 
the gateways is for a post inspection check to be carried 
out and an assumption that it will pass first time. This is 
not always the case and the property is re-assigned to the 
responsible contractor for the work to be completed. 

 

Input a pathway into the process for Post Inspection 
failures. This will ensure that the process has a route to 
follow. 

AP 03 Currently the service uses a word document for capturing 
void activity at the weekly meeting. Placing this data into a 
spreadsheet will allow for historical data to be kept, 
targeted dates can be RAG rated, person/team allocation 
incorporated and a front sheet for statistic presentation. 

Create an excel spreadsheet to track properties, issues 
and actions allocated to staff.  

  

58



           Appendix 1 - Assurance Definitions 

 

P a g e | 18 
 

High Substantial 

 
Our critical review or assessment on the 
activity gives us a high level of 
confidence on service delivery 
arrangements, management of risks, 
and the operation of controls and / or 
performance. 

 

 
Our critical review or assessment on 
the activity gives us a substantial 
level of confidence (assurance) on 
service delivery arrangements, 
management of risks, and operation 
of controls and / or performance. 

 

The risk of the activity not achieving its objectives or outcomes is low.  
Controls have been evaluated as adequate, appropriate and are 
operating effectively. 
 

There are some improvements needed in the application of controls 
to manage risks. However, the controls have been evaluated as 
adequate, appropriate and operating sufficiently so that the risk of 
the activity not achieving its objectives is medium to low.   
 

Limited Low 

 
Our critical review or assessment on the 
activity gives us a limited level of 
confidence on service delivery 
arrangements, management of risks, 
and operation of controls and / or 
performance. 

 

 
Our critical review or assessment on 
the activity identified significant 
concerns on service delivery 
arrangements, management of risks, 
and operation of controls and / or 
performance. 

 

The controls to manage the key risks were found not always to be 
operating or are inadequate. Therefore, the controls evaluated are 
unlikely to give a reasonable level of confidence (assurance) that the 
risks are being managed effectively.  It is unlikely that the activity will 
achieve its objectives. 
 

There are either gaps in the control framework managing the key 
risks or the controls have been evaluated as not adequate, 
appropriate or are not being effectively operated. Therefore, the risk 
of the activity not achieving its objectives is high. 
 

 

59



           Appendix 1 - Assurance Definitions 

 

P a g e | 19 
 

 

Risk Ratings 

Current Reflects the residual risk after assessing the controls in place. 

Target 

Represents what level risk an organisation may wish to take, or what level of risk is considered acceptable.  Where risk 
ratings are not at target levels, then recommendations will be given within the report to help achieve the expected risk 
rating. 

In some areas the target risk rating may not be “Low”, and we may be willing to accept a “Medium” target risk rating.  
These situations could be found where: 

• An organisation wishes to realise potential opportunities and as a result has a higher risk appetite. 

• The area under review is so inherently risky that we accept that risk mitigation strategies are unable to achieve a “Low” 
target risk rating.   

Action Priority 

High  
Immediate management attention is required - an internal control or risk issue where there is a high certainty of:  
substantial loss / non-compliance with corporate strategies, policies, or values / serious reputational damage / adverse 
regulatory impact and / or material fines (action taken usually within 3 months). 

Medium 
Timely management action is warranted - an internal control or risk issue that could lead to financial loss / reputational 
damage / adverse regulatory impact, public sanction and / or immaterial fines (action taken usually within 6 to 12 months) 

60



           Appendix 2 – Distribution List 

 

P a g e | 20 
 

Distribution List   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Disclaimer 

The matters raised in this report are only those which came to 

our attention during our internal audit work.  Our quality 

assurance processes ensure that our work is conducted in 

conformance with the UK Public Sector Internal Audit 

Standards and that the information contained in this report is 

as accurate as possible – we do not provide absolute 

assurance that material errors, fraud or loss do not exist.   

This report has been prepared solely for the use of Members 

and Management of South Kesteven District Council  Details 

may be made available to specified external organisations, 

including external auditors, but otherwise the report should not 

be used or referred to in whole or in part without prior consent.  

No responsibility to any third party is accepted as the report 

has not been prepared, and is not intended for any other 

purpose. 

 

61



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

       

Governance and 
Audit Committee 
 
 

30 January 2023 
 
Report of Councillor Adam Stokes, 
Deputy Leader of the Council 
 
 
 

 

 

2023-24 Treasury Management Strategy 

Statement 
 

Report Author 

Alison Hall-Wright, Assistant Director of Finance 

  Alison.hall-wright@southkesteven.gov.uk  

 

 

Purpose of Report 

 

This Council is required by regulations issued under the Local Government Act 2003 to 

produce a Treasury Management Statement for each financial year.  The draft Statement 

meets the requirements of the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management (the 

Code) and the Prudential Code. 

 

 

Recommendations 

 

That the Committee: 

1. Recommends to Council that the 2023-24 Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement is approved. 

 

 

 

 

63

Agenda Item 7

mailto:Alison.hall-wright@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


Decision Information 

Does the report contain any 
exempt or confidential 
information not for publication? 

No 

 

What are the relevant corporate 
priorities 

High performing Council 

Which wards are impacted? All  

 

1.  Implications 
 

Taking into consideration implications relating to finance and procurement, legal and 

governance, risk and mitigation, health and safety, diversity and inclusion, safeguarding, 

staffing, community safety, mental health and wellbeing and the impact on the Council’s 

declaration of a climate change emergency, the following implications have been 

identified: 

 

Finance and Procurement  

 

1.1 These are considered throughout the report and appendix. 

 

Completed by: Richard Wyles, Chief Finance Officer 

 

Legal and Governance 

 

1.2 This report provides details of the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy 

Statement which forms part of the Budget and Policy Framework.  Members 

should scrutinise any elements which will assist the role of the Governance and 

Audit Committee in it review of the Treasury Management Strategy. 

 

Completed by: Graham Watts, Assistant Director of Governance and Deputy Monitoring 

Officer 

 

Risk and Mitigation 

 

1.3 Risk has been considered as part of this report and any specific high risks are 

included in the table below: 

 

Category Actions/Controls 

Financial Risk The treasury strategy has been 
compiled in conjunction with the 
Council’s treasury advisors and will be 
monitored by the Committee on a 
quarterly basis. 

Completed by: Tracey Elliott, Governance and Risk Officer 

64



 

2. Background to the Report 

2.1  The CIPFA Treasury Management Code defines treasury management activities 
as: “The management of the local authority’s investments and cash flows, its 
banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the 
risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance 
consistent with those risks”.  

2.2  The CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management in the Public Services (the 
“CIPFA Treasury Management Code”) and the CIPFA Prudential Code require local 
authorities to produce a Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) on an 
annual basis.  

2.3  The TMSS details the investment and borrowing policies that the Council will follow 
during 2023/24. The CIPFA code and the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities (DLUHC) statutory guidance also requires the Council to have a policy 
on non-treasury investments which is included in the Capital Strategy which will be 
approved by Council on 1 March 2023.   

2.4 The TMSS sets out the counterparties that the Council will invest with and the limits 
that will be invested with each counterparty.  These limits are detailed in Appendix 
3 of Appendix A. 

2.5 CIPFA published a revised Treasury Management Code and a revised Prudential 
Code on 20 December 2021 and has stated that revisions need to be included from 
the 2023/24 financial year.  The Council is required to reflect the changes to the 
new Codes of Practice when it prepares the Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement (TMSS) and Annual Investment Strategy (AIS) reports and also related 
reports during the financial year.  

2.6 The revised Treasury Mangement Code requires all investments and investment 
income to be attributed to one fo the following purposes:  

• Treasury Management - This type of investment represents balances which 
are only held until the cash is required. 

• Service Delivery – Investments held primarily and directly for the delivery of 
public services including housing, regeneration and local infrastructure.  
Returns on this category of investment which are funded by borrowing are 
permitted only in acses where the income is “either related to the financial 
viability of the project or otherwise incidental to the primary purpose”. 

• Commercial return – Investments held primarily for financial return with no 
treasury management or direct service provision purpose.  Risks on such 
investments should be proportionate to the Council’s financial capacity, i.e., 
that ‘plausible losses’ could be absorbed in budgets or reserves without 
unmanageable detriment to local services.  The Council must not borrow to 
invest primarily for financial return. 

65



2.7.1 The revised Treasury Management Code will require the Council to implement the 
following: 

• Adopt a new liability benchmark treasury indicator to support the finacing 
risk management of the capital financing requirements.  This indicator needs 
to be shown in chart form for a minimum of ten years, with material differences 
between the liability benchmark and actual loans to be explained; 

• Long-term treasury investments, (including pooled funds), are to be classed 
as commercial investments unless justified by a cash flow business case; 

• Pooled funds are to be included in the indicator for principal sums maturing 
in years beyond the initial budget year; 

• Amendment to the knowledge and skills register for officers and members 
involved in the treasury management fuction – to be proportionate to the size 
and complexity of the treasury management conducted by each authority; 

• Reporting to members is be undertaken quarterly.  Specifically, the Chief 
Finance Officer (CFO) is required to establish procedures to monitor and 
report performance against all forward-looking prudential indicators at least 
quarterly.  The CFO is expected to establish a measurment and reporting 
process that highlights significant actual or forecast deviations from the 
approved indicators.   

• Environmental, social and governance (ESG) issues to be addressed within 
the Council’s treasury management policies and practices (TMP1). 

3. Key Considerations 
 

3.1 These are considered throughout the report and Appendix A. 

 

4. Other Options Considered 
 

4.1 No other options are available as the Council is required to produce a Treasury 

Management Strategy as part of the treasury management reporting 

requirements. 

 

5. Reasons for the Recommendations 
 

5.1 The Council is required to produce and approve a Treasury Management Strategy 

Statement as part of the treasury management reporting requirements. 

 

8. Appendices 
 

8.1 Appendix A – 2023-24 Treasury Management Strategy Statement 

 

  

66



Appendix A 

2023-24 Treasury Management Strategy Statement  
 

1. Introduction 

1.1 CIPFA published a revised Treasury Management Code and a revised 
Prudential Code on 20 December 2021 and has stated that revisions need to 
be included from the financial year 2023/24.  This Council, therefore, has to  
have regard to these Codes of Practice when it prepares the Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) and Annual Investment Strategy 
(AIS) reports and also related reports during the financial year which are 
approved by Full Council. 

1.2 The revised Treasury Mangement Code requires all investments and 
investment income to be attributed to one fo the following purposes:  

• Treasury Management - This type of investment represents balances 
which are only held until the cash is required. 

• Service Delivery – Investments held primarily and directly for the 
delivery of public services including housing, regeneration and local 
infrastructure.  Returns on this category of investment which are funded 
by borrowing are permitted only in cases where the income is “either 
related to the financial viability of the project or otherwise incidental to 
the primary purpose”. 

• Commercial return – Investments held primarily for financial return 
with no treasury management or direct service provision purpose.  
Risks on such investments should be proportionate to the Council’s 
financial capacity, i.e., that ‘plausible losses’ could be absorbed in 
budgets or reserves without unmanageable detriment to local services.  
The Council must not borrow to invest primarily for financial return. 

1.3 The revised Treasury Management Code will require the Council to implement 
the following: 

• Adopt a new liability benchmark treasury indicator to support the 
financing risk management of the capital financing requirements.  This 
indicator needs to be shown in chart form for a minimum of ten years, 
with material differences between the liability benchmark and actual 
loans to be explained; 

• Long-term treasury investments, (including pooled funds), are to be 
classed as commercial investments unless justified by a cash flow 
business case; 

• Pooled funds are to be included in the indicator for principal sums 
maturing in years beyond the initial budget year; 

• Amendment to the knowledge and skills register for officers and 
members involved in the treasury management fuction – to be 

67



Appendix A 

proportionate to the size and complexity of the treasury management 
conducted by each authority; 

• Reporting to members is be done quarterly.  Specifically, the Chief 
Finance Officer (CFO) is required to establish procedures to monitor 
and report performance against all forward-looking prudential indicators 
at least quarterly.  The CFO is expected to establish a measurment and 
reporting process that highlights significant actual or forecast deviations 
from the approved indicators.   

• Environmental, social and governance (ESG) issues to be 
addressed within the Council’s treasury management policies and 
practices (TMP1). 

1.4 The main requirements of the Prudential Code relating to service and 
commercial investments are: 

• The risks associated with service and commercial investments should 
be proportionate to their financial capacity, i.e. that plausible losses 
could be absorbed in budgets or reserves without unmanageable 
detriment to the Council; 

• The Council must not borrow to invest for the primary purpose of 
commercial return; 

• It is not prudent for the Council to make any investment or spending 
decision that will increase the CFR, and lead to new borrowing, unless 
directly and primarily related to functions of the Council, and where 
commercial returns are either related to the financial viability of the 
project or otherwise incidental to the primary purpose; 

• An annual review should be completed to evaluate whether commercial 
investments should be sold to release funds to finance new capital 
expenditure or refinance maturing debt; 

• A prudential indicator is required for the net income from commercial 
and service investments as a proportion of the net revenue stream; 

• Create new Investment Management Practices to manage risks 
associated with non-treasury investments. 

1.5 The Council’s Capital Strategy or Annual Investment Strategy should include: 

• The Council’s approach to investments for service or commercial 
purposes (together referred to as non-treasury investments), including 
defining the Council’s objectives, risk appetite and risk management in 
respect of these investments, and processes ensuring effective due 
diligence; 

68



Appendix A 

• An assessment of affordability, prudence and proportionality in respect 
of the Council’s overall financial capacity (i.e. whether plausible losses 
could be absorbed in budgets and reserves without unmanageable 
detriment to local services); 

• Details of financial and other risks of undertaking investments for 
service or commercial purposes and how these are managed; 

• Limits on total investments for service purposes and for commercial 
purposes respectively (consistent with any limits required by other 
statutory guidance on investments); 

• Requirements for independent and expert advice and scrutiny 
arrangements (while business cases may provide some of this material, 
the information contained in them will need to be periodically re-
evaluated to inform the Council’s overall strategy. 

• State compliance with paragraph 51 of the Prudential Code in relation 
to investments for commercial purposes, in particular the requirement 
that an authority must not borrow to invest primarily for financial return. 

1.6 As this TMSS and AIS deal solely with treasury management investments, the 
categories of service delivery and commercial investments should be 
addressed as part of the Capital Strategy report. 

1.7 As investments in commercial property have implications for cash balances 
managed by the treasury team a high level summary of the impact that 
commercial investments have, or may have, will be included if the Council 
plans to liquidate these investments over the 3 year period that the TMSS and 
AIS covers.  

 Background 
 
1.8 The Council is required to operate a balanced budget, which broadly means 

that cash raised during the year will meet cash expenditure. Part of the treasury 
management operation is to ensure that this cash flow is adequately planned 
with cash being available when it is needed.  Surplus monies are invested in 
low risk counterparties or instruments commensurate with the Council’s low 
risk appetite, providing adequate liquidity initially before considering 
investment return. 

 
1.9 The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding 

of the Council’s capital plans.  These capital plans provide a guide to the 
borrowing need of the Council, essentially the longer term cash flow planning 
to ensure that the Council can meet its capital spending obligations.  This 
management of longer term cash may involve arranging long or short term 
loans, or using longer term cash flow surpluses.   On occasion any debt 
previously drawn may be restructured to meet Council risk or cost objectives.  

 

69



Appendix A 

1.10 The contribution the treasury management function makes to the Authority is 
critical, as the balance of debt and investment operations ensure liquidity or 
the ability to meet spending commitments as they fall due, either on day-to-
day revenue or for larger capital projects.  The treasury operations will see a 
balance of the interest costs of debt and the investment income arising from 
cash deposits affecting the available budget.  Since cash balances generally 
result from reserves and balances, it is paramount to ensure adequate 
security of the sums invested, as a loss of principal will in effect result in a 
loss to the General Fund Balance. 

 
1.11 CIPFA defines treasury management as: 

 
“The management of the local authority’s investments and cash flows, its 
banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective control 
of the risks associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum 
performance consistent with those risks.” 

 
1.12  Whilst any commercial initiatives or loans to third parties will impact on the 

treasury function, these activities are generally classed as non-treasury 
activities, (arising usually from capital expenditure), and are separate from the 
day-to-day treasury management activities. 

 
Reporting Requirements 

 
1.13 The CIPFA 2021 Prudential and Treasury Management Code requires all 

Council’s to prepare a Capital Strategy report which will provide the following: 
 

• a high level long-term overview of how capital expenditure, capital 
financing and treasury management activity contribute to the provision 
of services 

• an overview of how the associated risk is managed 

• the implications for future financial sustainability 
 
1.14 The aim of the strategy is to ensure that all of the Council’s elected members 

fully understand the overall long-term policy objectives  
 
1.15 The Council is required to receive and approve, as a minimum, three main 

reports each year, which incorporate a variety of polices, estimates and 
actuals.   

 

• Prudential and treasury indicators and treasury strategy - The first, 
and most important report covers: 

• the capital plans (including prudential indicators); 

• a minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy (how residual capital 
expenditure is charged to revenue over time); 

• the treasury management strategy (how the investments and 
borrowings are to be organised) including treasury indicators; and  

• an investment strategy (the parameters on how investments are to be 
managed). 

70



Appendix A 

 

• A mid year treasury management report – This will update members 
with the progress of the capital position, amending prudential indicators as 
necessary, and whether any policies require revision.  In addition to this 
the quarterly update reports will be produced from 2023/24 onwards. 

 

• An annual treasury report – This provides details of a selection of actual 
prudential and treasury indicators and actual treasury operations 
compared to the estimates within the strategy. 

 
1.16 The above reports are required to be adequately scrutinised which is 

undertaken by the Governance and Audit Committee.  This report is presented 
to Council for approval in March as part of the budget report. 

 
1.17 In addition to the three reports detailed above, from 2023/24 onwards quarterly 

reporting is also required.  These additional reports will be presented to the 
Governance and Audit Committee for approval. 

 
1.18 Governance and Audit Committee – As part of the Committee’s terms of 

reference the above reports are presented for consideration and scrutiny 
during the year.  The Committee also has authority to approve any in year 
amendments to the Treasury Management Strategy as requested by officers.  

Treasury Management Strategy for 2023-24 

1.19 The strategy for 2023-24 covers two main areas: 
 

Capital issues 

• the capital plans and the prudential indicators; 

• the minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy. 

 

Treasury management issues 

• the current treasury position; 

• treasury indicators which limit the treasury risk and activities of the Council; 

• prospects for interest rates; 

• the borrowing strategy; 

• policy on borrowing in advance of need; 

• debt rescheduling; 

• the investment strategy; 

• creditworthiness policy; and 

• policy on use of external service providers. 

 

1.20 These elements cover the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, 
the CIPFA Prudential Code, Department for Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities (DLUHC) MRP Guidance, the CIPFA Treasury Management 
Code and  DLUHC Investment Guidance. 

 

71



Appendix A 

Training 

1.21 The CIPFA Treasury Management Code (the Code) requires the responsible 
officer to ensure that members with responsibility for treasury management 
receive adequate training in treasury management.  This especially applies to 
members responsibe for scrutiny.   

 

1.22 The Code states that that they expect “all organisations to have a formal and 
comprehensive knowledge and skills or training policy for the effective 
acquisition and retention of treasury management knowledge and skills for 
those responsible for management, delivery, governance and decision 
making”. 

 

1.23 The scale and nature of this will depend on the size and complexity of the 
organisation’s treasury management needs.  Organisations should consider 
how to assess whether treasury management staff and board/council 
members have the required knowledge and skills to undertake their roles and 
whether they have been able to maintain those skills and keep them up to date. 

 

1.24 As a minimum, authorities should carry out the following to monitor and review 
knowledge and skills:  

 

• Record attendance at training and ensure action is taken where poor 
attendance is identified.  

• Prepare tailored learning plans for treasury management officers and 
board/council members.  

• Require treasury management officers and board/council members to 
undertake self-assessment against the required competencies (as set 
out in the schedule that may be adopted by the organisation).  

• Have regular communication with officers and board/council members, 
encouraging them to highlight training needs on an ongoing basis.” 

 

1.25 In further support of the revised training requirements, CIPFA’s Better 
Governance Forum and Treasury Management Network have produced a 
‘self-assessment by members responsible for the scrutiny of treasury 
management’, which is available from the CIPFA website to download. 

 

1.26 Training was provided to members of the Governance and Audit Committee 
by the Council’s treasury advisors, Link Group, Treasury Solutions, on 28 
November 2022 and further training is implemented as required.  The training 
needs of treasury officers are periodically reviewed. 

 

1.27 A formal record of the training received by officers central to the Treasury 
function will be maintained by the Senior Accountant.  Similarly, a formal record 
of the treasury management/capital finance training received by members will 
also be maintained by the Members Services Officer. 

72



Appendix A 

Treasury management consultants 

1.28 The Council uses Link Group, Treasury Solutions as its external treasury 
management advisors.   

 
1.29 The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions 

remains with the organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance 
is not placed upon our external service providers.  

 
1.30 It also recognises that there is value in employing external providers of treasury 

management services in order to acquire access to specialist skills and resources. 
The Council will ensure that the terms of their appointment and the methods by 
which their value will be assessed are properly agreed and documented, and 
subjected to regular review.  

 
2 The Capital Prudential Indicators 2023/24 to 2025/26 
 

Introduction 

2.1 The Council’s capital expenditure plans are the key driver of treasury 
management activity.  The output of the capital expenditure plans is reflected 
in prudential indicators, which are designed to assist members’ overview and 
confirm capital expenditure plans. 

Capital Expenditure and Financing 

2.2 This prudential indicator is a summary of the Council’s capital expenditure 
plans, both those agreed previously, and those forming part of this budget 
cycle.  Members are asked to approve the capital expenditure forecasts: 

 

Capital 
Expenditure 
 

2021/22 
Actual 

Outturn 
£m 

2022/23 
Estimate 

£m 

2023/24 
Estimate 

£m 

2024/25 
Estimate 

£m 

2025/26 
Estimate 

£m 

Non-HRA 5.198 6.350 12.147 4.841 3.277 

HRA 8.778 9.021 18.497 14.703 14.778 

Total 13.976 15.371 30.644 19.544 18.055 

2.3 The table below summarises the above capital expenditure plans and how 
these plans are being financed by capital or revenue resources. Any shortfall 
of resources results in a funding borrowing need.  

Financing of 
capital 
expenditure 

2021/22 
Actual 

£m 

2022/23 
Estimate 

£m 

2023/24 
Estimate 

£m 

2024/25 
Estimate 

£m 

2025/26 
Estimate 

£m 

Capital receipts 

reserve 

2.660 1.638 7.699 4.333 5.302 

Grants and 

Contributions 

2.187 3.905 8.417 3.318 0.975 

Reserves 6.537 9.357 14.528 11.893 11.778 

73



Appendix A 

Net financing 

need for the 

year 

2.592 0.471 0 0 0 

The Council’s Borrowing Need (the Capital Financing Requirement) 

2.4 The second prudential indicator is the Council’s Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR).  The CFR is simply the total historic outstanding capital 
expenditure which has not yet been paid for from either revenue or capital 
resources.  It is essentially a measure of Council’s underlying borrowing need.  
Any capital expenditure above, which has not immediately been paid for, will 
increase the CFR.   

2.5 The CFR does not increase indefinitely, as the minimum revenue provision 
(MRP) is a statutory annual revenue charge which broadly reduces the 
borrowing need in line with each asset life, and so charges the economic 
consumption of capital assets as they are used. 

2.6 The CFR includes any other long-term liabilities (e.g. PFI schemes, finance 
leases).  Whilst these increase the CFR, and therefore the Council’s borrowing 
requirement, these types of schemes include a borrowing facility and so the 
Council is not required to separately borrow for these schemes.  The Council 
currently has no such schemes within the CFR. 

2.7 The Council is asked to approve the CFR projections below: 

 

 2021/22 
Actual 

£m 

2022/23 
Estimate 

£m 

2023/24 
Estimate 

£m 

2024/25 
Estimate 

£m 

2025/26 
Estimate 

£m 

Capital Financing Requirement  

Closing CFR 

– Non 

Housing 

13.919 14.264 14.138 14.012 13.886 

Closing CFR - 

Housing 

93.182 89.960 86.738 83.516 80.294 

Total CFR 107.101 104.224 100.876 97.528 94.180 

Opening CFR 107.869 107.101 104.224 100.876 97.528 

Movement in 

CFR 

(0.786) (2.877) (3.348) (3.348) (3.348) 

 

 2021/22 
Actual 

£m 

2022/23 
Estimate 

£m 

2023/24 
Estimate 

£m 

2024/25 
Estimate 

£m 

2025/26 
Estimate 

£m 

Movement in CFR represented by  

Net financing 
need for the 
year  

2.591 0.471 0 0 0 

74



Appendix A 

Repayment 
of HRA 
Borrowing 

(3.222) (3.222) (3.222) (3.222) (3.222) 

Less 
MRP/VRP 
and other 
financing 
movements 

(0.136) (0.126) (0.126) (0.126) (0.126) 

Movement in 
CFR 

(0.767) (2.877) (3.348) (3.348) (3.348) 

 Liability Benchmark 

2.8 A third and new prudential indicator for 2023/24 is the Liability Benchmark (LB).  
The Council is required to estimate and measure the LB for the forthcoming 
year and the following two years, as a minimum.  There are for components to 
the LB: 

• Existing loan debt outstanding: the Council’s existing loans that are 
still outstanding in future years. 

• Loans CFR: this is calculated in accordance with the loans CFR 
definition in the Prudential Code and projected into the future based on 
approved prudential borrowing and planned MRP. 

• Net loans requirement: this will show the Council’s gross loan debt 
less treasury management investments at the last financial year-end, 
projected into the future and based on its approved prudential 
borrowing, planned MRP and any other major cash flows forecast. 

• Liability Benchmark (or gross loans requirement): this equals net 
loans requirement plus short-term liquidity allowance. 

75



Appendix A 

 

Core Funds and Expected Investment Balances 

2.9 The application of resources (capital receipts, reserves etc.) to either finance 
capital expenditure or other budget decisions to support the revenue budget 
will have an ongoing impact on investments unless resources are 
supplemented each year from new sources (asset sales etc.).  Detailed below 
are estimates of the year end balances for each resource and anticipated day 
to day cash flow balances. 

 

 Year End 
Resources 
 

2021/22 
Actual 

£m 

2022/23 
Estimate 

£m 

2023/24 
Estimate 

£m 

2024/25 
Estimate 

£m 

2025/26 
Estimate 

£m 

General Fund 

balances 

23.275 12.305 10.027 9.759 9.915 

Capital 

reserves – 

General Fund  

2.625 2.524 2.417 7.291 4.989 

Capital 

reserves – 

HRA 

8.925 11.254 10.211 10.901 11.401 

HRA reserve 15.558 13.474 11.969 11.969 11.969 

£0

£20,000

£40,000

£60,000

£80,000

£100,000

£120,000

T
o

ta
l 
A

m
o

u
n

t 
(£

'0
0
0
)

Liability Benchmark

PWLB Loans Existing Loan Debt Outstanding
Net Loans Requirement (forecast net loan debt) Loans CFR
Liability Benchmark (Gross Loans Requirement)

76



Appendix A 

Major 

Repairs 

Reserve 

18.527 18.819 13.519 9.033 5.150 

Total Core 

Funds 

68.910 58.376 48.143 48.953 43.424 

Working 

Capital - GF* 

2.010 1.970 1.952 1.952 1.952 

Working 

Capital - 

HRA* 

1.731 2.041 1.731 2.019 2.683 

Expected 

Investments 

72.651 62.387 51.826 52.924 48.059 

Working capital balances shown are estimated year end; these may be higher 
mid-year.  

3 Borrowing 
 
3.1 The capital expenditure plans set out in Section 2 provide details of the service 

activity of the Council.  The treasury management function ensures that the 
Council’s cash is organised in accordance with the relevant professional 
Codes, so that sufficient cash is available to meet this service activity.  This 
will involve both the organisation of the cash flow and where capital plans 
require, the organisation of approporiate borrowing facilities.  The strategy 
covers the relevant treasury / prudential indicators, the current and projected 
debt positions and the Annual Investment Strategy. 

Current Portfolio Position 

3.2 The overall treasury management portfolio as at 31 March 2022 and the 
position as at 31 December 2022 are shown below for both borrowing and 
investments. 

 

  

Balance 
at 31 

March 
2022     
£'000 

Balance 
at 31 

December 
2022      
£'000 

Deposits with Banks and Financial Institutions 

Banks     

Al Rayan Bank Plc 6,000 0 

Close Brothers Ltd 7,000 7,000 

DBS Bank Ltd 2,000 0 

Goldman Sachs International Bank 6,000 0 

Landesbank Hessen-Thueringen Girozentrale 
(Helaba) 2,000 6,000 

Lloyds Bank Plc 13,000 15,000 

77



Appendix A 

National Bank of Canada 0 5,000 

Qatar National Bank 6,000 10,000 

Santander UK Plc   2,000 0 

Santander UK Plc  - Notice account 10,000 0 

SMBC Bank International PLC 5,000 3,000 

Standard Chartered Bank 8,000 11,000 

Building Societies     

Newcastle Building Society 2,000 0 

Principality Building Society 2,000 0 

Local Authorities     

Cambridgeshire County Council 2,000 2,000 

Thurrock Council 2,000 0 

Money Market Funds     

Aberdeen Standard 0 5,000 

BNP Paribas 5,000 5,000 

CCLA 5,000 4,376 

Deutsche Bank 0 2,839 

Federated Investors (UK) 286 3,057 

Property Funds     

CCLA Property Fund 3,000 3,000 

Total Treasury Investments 88,286 82,272 

      

External Borrowing     

PWLB (89,435) (87,824) 

Total External Borrowing     

      

Net Treasury Investments/(Borrowing) (1,149) (5,552) 

   
3.3 The Council’s forward projections for borrowing are summarised in the table 

below.  The table shows the actual external debt, against the underlying capital 
borrowing need, (the Capital Financing Requirement - CFR), highlighting any 
over or under borrowing. 

 

 2021/22 
Actual 

£m 

2022/23 
Estimate 

£m 

2023/24 
Estimate 

£m 

2024/25 
Estimate 

£m 

2025/26 
Estimate 

£m 

External Debt  

Existing Debt at 

1 April  

92.657 89.435 86.213 82.991 79.769 

Expected 

change in debt 

0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 

HRA Settlement (3.222) (3.222) (3.222) (3.222) (3.222) 

78



Appendix A 

Debt at 31 

March 

89.435 86.213 82.991 79.769 76.547 

Closing CFR 107.101 104.224 100.876 97.528 94.180 

Under / (over) 

borrowing 

17.666 18.011 17.885 17.759 17.633 

 

3.4 Within the prudential indicators there are a number of key indicators to ensure 
that the Council operates its activities within well-defined limits.  One of these 
is that the Council needs to ensure that its gross debt does not, except in the short 
term, exceed the total of CFR in the preceding year plus the estimates of any 
additional CFR for 2023/24 and the following two financial years This allows some 
flexibility for limited early borrowing for future years, but ensures that borrowing 
is not undertaken for revenue purposes 

3.5 The Section 151 Officer reports that the Council complied with this prudential 
indicator in the current year and does not envisage difficulties for the future.  
This view takes into account current commitments, existing plans, and the 
proposals in this budget report 

Treasury Indicators: Limits to Borrowing Activity 

3.6 The operational boundary and authorised limit have been increased to reflect 
the borrowing requirements to facilitate the delivery of the economic 
regeneration projects and essential service delivery infrastructure.   Any capital 
schemes that have borrowing implications will be fully evaluated to identify the 
overall impact on the prudential indicators. 

3.7 The Operational Boundary.   

This is the limit beyond which external debt is not normally expected to exceed.  
In most cases, this would be a similar figure to the CFR but may be lower or 
higher depending on the levels of actual debt and the ability to fund under-
borrowing by other cash resources. 

Operational 
Boundary  

2022/23 
Estimate 

£m 

2023/24 
Estimate 

£m 

2024/25 
Estimate 

£m 

2025/26 
Estimate 

£m 

General Fund 25.000 15.000 22.000 22.000 

HRA  100.000 100.000 100.000 100.000 

Other long-term 

liabilities 

 

0.000 

 

0.000 

 

0.000 

 

0.000 

Total 125.000 115.000 122.000 122.000 

 

3.8 The operational boundary will be reviewed on an individual project basis as 
required.  

3.9 The Authorised Limit for External Debt  

This is a key prudential indicator and represents a control on the maximum 
level of borrowing. This represents a limit beyond which external debt is 

79



Appendix A 

prohibited, and this limit needs to be set or revised by the full Council.  It reflects 
the level of external debt which, while not desired, could be afforded in the 
short term, but is not sustainable in the longer term.  

3.10 This is the statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local 
Government Act 2003. The Government retains an option to control either the 
total of all councils’ plans, or those of a specific council, although no control 
has yet been exercised.  

3.11 The Council is asked to approve the following authorised limit: 

 

Authorised limit  2022/23 
Estimate 

£m 

2023/24 
Estimate 

£m 

2024/25 
Estimate 

£m 

2025/26 
Estimate 

£m 

General Fund 43.000 33.000 40.000 40.000 

HRA  115.000 115.000 115.000 115.000 

Other long-term 

liabilities 

0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 

Total 158.000 148.000 155.000 155.000 

 
Prospects for Interest Rates  

 

3.12 The Council utilises the services of Link Group as its treasury advisor and part 
of their service is to assist the Council to formulate a view on interest rates.  
The following table gives the current Link central view: 

 

Annual Average 
% 

Bank Rate PWLB Borrowing Rates 
(including certainty rate adjustment) 

  5 year 25 year 50 year 

Dec 2022 3.5 4.20 4.60 4.30 

Mar 2023 4.25 4.20 4.60 4.30 

Jun 2023 4.50 4.20 4.60 4.30 

Sep 2023 4.50 4.10 4.50 4.20 

Dec 2023 4.50 4.00 4.40 4.10 

Mar 2024 4.00 3.90 4.20 3.90 

Jun 2024 3.75 3.80 4.10 3.80 

Sep 2024 3.50 3.60 4.00 3.70 

Dec 2024 3.25 3.50 3.90 3.60 

80



Appendix A 

Mar 2025 3.00 3.40 3.70 3.50 

Jun 2025 2.75 3.30 3.60 3.30 

Sep 2025 2.50 3.20 3.50 3.20 

Dec 2025 2.50 3.10 2.50 3.20 

3.13 The PWLB forecasts are based on the Certainty Rate (minus 20 bps) which 
has been accessible to most authorities since 1 November 2012.  

 
3.14 The interest rates provided by Link reflect the view that the Monetary Policy 

Committee (MPC) will continue to further demonstrate their anti-inflation 
credentials by delivering a succession of rate increase.  Bank Rate is currently 
3.5% and is inspected to reach a maximum of 4.5% in June 2023. 

 
Borrowing Strategy 2023/24 – 2025/26 

3.15 The Council is currently maintaining an under-borrowed position.  This means 
that the capital borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement), has not 
been fully funded with loan debt as cash supporting the Council’s reserves, 
balances and cash flow has been used as a temporary measure.  This strategy 
is prudent as medium and longer dated borrowing rates are expected to fall 
from their current levels once prevailing inflation concerns are addressed by 
tighter near-term monetary policy through Bank Rate increases during the first 
half of 2023.  

3.16 When the Council is considering undertaking borrowing to fund the capital 
programme, projects or to fund future debt maturities a clear business case 
must be developed.  The business case will need to take into consideration, 
the revenue consequences of the borrowing including interest payable, MRP 
and any future income to be generated from the project.  Borrowing can then 
be undertaken where there is a clear business case and affordability is 
demonstrated. 

3.17 Against this background and the risks within the economic forecast, caution 
will be adopted with the 2023/24 treasury operations.  The Section 151 and 
Deputy Section 151 Officers will monitor  interest rates in financial markets and 
adopt a pragmatic approach to changing circumstances: 

• if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp FALL in borrowing 
rates then borrowing will be postponed. 

 

• if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper RISE in 
borrowing rates than that currently forecast, fixed rate funding will be 
drawn whilst interest rates are lower than they are projected to be in the 
next few years. 

3.18 The option of postponing borrowing and running down investment balances 
will also be considered.  This would reduce counterparty risk and hedge 
against the expected fall in investments returns. 

81



Appendix A 

3.19 Any borrowing decisions will be reported to the Governance and Audit 
Committee at the next available opportunity. 

 

Policy on Borrowing in Advance of need 

3.20 The Council will not borrow more than or in advance of its needs purely in order 
to profit from the investment of the extra sums borrowed. Any decision to 
borrow in advance will be within forward approved Capital Financing 
Requirement estimates, and will be considered carefully to ensure that value 
for money can be demonstrated and that the Council can ensure the security 
of such funds.  

 
3.21 The Section 151 or Deputy Section 151 Officer may do this under delegated 

power where, for instance, a sharp rise in interest rates is expected, and so 
borrowing early at fixed interest rates will be economically beneficial or meet 
budgetary constraints.  Whilst the Section 151 or Deputy section 151 Officer 
will adopt a cautious approach to any such borrowing, where there is a clear 
business case for doing so borrowing may be undertaken to fund the approved 
capital programme or to fund future debt maturities.  Borrowing in advance of 
need will be made within the constraints that: 

• It will be limited to no more that 30% of the expected increase in 
borrowing need (CFR) over the three-year planning period; and 

• The Council would not look to borrow more than 24 months in advance 
of need. 

3.22 Risks associated with any borrowing in advance activity will be subject to prior 
appraisal and subsequent reporting through the mid-year or annual reporting 
mechanism. 

Debt Rescheduling  

3.23 Rescheduling of current borrowing in our debt portfolio is unlikely to occur as 
there is still a very large difference between premature redemption rates and 
new borrowing rates. 

 
3.24 If rescheduling was done, it will be reported to the Governance and Audit 

Committee at the earliest meeting following its action. 
 

New financial institutions as a source of borrowing and/or types of borrowing 
 
3.25 Currently the PWLB Certainty Rate is set at gilts + 80 basis points for both 

HRA and non-HRA borrowing.  However, consideration may still need to be 
given to sourcing funding from the following sources for the following reasons: 

 

• Local authorities (primarily shorter dated maturities) 

• Financial institutions (primarily insurance companies and pension funds 
but also some banks, out of spot or forward dates where the objective is 
to avoid a “cost of carry” or to achieve refinancing certainty over the next 
few years) 

• Municipal Bonds Agency (possibly still a viable alternative depending on 
market circumstances prevailing at the time). 

82



Appendix A 

 
3.26 Our advisors will keep us informed as to the relative merits of each of these 

alternative funding sources. 

Approved Sources of Long and Short term Borrowing 

On Balance Sheet Fixed Variable 
   

PWLB • • 

Municipal bond agency  • • 

Local authorities • • 

Banks • • 

Pension funds • • 

Insurance companies • • 

 

Market (long-term) • • 

Market (temporary) • • 

Market (LOBOs) • • 

Stock issues • • 

 

Local temporary • • 

Local Bonds • 

Local authority bills                                                       •  • 

Overdraft  • 

Negotiable Bonds • • 

 

Internal (capital receipts & revenue balances) • • 

Commercial Paper • 

Medium Term Notes •  

Finance leases • • 

 
 
4 Annual Investment Strategy  

Investment Policy and Counterparty Selection Criteria  

4.1 The Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) and 
CIPFA have extended the meaning of ‘investments’ to include both financial 
and non-financial investments.  This report deals solely with treasury (financial) 
investments, (as managed by the treasury management team).  Non-financial 
investments, essentially the purchase of income yielding assets and service 
investments, are covered in the Capital Strategy. 

 
4.2 The Council’s investment policy has regard to the following: 
 

• DLUHC’s Guidance on Local Government Investments (“the Guidance”),  

• CIPFA Treasury Management in Public Services Code of Practice and Cross 
Sectoral Guidance Notes 2017 (“the Code”) 

• CIPFA Treasury Management Guidance Notes 2021.  
 

83



Appendix A 

4.3 The Council’s investment priorities will be security first, portfolio liquidity 
second, then yield (return).  The Council will aim to achieve the optimum return 
(yield) on its investments commensurate with proper levels of security and 
liquidity and with regard to the Council’s risk appetite. 

 
4.4 In the current economic climate, it is considered appropriate to maintain a 

degree of liquidity to cover cash flow needs but to also consider “laddering” 
investments for periods up to 12 months with high credit rated financial 
institutions, whilst investment rates remain elevated.  

 
4.5 The above guidance from the DLUHC and CIPFA places a high priority on the 

management of risk.  This Council has adopted a prudent approach to 
managing risk and defines its risk appetite by the following means: 

 

• the Council applies minimum acceptable credit criteria in order to generate a 
list of highly creditworthy counterparties which also enables diversification 
and thus avoidance of concentration risk. The key ratings used to monitor 
counterparties are the Short Term and Long Term ratings. 

 

• Ratings will not be the sole determinant of the quality of an institution; it is 
important to continually assess and monitor the financial sector on both a 
micro and macro basis and in relation to the economic and political 
environments in which institutions operate.  The assessment will also take 
account of information that reflects the opinion of the markets. To this end 
the Council will engage with its advisors to maintain a monitor on market 
pricing such as “credit default swaps” and overlay that information on top of 
the credit ratings.  
 

• Other information sources used will include the financial press, share price 
and other such information pertaining to the banking sector in order to 
establish the most robust scrutiny process on the suitability of potential 
investment counterparties.  
 

• Investment instruments identified for use in the financial year are listed in 
Appendix 3 under the ‘specified’ and ‘non-specified’ investment categories.  
Counterparty limits will be as set through the Council’s treasury management 
practices-schedules.  
 

o Specified investments are those with a high credit quality and 
subject to a maturity of one year or have less than a year left to run to 
maturity, if originally they were classified as being non-specified 
investments solely due to the maturity period exceeding one year. 
 

o Non-specified investments are those with less high credit quality, 
may be for periods in excess of one year, and/or are more complex 
instruments which require greater consideration by members and 
officers being being authorised for use. 

 
 

84



Appendix A 

• Non-specified and loan investment limits.  The Council had determined 
that it will set a limit to the maximum exposure of the total treasury 
management investment portfolio to non-specified investments of 35%. 
 

• Lending limits, (amounts and maturity), for each counterparty will be set 
through applying the limits in Appendix 3. 
 

• Transaction limits are set for each type of investment in Appendix 3. 
 

• This Council will set a limit for its investments which are invested for longer 
than 365 days (see paragraph 4.20). 

 

• This Council has engaged external consultants (see paragraph 1.28), to 
provide expert advice on how to optimise an appropriate balance of security, 
liquidity and yield, given the risk appetite of this Council in the context of the 
expected level of cash balances and need for liquidity throughout the year. 

 

• All investments will be denominated in sterling. 
 

• As a result of the change in accounting standards for 2022/23 under IFRS 9, 
this Authority will consider the implications of investment instruments which 
could result in an adverse movement in the value of the amount invested and 
resultant charges at the end of the year to the General Fund. In November 
2018, the MHCLG (now DLUHC), concluded a consultation for a temporary 
override to allow English local authorities time to adjust their portfolio of all 
pooled investments by announcing a statutory override to delay 
implementation of IFRS 9 for five years ending 31.3.23.  At the current 
juncture it has not been determined whether a further extension to the over-
ride will be agreed by Government. 
 

4.6 This Council will also pursue value for money in treasury management and 
will monitor the yield from investment income against appropriate 
benchmarks for investment performance (see paragraph 4.22).  Regular 
monitoring of investment performance will be carried out during the year. 

Creditworthiness policy  

4.7 This Council applies the creditworthiness service provided by Link Group.  This 
service employs a sophisticated modelling approach utilising credit ratings 
from the three main credit rating agencies - Fitch, Moody’s and Standard and 
Poor’s.  The credit ratings of counterparties are supplemented with the 
following overlays:  

• credit watches and credit outlooks from credit rating agencies; 

• CDS spreads to give early warning of likely changes in credit ratings; 

• sovereign ratings to select counterparties from only the most creditworthy 
countries. 

4.8 This modelling approach combines credit ratings, credit watches and credit 
outlooks in a weighted scoring system which is then combined with an overlay 

85



Appendix A 

of CDS spreads for which the end product is a series of colour coded bands 
which indicate the relative creditworthiness of counterparties.  These colour 
codes are used by the Council to determine the suggested duration for 
investments.   The Council will therefore use counterparties within the 
following durational bands: 

• Yellow  5 years * 

• Dark pink  5 years for Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit  
score of 1.25 

• Light pink 5 years for Ultra-Short Dated Bond Funds with a credit 
score of 1.5 

• Purple   2 years 

• Blue   1 year (only applies to nationalised or semi nationalised 
UK Banks) 

• Orange  1 year 

• Red   6 months 

• Green   100 days   

• No colour  not to be used  
 

4.9 The Link Group creditworthiness service uses a wider array of information 
other than just primary ratings. Furthermore, by using a risk weighted scoring 
system, it does not give undue importance  to just one agency’s ratings. 

4.10 Typically the minimum credit ratings criteria the Council uses will be a Short 
Term rating (Fitch or equivalents) of  F1 and a Long Term rating of A-. There 
may be occasions when the counterparty ratings from one agency are 
marginally lower than these ratings but may still be used.   In these instances 
consideration will be given to the whole range of ratings available, or other 
topical market information, to support their use. 

4.11 All credit ratings are monitored daily. The Council is alerted to changes to 
ratings of all three agencies through its use of the Link creditworthiness 
service.  

• if a downgrade results in the counterparty/investment scheme no longer 
meeting the Council’s minimum criteria, its further use as a new 
investment will be withdrawn immediately. 

• in addition to the use of credit ratings the Council will be advised of 
information in movements in credit default swap spreads against the 
iTraxx European Financials benchmark and other market data on a 
weekly basis via its Passport website, provided exclusively to it by Link. 
Extreme market movements may result in downgrade of an institution or 
removal from the Council’s lending list. 

Y Pi1 Pi2 P B O R G N/C

1 1.25 1.5 2 3 4 5 6 7

Up to 5yrs Up to 5yrs Up to 5yrs Up to 2yrs Up to 1yr Up to 1yr Up to 6mths Up to 100days No Colour

86



Appendix A 

4.12 Sole reliance will not be placed on the use of this external service.  In addition 
this Council will also use market data and market information, as well as 
information on any external support for banks to help support its decision 
making process.   

4.13 The Treasury Management Officer will use the Link Credit Rating weekly listing 
as a tool for guidance, with the option to deviate from this guidance only when 
there are clear alternative options that are available to the Council.  Any 
decision of this nature should be clearly documented for audit purposes.  

 
4.14 Significant levels of downgrades to Short and Long-Term credit ratings have 

not materialised since the crisis in March 2020.  In the main, where they did 
change, any alterations were limited to Outlooks.  However, more recently the 
UK Sovereign debt rating has been placed on Negative Outlook by the three 
major rating agencies.  The markets have now calmed but at present the 
outcome of the rating agency reviews is unknown, but it is possible the UK 
sovereign debt rating will be downgraded.  Accordingly, when setting minimum 
sovereign debt ratings, this Council will not set a minimum rating for the UK. 

 
Investment Strategy  

4.15 In-house funds. Investments will be made with reference to the core balance 
and cash flow requirements and the outlook for short-term interest rates (i.e. 
rates for investments up to 12 months). Greater returns are usually obtainable 
by investing for longer periods. The current yield curve suggests that is the 
case at present, but there is the prospect of Bank Rate peaking in the first half 
of 2023 and possible reducing as early as the latter part of 2023 so an agile 
investment strategy would be appropriate to optimise returns.  

4.16 While most cash balances are required in order to manage the councils 
cashflow, where cash sums can be identified that could be invested for longer 
periods, the value to be obtained from longer term investments will be carefully 
assessed.  

• If it is thought that Bank Rate is likely to rise significantly within the time 
horizon being considered, then consideration will be given to keeping 
most investments as being short term or variable.  

• Conversely, if it is thought that Bank Rate is likely to fall within that time 
period, consideration will be given to locking in higher rates currently 
obtainable, for longer periods. 

Investment returns expectations.  
 

4.17 Bank Rate is anticipated to increase to 4.50% in June 2023.    

4.18 The suggested budgeted investment earnings rates for returns on investments 
placed for periods up to about three months during each financial year are as 
follows (the long-term forecast is for periods over 10 years in the future):  

 
 

87



Appendix A 

Average earnings in 
each year 

Link Group Budgeted* 

2022/23 4.00% 0.75% 

2023/24 4.40% 4.00% 

2024/25 3.30% 4.00% 

2025/26 2.60% 4.00% 

2026/27 2.50% - 

Year 6 onwards 2.80%  

 
*Budgeted rates are higher than Link’s rates as a quarterly dividend is received 
from   the Property Fund which will increase the return the Council earns on 
investments    

4.19 Investment treasury indicator and limit - total principal funds invested for 
greater than 365 days. These limits are set with regard to the Council’s liquidity 
requirements and to reduce the need for early sale of an investment, and are 
based on the availability of funds after each year-end. 

4.20 The Council is asked to approve the treasury indicator and limit: - 
 

Maximum principal sums invested > 365 days 

 2023/24 
£m 

2024/25 
£m 

2025/26 
£m 

Principal sums invested > 365 
days 

15.000 15.000 15.000 

 
4.21 For its cash flow generated balances, the Council will seek to utilise its instant 

access and notice accounts, money market funds and short-dated deposits, 
(overnight to 100 days), in order to benefit from the compounding of interest.   

Investment Risk Benchmarking  

4.22 These benchmarks are simple guides to maximum risk, so may be breached 
from time to time, depending on movements in interest rates and 
counterparty criteria.  The purpose of the benchmark is that officers will 
monitor the current and trend position and amend the operational strategy to 
manage risk as conditions change. Any breach of the benchmarks will be 
reported, with supporting reasons in the Mid-Year or Annual Report. 

Security - The Council’s maximum security risk benchmark for the current 
portfolio, when compared to these historic default tables, is: 

• 0.010% historic risk of default when compared to the whole 
portfolio. 

Liquidity – In respect of this area the Council seeks to maintain: 

• Bank overdraft - £0.5m 

• Liquid short-term deposits of at least £12m available with a 
week’s notice. 

• Weighted Average Life benchmark is not expected to exceed a 
maximum of 1 year. 

Yield - Local measures of yield benchmarks are: 

88



Appendix A 

• Investments – Internal returns above the 7-day LIBID rate 

• Investments – External fund managers - returns 110% above 7-
day compounded LIBID. 

4.23 And in addition, that the security benchmark for each individual year is: 

 1 year 2 years 3 years 4 years 5 years 

Maximum 0.05% 0.14% 0.26% 0.38% 0.54% 

Note: This benchmark is an average risk of default measure (potential loss on 
investments) and would not constitute an expectation of loss against a 
particular investment.   

End of year Investment Report 

4.24 At the end of the financial year, the Council will report on its investment activity 
as part of its Annual Treasury Report. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

89



Appendix A 

Appendix 1 

THE MRP STATEMENT  

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) Policy Statement  

Under Regulation 27 of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) 
(England) Regulations 2003, where the Council has financed capital expenditure by 
borrowing it is required to make a provision each year through a revenue charge 
(MRP). 

The Council is required to calculate a prudent provision of MRP which ensures that 
the outstanding debt liability is repaid over a period that is reasonable 
commensurate with that over which the capital expenditure provides benefits.  The 
MRP Guidance (2018) gives four ready-made options for calculating MRP, but the 
Council can choose any other reasonable basis that it can justify as prudent. 

The MRP policy statement required full council approval in advance of each financial 
year. 

The Council is recommended to approve the following MRP Statement: 

For capital expenditure incurred before 1 April 2008 which forms part of the 
supported capital expenditure, the MRP policy will be: 

• 4% reducing balance (regulatory method) – MRP will follow the historical 
practice outlined in former regulations as 4% of the opening General Fund 
CFR balance less adjustment A. 

From 1 April 2008 for all unsupported borrowing the MRP policy will be: 

• Asset life method – MRP will be based on the estimated life of the 
assets. 

Capital expenditure incurred during 2022/23 will not be subject to an MRP charge 
until 2023/24, or in the year after the asset becomes operational. 

The Council will apply the asset life method for any expenditure capitalised under 
the Capitalisation Direction. 

There is no requirement on the HRA to make a minimum revenue provision but there 
is a requirement for a charge for depreciation to be made. 

MRP in respect of assets acquired under Finance Leases or PFI will be charged at 
an amount equal to the principal element of the annual repayment. For capital 
expenditure on loans to third parties where the principal element of the loan is being 
repaid in annual instalments, the capital receipts arising from the principal loan 
repayments will be used to reduce the CFR instead of MRP. 

Where no principal repayment is made in a given year, MRP will be charged at a 
rate in line with the life of the assets funded by the loan. 

MRP Overpayments – Under the MRP guidance, any charges made in excess of 
the statutory MRP can be made, known as voluntary revenue provision (VRP). 

VRP can be reclaimed in later years if deemed necessary or prudent.   
 
 
 

90



Appendix A 

Appendix 2 
 
CAPITAL PRUDENTIAL AND TREASURY INDICATORS 2023/24 – 2025/26 
 
The Council’s capital expenditure plans are the key driver of treasury management 
activity.  The output of the capital expenditure plans is reflected in the prudential 
indicators, which are designed to assist members’ overview and confirm capital 
expenditure plans. 

 

Capital 
Expenditure 

2021/22 
Actual 

2022/23 
Estimate 

2023/24 
Estimate 

2024/25 
Estimate 

2025/26 
Estimate 

Corporate  4.725 2.109 2.881 1.998 2.777 

Finance  0.023 0.027 0.250 0.000 0.000 

Growth & 
Culture  

0.083 2.557 5.466 0.198 0.000 

Housing & 
Property  

0.367 1.657 3.550 2.645 0.500 

Non-HRA 5.198 6.350 12.147 4.841 3.277 

HRA 8.778 9.021 18.497 14.703 14.778 

Total 13.976 15.371 30.644 19.544 18.055 

 

Affordability Prudential Indicators 

The previous sections cover the overall capital and control of borrowing prudential 
indicators, but within this framework prudential indicators are required to assess the 
affordability of the capital investment plans.   These provide an indication of the 
impact of the capital investment plans on the Council’s overall finances.  The Council 
is asked to approve the following indicators: 

Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream 
This indicator identifies the trend in the cost of capital (borrowing and other long-
term obligation costs net of investment income) against the net revenue stream. 
 

% 
2021/22 
Actual 

2022/23 
Estimate 

 

2023/24 
Estimate 

 

2024/25 
Estimate 

 

2025/26 
Estimate 

 

Non-HRA (1.30%) (3.43%) (4.63%) (3.92%) (4.01%) 

HRA 11.60% 7.83% 8.17% 8.37% 7.86% 

 
The estimates of financing costs include current commitments and the proposals 
in this budget report. 
 
 
 
 
HRA Ratios 

91



Appendix A 

 

 2021/22 
Actual 

2022/23 
Estimate 

2023/24 
Estimate 

2024/25 
Estimate 

2025/26 
Estimate 

HRA debt £m 92.657 89.435 86.213 82.991 79.769 

HRA 
Revenues £m  

(25.262) (26.512) (28.403) (29.444) (30.521) 

Ratio of debt 
to revenues 

(3.67) (3.37) (3.04) (2.82) (2.61) 

 
 

 2021/22 
Actual 

2022/23 
Estimate 

2023/24 
Estimate 

2024/25 
Estimate 

2025/26 
Estimate 

HRA debt £m 92.657 89.435 86.213 82.991 79.769 

Number of 
HRA 
dwellings  

5,884 5,847 5,826 5,808 5,786 

Debt per 
dwelling £ 

15,747 15,296 14,798 14,289 13,787 

 
Maturity Structure of Borrowing 
 
Maturity structure of borrowing. These gross limits are set to reduce the Council’s 
exposure to large fixed rate sums falling due for refinancing and are required for 
upper and lower limits.   
 

Maturity structure of fixed interest rate borrowing 2023/24 

 Lower Upper 

Under 12 months 0% 20% 

12 months to 2 years 0% 20% 

2 years to 5 years 0% 50% 

5 years to 10 years 0% 60% 

10 years and above  0% 80% 

Maturity structure of variable interest rate borrowing 2023/24 

 Lower Upper 

Under 12 months 0% 20% 

12 months to 2 years 0% 20% 

2 years to 5 years 0% 20% 

5 years to 10 years 0% 20% 

10 years and above  0% 20% 

 
 
 

 

 

 

Appendix 3 

92



Appendix A 

 
Treasury Management Practice (TMP) 1 – Credit and Counterparty Risk 
Management 
  
The investment policy proposed for the Council is: 
 
Strategy Guidelines – The main strategy guidelines are contained in the body of 
the treasury strategy statement. 
 
Specified Investments – all such investments will be sterling denominated, with 
maturities up to maximum 1 year, meeting the ‘high’ quality criteria where applicable. 
 
Table A – Specified Investments  
 

 Specified Investments Category Limit 

a A body of high credit quality, this category includes the 
following – 
 
□ Any bank or building society using Sector 

Creditworthiness service, following the suggested 
duration on the list up to a maximum of 365 days. 
 

□ Nationalised and Part nationalised banks can be 
included within specified investments as long as they 
remain part-nationalised  

£15m per 
institution or  
a maximum 
of 30% of 
total 
investment 
(whichever is 
the greatest), 
£15m per 
corporate 
group 

b The UK Government (such as the Debt Management 
Account deposit facility, UK Treasury Bills or a Gilt with 
less than one year to maturity) 

 

no amount 
limit 

c UK local authorities, Parish Council or Community 
Council 
 

£5m per 
institution 

d Pooled investment vehicles (such as money market 
funds) that have been awarded a high credit rating by a 
credit rating agency. This category covers pooled 
investment vehicles, such as money market funds, rated 
AAA by Standard and Poor’s, Moody’s or Fitch rating 
agencies. 
DLUHC Investment Guidance specifies that Money 
Market Funds with high credit ratings are classified as 
Specified Investment. These funds are instant access 
investment. There is possibility that part of the investment 
may be exposed to counterparties the Council would not 
approve normally or invest directly. The counterparty risk 
is mitigated by that – 

• The Fund Managers diversify investment in a range 
of counterparties; 

• The Funds are instant access; 

• The Council only invests in funds rated AAA; 

£5m per fund 

93



Appendix A 

• DLUHC Investment Guidance classifying such 
funds as Specified Investment. 

 

e Enhanced Money Market Funds  
These are similar to normal money market funds but 
operate on a variable rate basis. The selection criteria will 
be on the same basis as the pooled investment vehicles 
with only funds rated AAA by Standard and Poor’s, 
Moody’s or Fitch rating agencies being used. 
 
In addition to this only EMMF’s with a credit score of 1.25 
and above will be used. 
 

£5m per fund 

f Ultra Short Dated Bond Funds 
These are similar to normal money market funds but 
operate on a variable rate basis. The selection criteria will 
be on the same basis as the pooled investment vehicles 
with only funds with a credit score of 1.25 and rated AAA 
by Standard and Poor’s, Moody’s or Fitch rating agencies 
being used. 

£5m per fund 

g Corporate Bond Funds £5m per fund 

 
Non-Specified Investments – These are any investments which do not meet the 
specified investment criteria.  Amounts invested with any one corporate group shall 
not exceed £5m (with the exception of the Councils own bank and the top 10 rated 
building societies). 
 
Amounts invested in non-specified fixed term investments would normally not 
exceed 35% of the total Invested. The Section 151 or Deputy Section 151 has the 
discretion if required to exceed this, and the limits detailed below, should the rate of 
return on Investment be beneficial to the council. Any decision will be based on 
taking into account current and future market conditions as well as counterparty 
strength and rating. If these circumstances are required this will be reported back to 
the Governance and Audit Committee through the annual reporting cycle. 
 
The table below is not an exhaustive list of all non-specified investments; further 
options are identified in the narrative section within the strategy. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Table B – Non Specified Investments  
 

94



Appendix A 

 Non Specified Investment Category Limit  

a.  Any institutions meeting the criteria set out for 
Specified Investments, with a maturity of greater 
than 1 year following the suggested duration on 
the list up to a maximum of 5 years. 

(including forward deals in excess of one year 
from inception to repayment).  

£4m maximum of  

3-years  

per institution  

b.  Council’s Bank – Should it fail to meet the basic 
credit criteria, monies will be restricted to instant 
access and will be minimised as far as is possible.  

 

£7m  

 

c.  Top 10 building societies, by asset value – The 
operation of some building societies does not 
require a credit rating, although in every other 
respect the security would match similarly sized 
societies with ratings.  

The Council may use such building societies that 
all placed within the top 10 by asset value.  

 

£2m maximum of  

3-years  

per institution. 

£10m for all top 10 
building societies 

d.  UK Local Authorities, Parish Council or 
Community Council  

 £5m per 
institution 

e.  Property funds The use of these instruments can 
be deemed capital expenditure, and as such will 
be an application (spending) of capital resources.  
This Authority will seek guidance on the status of 
any fund it may consider using.  

£5m 

No maximum 
duration period. 

 
Note: This Authority will seek further advice on the appropriateness and associated 
risks with investments in these categories.  
 
Maximum limit per institution – The maximum limit for both specified and non-
specified investments is a total of £15m per corporate group with a higher limit of 
£18m at the discretion of the Section 151 Officer (or deputy) where an institution is 
considered to be of a higher credit quality. 
 
The monitoring of investment counterparties – The credit rating of 
counterparties will be monitored regularly.  The Council receives credit rating 
information (changes, rating watches and rating outlooks) from Link Group as and 
when ratings change, and counterparties are checked promptly.  On occasion 
ratings may be downgraded when an investment has already been made.  The 
criteria used are such that a minor downgrading should not affect the full receipt of 
the principle and interest.  Any counterparty failing to meet the criteria will be 
removed from the list immediately by the Section 151 Officer (or Deputy), and if 
required new counterparties which meet the criteria will be added to the list.  

95



Appendix A 

 
Ethical Investment Statement  
 
Investment guidance, both statutory and from CIPFA makes clear that all investing 
must adopt the key Treasury Management principles of security, liquidity and yield 
(SLY) in this order of priority. The Council is however committed to Environmental, 
Social and Governance (ESG) factors. Through our Treasury Management 
Strategy, in terms of ESG investment considerations, ESG metrics, will be used 
where appropriate and available in the credit rating agency assessments when 
considering investment opportunities.  

Typical areas of consideration include:  

(i) Environmental: Emissions and air quality, energy and waste 
management, waste and hazardous material, exposure to 
environmental impact. 

(ii) Social: Human rights, community relations, customer welfare, labour 
relations, employee wellbeing, exposure to social impacts.  

(iii) Governance: Management structure, governance structure, group 
structure, financial transparency. 

 
Local Authority Controlled Company – LACC.  
The Council has the ability to make loans to a Local Authority Controlled Company. 
The criteria for a loan being made with a LACC will be that there is a clear business 
plan that demonstrates the affordability of the investment for the LACC.   
 
Use of External Fund Managers – The Council is not restricted to placing funds 
with cash managers, and will manage funds in house, use fund managers, or 
brokers if it is appropriate to do so. 
 
The fund managers will use both specified and non-specified investment categories 
and are contractually committed to keep to the Council’s investment strategy.  
Currently the Council has an agreement with King & Shaxson, Tradition UK, Imperial 
Treasury and Sterling International.  The fund managers are required to adhere to 
the following: 
 

• All investments restricted to sterling denominated instruments; 

• Amounts invested with any one institution or Corporate Group should not 
exceed the limits specified in Table A and Table B. 

• Portfolio management is measured against the return provided by the 3-
month sterling LIBID, or in accordance with the measures specified in the 
contract. 

 
The performance of investment managed by Fund Managers is reviewed at least 
quarterly by the Section 151 or Deputy Section 151 Officer. 
 
 
 
Appendix 4 
 

96



Appendix A 

TREASURY MANAGEMENT SCHEME OF DELEGATION 
 

i. Council 

• Approval of the annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement 

• Approval of the budget framework  
 

ii. Governance and Audit Committee 

• receiving and reviewing reports on treasury management policies, 
practices and activities; 

• approval of/amendments to the organisation’s adopted clauses, 
treasury management policy statement and treasury management 
practices; 

• receiving and reviewing regular monitoring reports and acting on 
recommendations; 

• reviewing the treasury management policy and procedures and 
making recommendations to the responsible body. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix 5 
 

97



Appendix A 

THE TREASURY MANAGEMENT ROLE OF THE SECTON 151 OFFICER 
 
The S151 (responsible) officer 
 

• recommending clauses, treasury management policy/practices for approval, 
reviewing the same regularly, and monitoring compliance; 

• submitting regular treasury management policy reports; 

• submitting budgets and budget variations; 

• receiving and reviewing management information reports; 

• reviewing the performance of the treasury management function; 

• ensuring the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and the 
effective division of responsibilities within the treasury management function; 

• ensuring the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit; 

• recommending the appointment of external service providers. 
 

 

98



 
 

       

Governance and 
Audit Committee  
 
 

30 January 2023 
 
Councillor Linda Wootten, Cabinet 
Member for Corporate Governance and 
Licensing  
 

 

 

Short Scrutiny Improvement Review – Centre for 

Governance and Scrutiny  
 

Report Author 

Graham Watts, Assistant Director of Governance (Deputy Monitoring Officer) 

  Graham.watts@southkesteven.gov.uk  

 

 

Purpose of Report 

 

To provide the Governance and Audit Committee with an opportunity to consider an 

updated Action Plan in response to the Short Scrutiny Improvement Review undertaken 

by the Centre for Governance and Scrutiny. 

 

Recommendations 

 

That the Committee endorses the Scrutiny Improvement Review Action Plan. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

99

Agenda Item 8

mailto:Graham.watts@southkesteven.gov.uk
http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


Decision Information 

Does the report contain any 
exempt or confidential 
information not for publication? 

No 

 

What are the relevant corporate 
priorities? 

High performing Council 

Which wards are impacted? All  

 

1.  Implications 
 

Taking into consideration implications relating to finance and procurement, legal and 

governance, risk and mitigation, health and safety, diversity and inclusion, safeguarding, 

staffing, community safety, mental health and wellbeing and the impact on the Council’s 

declaration of a climate change emergency, the following implications have been 

identified: 

 

Finance and Procurement  

 

1.1 There are no specific financial and procurement implications arising from this 

report. 

 

Comment provided by Richard Wyles, Chief Finance Officer 

 

Legal and Governance 

 

1.2 There are no specific legal and governance implications not already referred to in 

the body of the report. 

 

Comment provided by Graham Watts, Assistant Director of Governance and 

Deputy Monitoring Officer 

 

2. Background to the Report 
 

2.1  In 2021 the Council commissioned the Centre for Governance and Scrutiny to 

undertake an evaluation of its scrutiny function to check and test that scrutiny 

arrangements met the Council’s high expectations of democratic accountability 

and that decision-making and overview and scrutiny was transparent, effective 

and impactful. 

 

2.2 The review was conducted by Jacqui McKinlay (Chief Executive) and Ian Parry 

(Head of Consultancy) at the Centre for Governance and Scrutiny and consisted 

of two days of evidence gathering on-site through conversations with Members 

and Officers on 19 and 20 July 2021, as well as consideration of key documents 

and the observation of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting.  

100



3. Key Considerations 
 

3.1 As part of the evidence gathering process, the review panel met with Members 

and Officers including the Leader of the Council, Cabinet Members, Group 

Leaders, Chairmen and Members of Overview and Scrutiny Committees, as well 

as members of the Council’s Corporate Management Team, Senior Leadership 

Team and Democratic Services Team. 

 

3.2 The opening summary of findings from the review highlighted conditions for 

successful scrutiny are present at South Kesteven District Council with a clear 

commitment to scrutiny and the value it can bring, the benefits of which are 

recognised by Cabinet. The dedication of Members of Overview and Scrutiny 

Committees, positive examples of cross-party working, making a positive impact 

and wanting to improve outcomes was also emphasised.  

 

3.3 Reference was made to the significant changes at the Council following new 

political and managerial leadership, the political composition and a number of 

service area reviews taking place or having been recently completed, alongside 

the Council’s response to the pandemic and its focus on recovery. It was 

recognised, therefore, at the time of the review, that the Council was clearly in a 

period of transition. 

 

3.4 The outcomes of the review were reported under the following themes, some of 

which included recommendations for further consideration which the Panel feel 

will assist scrutiny in being more effective in how it works and the contribution it 

makes: 

 

• Conditions for success  

•  Organisation and Officer support 

• Clarity and scrutiny’s role and responsibilities  

• Collaborative approach to scrutiny 

• Scrutiny’s focus and work programme 

• Committee structure 

• Chairing and meeting preparation 

• Member development 

• External engagement  

 

3.5 A copy of the review findings is attached to the report at Appendix A. 

 

3.6 The Governance and Audit Committee considered an initial draft of an action plan 

in response to the recommendations of the review at its meeting on 28 September 

2022. It was agreed at that meeting that further work needed to be undertaken on 

the action plan and that this should be informed by a Councillor workshop.  

 

 

 

101



3.7 The workshop was held on 30 November 2022 and a copy of the notes from that 

workshop are attached to the report at Appendix B. The workshop was open to the 

public and a number of public attendees took the opportunity to submit their views 

and comments after the workshop in respect of the Scrutiny Review. Comments 

received and the respective responses provided to those individuals are attached 

to the report at Appendix C. Consent was obtained to publish their names and 

comments as part of this report. 

 

3.8 In re-considering the recommendations of the review, taking into account the 

comments received at the workshop and the written submissions from members of 

the public, a revised action plan has been developed by the Cabinet Member for 

Corporate Governance and Licensing. This is appended to the report at Appendix 

D. 

 

3.9 The Action Plan also sets out progress made to date in respect of each 

recommendation since receipt of the final report by the Centre for Governance 

and Scrutiny. 

 

3.10 The Governance and Audit Committee is invited to consider the content of the 

findings of the review, the outcomes of the workshop and the revised action plan. 

 

4. Other Options Considered 
 

4.1 The Governance and Audit Committee could recommend additions to, deletions 

from or amendments to the action plan. 

 

5. Reasons for the Recommendations 
 

5.1 The action plan seeks to address the recommendations of the Centre for 

Governance and Scrutiny following its short scrutiny improvement review. 
 

6. Consultation 
 

6.1 All Members of the Council were provided with a copy of the feedback letter from 

the Centre for Governance and Scrutiny upon its receipt. 

 

6.2 No further consultation has been undertaken. 

 

7. Appendices 
 

7.1 Appendix A – Centre for Governance and Scrutiny feedback letter  
 

7.2 Appendix B – Scrutiny Review Workshop Notes 
 

7.3 Appendix C – Written representations from members of the public 
 

7.4 Appendix D – Scrutiny Review Action Plan 

102



 

 

 

 

 

 
Alan Robinson  
Deputy Chief Executive 
South Kesteven District Council  

August 2021 

 

Dear Alan  

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           
Short Scrutiny Improvement Review – CfGS consultancy support 

I am writing to thank you for inviting the Centre for Governance and Scrutiny (CfGS) to carry out an 
evaluation of the Council’s scrutiny function. This letter provides feedback on our review findings 
and offers suggestions on how the Council could develop its scrutiny process.  

As part of this feedback stage, we would like to facilitate a workshop with Members and Officers to 
reflect on this review and to discuss options for improvement. We also understand that this report 
and findings will form part of the governance and constitution review currently underway.  

 

Background
 
South Kesteven District Council (SKDC) commissioned CfGS to advise and support its Members 
and officers in the review of the Council’s scrutiny function to ensure that it is effective in providing 
a quality contribution in accountability, policy and decision making, delivery of Council plans and 
overall improvement. 
 
The Council has not undertaken a comprehensive review of its scrutiny arrangements for some 
time and wanted to check and test that scrutiny arrangements meet the Council’s high 
expectations of democratic accountability and that decision-making and overview and scrutiny is 
transparent, effective and impactful.  
 
Its aspiration is to make its ongoing approach to scrutiny fresh, innovative and bold and that its 
overview and scrutiny structure creates the right framework to maximise its impact within its 
governance arrangements.  
 
CfGS undertook a review of the current scrutiny arrangements, involving two days of evidence 
gathering onsite through conversations with Members and Officers on 19th and 20th July 2021. In 
addition, we observed a scrutiny meeting and reviewed key documents.  
 
CfGS met with elected Members and officers, including the Council Leader and Cabinet Members, 
Group Leaders, Scrutiny Chairs, Members of the Scrutiny Panels, Members of the Council’s senior 
leadership team as well, as member support and governance officers.  
 
 
 
 
 

103



 

 

 
 
 
 
 

The review was conducted by: 
 

• Jacqui McKinlay – Chief Executive, Centre for Governance and Scrutiny 

• Ian Parry – Head of Consultancy, Centre for Governance and Scrutiny 

The findings and recommendations presented in this letter are intended to advise SKDC in 
strengthening the quality of scrutiny activities, increasing the impact of its outputs, and through its  
Members, to develop a strong and shared understanding of the role and capability of the scrutiny 
function. 
 
 

Summary of findings 
 
1. Scrutiny has the conditions for success 
 
The conditions for successful scrutiny are present at SKDC; there is a clear commitment to scrutiny 
and the value that it can bring from the political and officer leadership, there is support from senior 
officers and the governance team, Cabinet recognises the benefits scrutiny can bring and Scrutiny 
Members dedicate time to the role and want to improve outcomes.   

Scrutiny Members could reference examples where scrutiny had made a positive impact and 
enjoyed taking part in task groups. Members referenced the climate change working group as a 
recent example of good cross-party working and positive outcomes.   

The majority of those interviewed believed that improvements are needed to make scrutiny more 
effective and give greater value.  
 
There have been significant changes at SKDC including new political and officer leadership, the 
political composition, reviews of service provision including housing and the arts, a governance 
review, new governance team members and a new corporate plan. This has happened alongside 
the Council’s response to the pandemic and focus on recovery. As a result the Council is clearly in 
a period of transition as these changes embed.  
 
From a scrutiny perspective, the new plan and leadership commitment to being open to challenge 
provides an excellent opportunity to add value through its involvement in policy-making and holding 
to account. Our findings recommendations will assist scrutiny in being more effective in how it 
works and the contribution its makes.  
 
 
2. Organisation and Officer support 
 
It is clear that the Council’s Chief Executive and corporate management team is committed to 
supporting scrutiny.  
 
The recent changes at a director level have impacted on the way that scrutiny works, alongside the 
absence of ‘in person’ meetings. There has also been significant staff turnover in the democratic 
services team leading to a gap in support. Members were positive about the support they received 
from Member Services and were complimentary about the quality and responsiveness of officer 
support and are looking forward to the new team members starting. 
 
 

104



 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
With the senior leadership and democratic services team now in place, there is an excellent 
opportunity to strengthen productive working relationships, formal and informal, between the 
Scrutiny Chair, Cabinet Member, Director and democratic services. 
 
 
3. Clarity on scrutiny’s role and responsibilities 

Scrutiny’s overall role is to hold the Cabinet to account, to carry out policy development, contribute 
to improved decision-making, and channel the voice of the public.  

Generally, Members were able to articulate the purpose and contribution that scrutiny should be 
making, although there is more that could be done to ensure a consistent understanding of the 
benefits and value that scrutiny can bring.  

In practice however challenge is not as robust as it could be, particularly from Members of the 
administration, and some Members felt and had evidence to show that scrutiny was not always a 
safe, politically neutral space, where robust challenge was welcomed and encouraged.  

We would recommend:   

• Further reinforcement of the role, purpose and value of scrutiny and there would be 
value in developing a protocol of working between the Cabinet and Scrutiny to 
provide clarity of scrutiny’s purpose at SKDC. This could be achieved through 
training or direct engagement with committees.  
 

• The planned changes to the way the organisation works provides an opportunity for 
scrutiny to be involved earlier in policy development and decision-making, as well as 
holding to account. Scrutiny could add significant value if it focused more on early 
scrutiny of policy development or on pre-scrutiny of key decisions. To be effective in 
doing this it needs to operate early in the cycle and to create a positive (but 
constructively challenging) working relationship with political decision-makers. It 
also means that scrutiny spends more time looking forward towards the future, 
rather than in reviewing and monitoring past performance (although some of this is 
also necessary). This pre-scrutiny work also needs to be reflected in the work 
programme and agenda planning.  
 

4. Collaborative approach to scrutiny 
 
Scrutiny is meant to be a forum for the evidence-based discussion of issues affecting local people.  

Most agreed with the principle that scrutiny is more effective when each committee works together 
with politics left at the door (as much as is practicably possible) and an equal voice is given to all. 

COVID restrictions have impacted on how committees work together but there was little evidence 
of committees working together to agree areas of focus, questioning strategies or reviewing their 
impact post-meeting.  

There is also a mixed level of engagement, with Members of the opposition tending to show 
greater levels of involvement within committee meetings. Effective challenge from all Members of 
scrutiny and an active opposition are healthy governance behaviours in any democratic body.  

 

105



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

There were examples of regular communication and information sharing between the Scrutiny 

Chair, Cabinet lead and Director, but this could be improved.  

 

We heard that Cabinet Members are engaged and regularly attend meetings, there is however 

currently no regular scrutiny of the Leader at any of the committees. This was recognised as a gap  

and the Leader and Scrutiny are keen to rectify this position with a focus on integrated finance, 

performance and delivery.  

 
There is work to be done to establish parity of esteem between Scrutiny Chairs and Cabinet and 
create the safe space for effective scrutiny and challenge to happen, and the benefits this will bring 
to in terms of better decisions.  
 
We would recommend:  
 

• SKDC develop a Cabinet-Scrutiny protocol to outline and reaffirm roles and 
responsibilities, dealing with the with the practical workings of scrutiny as well as 
the cultural dynamics included expected behaviours, access to information, etc.  
 

• That a positive opportunity for scrutiny to hold the Leader and Deputy Leader to 
account forms a regular part of the work programme. The Leader already attends 
scrutiny as required or invited and has indicated a preference to engage more and be 
visibly accountable to scrutiny for overall council progress. Therefore, a quarterly 
Leader/Deputy accountability session could provide an opportunity to hold the 
Leader/Deputy to account for progress on the delivery of an Integrated Corporate 
Plan and Budget Report and any other issues scrutiny feels is important.  
 

 
5. Scrutiny’s focus and work programme  
 
There is a recognition that scrutiny needs to focus more on strategic issues, where it can have 
influence, and that scrutiny should input into the decision-making process at an earlier stage than it 
does currently.  
 
With a new corporate plan, there is an opportunity for scrutiny to add value and to be an integral 
part of the Council’s improvement. For the majority of the substantive items on scrutiny agendas 
there is not a clearly articulated outcome from scrutiny’s consideration of the topic. When topics 
are reviewed the focus tends to be operational rather than strategic or outcome focused.  
 
For scrutiny to be more strategic there needs to be change from both Scrutiny and the Cabinet. If 
the Council wants more emphasis on shaping policy, challenging and holding to account, then 
scrutiny will need earlier access to and involvement with the core policy and decision-making 
activities of Cabinet.  
 
Work programming across the Committees tends to be driven by the Cabinet agenda and there is 
an opportunity with the new plan to consider how each Committee can contribute to influencing the 
policy, generating ideas and providing effective oversight and challenge. 

 
We also noted that scrutiny could be more involved in the budget process, and at an earlier stage 
for any meaningful input. Scrutinising the Council’s finances, including the medium-term financial  

106



 

 

 
 
 
 
 

plan, monitoring financial and operational performance, together with commercial partnerships and 
other external arrangements does not seem to be sufficiently explored.  
 
We have produced guidance, in partnership with CIPFA, on financial scrutiny1 setting out scrutiny 
activity to complement the Council’s annual financial cycle. The guide suggests ways to move 
budget and finance scrutiny beyond set-piece scrutiny ‘events’ in December and quarterly financial 
performance scorecards being reported to committee. 
 
We would recommend:  
 

▪ An annual process for developing the work programme across all of the scrutiny 
committees, engaging Members, Officers, partners and the public to prioritise the 
topics for review. This could involve a member’ workshop, where a shortlist of 
priority topics for the next 12 months are identified according to a selection criteria, 
discussed on their merit for scrutiny, and voted on.  
 

▪ A review of the current approach to financial scrutiny (across all the committees) 
and MTFS/ budget scrutiny and the scrutiny of commercial arrangements and to 
ensure lessons from other council’s recent experiences have been applied. 

 

6. Committee structure  
 
Changing the structure of scrutiny committees is rarely a universal solution to bring about 
immediate changes, the cultural issues are more important. However, we received feedback from 
the majority of people that the current structure of five scrutiny committees for a council the size of 
SKDC is not the most effective use of resources and is creating confusion. 
 
There are too many committees which leads to overlap and take significant resource to support. 
There is limited evidence that this current approach is adding value or making an impact.  
 
We also noted that the Council’s four teckal companies have unclear scrutiny arrangements which 
could present Members with significant governance challenges to test and reassure their value, 
risk, performance and benefit. There is no suggestion that the Companies Committee, whose role 
is to oversee these activities is in any way deficient, but that a scrutiny ‘check and balance’ may 
strengthen governance arrangements. 
 
We would recommend:  
 

• SKDC to consider a new model which either consists of an overarching committee 
with standing committees reporting to it or two committees, one with an internal and 
the other an external focus. There is also scope within a revised model to create task 
and finish groups or other flexible scrutiny capacity. 

• We can advise that other similar size councils also operate with either a single 
scrutiny committee or two (internal focus and external focus) committees; These 
include: 

 

 
1 CfGS & CIPFA (2020) ‘Financial scrutiny, practice guide’ - https://www.cfgs.org.uk/wp-
content/uploads/Financial-scrutiny-practice-guide_proof3.pdf  

107

https://www.cfgs.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Financial-scrutiny-practice-guide_proof3.pdf
https://www.cfgs.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Financial-scrutiny-practice-guide_proof3.pdf


 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
- Hertsmere Council (two committees) 
- Welwyn & Hatfield Council (one committee + one sub committee) 
- Test Valley Council (one committee) 
- North West Leicestershire (two committees) 
- South Cambridgeshire Council (one committee) 

Note: Councils also use task & finish groups to add capacity 

 

• That the governance and scrutiny arrangement for the council’s commercial 
activities, including its teckal companies are reviewed. It is not suggested that 
Members become involved in operational matters or duplicate the role of the 
Companies Committee, but that a consistent and effective Member overview and 
scrutiny arrangement is clarified. 

 
7. Chairing and meeting preparation 

 
Scrutiny’s success is dependent on the right Members, with the right capabilities and attributes, 
leading and managing the scrutiny function. Current chairs at SKDC have varying levels of 
confidence in being able to lead and manage the scrutiny function in a neutral timely and effective 
manner and be confident in managing Cabinet Member involvement.  

The lack of opposition Members involved in scrutiny chairing roles was raised as an issue in our 
evidence gathering. Whilst there is no single right approach to selecting chairs - the emphasis 
ought to be on selecting chairs based on skill set and capability and providing ongoing training and 
support. To create confidence that scrutiny is a politically neutral environment, it may be helpful for 
SKDC to consider a more open approach to chair selection, e.g. by the Committees themselves.  

From our observations of committees, there is little evidence of co-ordinated questions or Members 
acting as a team with clear lines of inquiry. It has been highlighted that a number of Members do 
not prepare sufficiently for scrutiny meetings, leading to the presentation of officer reports that 
should have been read in advance and a missed opportunity for insightful questioning.  

Members were keen to receive papers far enough in advance to read and prepare properly. There 
was also some concerns expressed that the sign-off process for papers, including Cabinet Member 
sign-off, was leading to a lack of transparency on some issues and delays.  

We would recommend:  

• SKDC consider changing the process for the appointment of scrutiny chairs and 
vice-chairs and enabling committees to select themselves. This could be achieved 
by candidates presenting their credentials at the first meeting of the committee and a 
secret ballot held to elect the chair based on a ‘best person for the job’ principle. 
This may also provide the chair with extra independence and authority. 
 

• A review of the process for signing off papers to ensure that it is proportionate, 
supports their timely distribution and transparency. We would also recommend that 
papers and reports for scrutiny are considered by the Chair and Vice Chair and are 
not subject to review or sign-off by Cabinet Members. This will maintain the authority 
and independence of scrutiny to decide on the information it requires to hold the 
executive to account. 
 

 

108



 

 

 

 

 

 

• (Re)introducing pre-meetings before formal committee between all scrutiny Members 
to provide the space to identify priorities and agree questioning strategies.  

 

 

 

 

 

8. Member development 

 
Scrutiny provides an excellent opportunity for broader Member engagement and to support 
Members in getting an in-depth understanding of issues. To get the most out of scrutiny, Members  
need a clear sense of what is required of them as committee Members and the work involved 
which allows good scrutiny to happen.  
 
We noted that regular scrutiny training and briefings on issues such as finance is regularly offered 
to Members but with minimal take-up. There are plans to establish a Member group to support on 
development which will help to identify barriers taking up training and development and inform a 
new approach.  
 
We would recommend:  
 

• More targeted support is offered for people in key roles such as Chairs which can 
meet their needs, e.g. could take the form of coaching or mentoring.  

 
 

9.   External engagement 

In carrying out ‘external’ scrutiny work, it is important to ensure that scrutiny has a clear focus on 
objectives and is able to influence outcomes concerning the topic discussed.  

• We would recommend scrutiny exploring ways to allow greater access, openness 
and involvement. This could include inviting the public to offer ideas for work 
programmes and greater use of social media channels for resident input and 
communicating the progress and impact of scrutiny work. 

 
 

Thank you and acknowledgements 
 
We would like to thank the Chairs, Scrutiny Panel Members, Cabinet Members and officers who 
took part in interviews and the survey for their time, insights and open views.  
 
Yours sincerely,   
 
 
 

109



 

 

Ian Parry  
Head of Consultancy  

110



Scrutiny Review Workshop – 30 November 2022 
 

Members in attendance 

 

Councillors Ashley Baxter, Harrish Bisnauthsing, Richard Cleaver, Phil Dilks, Richard 

Dixon-Warren, Graham Jeal, Gloria Johnson, Anna Kelly, Philip Knowles, Virginia 

Moran, Robert Reid, Kaffy Rice-Oxley, Sarah Trotter, Mary Whittington, Linda 

Wootten, Ray Wootten and Paul Wood. 

 

Officers in attendance 

 

Alan Robinson (Deputy Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer), Richard Wyles 

(Chief Finance Officer), Graham Watts (Assistant Director of Governance and 

Deputy Monitoring Officer) and James Welbourn (Democratic Services Manager). 

 

Scrutiny Review by the Centre for Governance and Scrutiny  

 

The Deputy Chief Executive opened the session, explaining that the Centre for 

Governance and Scrutiny had conducted a review of the Council’s scrutiny function. 

A copy of the final report, setting out 13 recommendations, was included with the 

agenda pack for the workshop, together with an action plan document which set out 

a set of proposed actions to act as an aid for discussion at the session. 

 

The purpose of the workshop was to discuss what positive actions could be 

undertaken against each of the recommendations. 

 

It was confirmed that as this was a workshop for Councillors, there would not be any 

provision for public speaking or public participation. All those in attendance, including 

five members of the public, were provided with copies of the recommendations and 

were encouraged to make their own individual submissions outside of the workshop 

which would be taken into account as part of a final report to the Governance and 

Audit Committee.  

 

It was proposed that each recommendation be considered in turn, with some 

recommendations being linked due to covering the same or similar topics and 

outcomes. Discussion focused on the following recommendations. 

 

Recommendations 1 and 3 (Role, purpose and value of scrutiny and 

Cabinet/Scrutiny Protocol) 

 

The following points were noted during discussion: 

 

• The administration perceived scrutiny as an obstacle to decision-making 

• Topics at Overview and Scrutiny Committees should reflect a more in-depth 

vision of what specifically they would like to review and investigate  

• The Council used to have a designated Scrutiny Officer in post, which would 

be a great support to the scrutiny function  

111



• It was essential that members of all political persuasions were involved in 

scrutiny and challenged that correct decisions were being made 

• Sometimes the scrutiny process at South Kesteven District Council was too 

focused on what had happened previously  

• More pre-decision scrutiny should take place at a much earlier stage. There 

were some occasions when there were no opportunities to scrutinise 

decisions. The Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting regarding 

grounds maintenance was an example whereby the Leader introduced a 

recommendation on the morning of the meeting and completely changed what 

was being proposed and debated 

• Training needed to take place so that everyone understood the principles of 

robust decision-making, a key part of which was ‘challenge’ 

• The Council should reflect on achievements that scrutiny had made 

• Scrutiny was not valued as scrutineers were not members of Cabinet. It was 

sometimes very difficult for backbench Councillors of the administration to 

engage but other Councils achieved this. Training should be held for 

backbench Councillors of the administration as they should not be afraid to 

ask questions or challenge 

• A protocol setting out roles and responsibilities was needed 

• It was reported that a protocol was currently not in place, however, the 

Cabinet Procedure Rules and Overview and Scrutiny Committee Procedure 

Rules in the Constitution did set out the respective roles. It was accepted, 

however, that a specific protocol would provide greater clarity in respect of the 

relationship between the two functions. This protocol had been developed and 

would be presented to the Governance and Audit Committee in January 2023 

• The Centre for Governance and Scrutiny had been commissioned to provide 

training as part of the Councillor Induction Programme 2023 on the role, 

purpose and value of scrutiny. Further training would also be held with 

Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of Overview and Scrutiny Committees as part 

of the induction programme 

• Meetings were often sidetracked with discussion on procedures  

• Overview and Scrutiny Committees provided the only real opportunity to 

challenge 

• The Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee had historically been chaired well and there had been 

good challenge from other Committee Members. Lots of things went upwards 

from the Committee but nothing ever came back down and this model made 

the process of scrutiny irrelevant from the perspective of the Leader or 

Cabinet 

• Some Chairmen of Overview and Scrutiny Committees were not effective 

enough 

• There had to be a positive attitude from the top about scrutiny rather than just 

making a statement that scrutiny was valued. This needed demonstrating 

• Reflecting on practice at Lincolnshire County Council, comments of Overview 

and Scrutiny Committees were always reflected in reports and reported to 

Cabinet. This should be a standard practice 

112



• It was unclear who controlled the agenda of Overview and Scrutiny 

Committees and what rights there were for Members to put forward agenda 

items 

• Independent Scrutiny Officers and their relationship with Committees worked 

very well at the County Council  

• Members needed to appreciate that different Members were entitled to have 

different opinions in respect of decisions that were made and their respective 

vision 

• Chairmen of Committees were able to call for items and ask for reports to be 

included in their work programmes. Governance was the responsibility of all 

Members – all Members should feel involved and valued 

• The report was an opportunity for the Council to move forward 

• Things tended to come before scrutiny when the decision had already been 

made – there was no real opportunity for the Committee to influence or shape 

anything as there was insufficient time before a decision was scheduled to be 

taken. Scrutiny therefore did not really have a chance. The Bourne CiCLE 

Festival was given as an example – a clear recommendation was made 

following a good piece of scrutiny work but it resulted in nothing. It felt as 

though the administration did not like Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

coming up with ideas or recommendations 

• Pre-decision scrutiny was essential. The recent decision in respect of the 

Deepings Leisure Centre was cited as a perfect example where an 

opportunity had been missed in terms of effective pre-decision scrutiny  

• Chairmen of Overview and Scrutiny Committees should be more proactive 

and attend and present recommendations at meetings of Cabinet 

• An annual report should be produced outlining the work of Overview and 

Scrutiny Committees.  

• The Council seemed to have experienced a loss of pride in scrutiny  

• There used to be an item at meetings of Cabinet for issues to be raised by 

non-Cabinet Members. This had been taken away and opportunities for public 

contributions had also been lost 

• All of the recommendations in the report seemed sensible, representing 

improvements and there was no reason why they should not be implemented 

at the earliest opportunity. A question was raised as to why implementation 

should wait until May. In response, it was reported that some of the 

recommendations were not specific in terms of what actions could take place 

to ensure their implementation. Other actions were time sensitive, in terms of 

incorporating them as part of the Member Induction Programme or taking 

them through the Council’s decision-making process if there were 

constitutional changes required, for example 

• A question was raised as to whether a recommendation from the Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee had to be taken into account by Cabinet. It was noted 

that the recommendation would need to be taken into account, but Cabinet 

could decide to implement a decision contrary to the recommendation 

received from the Committee if it wished to, as long as it had given due 

consideration to the recommendation 

113



Recommendation 7 and 8 (Committee structure) 

 

• The Constitution made reference under the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure 

Rules to its outward looking role, which Members of Overview and Scrutiny 

Committees should not lose sight of 

• The recommendations of the scrutiny review suggested use of Task and 

Finish Groups to help drive specific reviews forward. Examples were given of 

other Councils where this worked effectively, inviting representatives from 

external organisations in to provide evidence and help shape 

recommendations. This approach would assist in the outward looking role of 

the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

• A question was raised regarding the rationale of the proposal set out in the 

draft action plan to reduce the number of Committees. It was reported that the 

recommendation of the review suggested only having two Overview and 

Scrutiny Committees. This seemed quite drastic considering the number of 

Committees currently in the Council’s structure so a compromise was 

proposed to reduce the Overview and Scrutiny Committees from four to three, 

but also remove the Constitution Committee (to incorporate into the 

Governance and Audit Committee) and remove the Companies Committee 

(with overview of respective companies being allocated to the relevant 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee). There was broad support for this 

proposal, however, a suggestion was made that the Governance and Audit 

Committee already had a demanding workload, so the Constitution 

Committee should be retained 

 

Recommendation 9 (Review of the process for electing Chairmen and Vice-

Chairmen of Overview and Scrutiny Committees) 

 

• There was no reference in the action plan to implement what was 

recommended in respect of a different process for electing Chairmen and 

Vice-Chairmen of Overview and Scrutiny Committees and it was unclear why. 

It was reported that this particular recommendation had been dealt with as 

part of the Constitution review and a decision as part of that process had been 

taken to retain existing practice. There was no reason why this could not be 

recommended for change as part of this process 

• The removal of the Leader’s patronage was a good idea 

• It may be sensible to bring in the principle of Committees electing their own 

Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen in September so that Members on Committees 

had the opportunity to become properly acquainted after the elections in May 

• Every Council had a different way of appointing Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen 

of Committees, with examples shared 

• On a block vote the dominant party would always vote in the Chairman or 

Vice-Chairman – a secret ballot would therefore be a sensible way forward to 

ensure the right person was elected for each position  

 

114



 

Recommendation 10 (Review of the process for signing off papers) 

 

• If a report came before an Overview and Scrutiny Committee with a Cabinet 

Member’s name on it, it made it difficult for proper scrutiny to take place 

• Reports with broader recommendations should come before Overview and 

Scrutiny Committees before going onto Cabinet, reflecting proper pre-decision 

scrutiny which fed into final reports to Cabinet 

 

Further discussion 

 

During further generic discussion on the review, the following comments were noted: 

 

• A question was raised regarding things which needed to be changed in the 

Constitution if all recommendations of the Scrutiny Review were adopted. The 

way in which Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen were elected and changes to the 

Council’s committee structure were given as the main examples requiring 

constitutional changes 

• A comment was made that there were clearly concerns around scrutiny and 

the Council should be seeking to adopt every recommendation in the report 

as quickly as possible 

• The draft action plan included a proposal for the Leader to come before 

Overview and Scrutiny Committees at least once every six months, whereas 

the recommendation suggested this should be quarterly. Given the strategic 

nature of the Corporate Plan, it was felt that there would be more to report on 

over a six month period rather than attending every quarter, hence the 

proposal to commit to attend meetings at least once every six months 

• An explanation was provided on the meaning of Key Decision in the context of 

Cabinet, based upon financial and community impacts of decisions taken 

• It would be a positive step forward if non-Cabinet Members could have their 

say at meetings of Cabinet as part of the agenda  

 

It was highlighted that a number of actions had already been taken since receipt of 

the report, so some things had progressed already. These were reflected in the 

‘action to date or current situation’ section of the draft action plan. 

 

Summary 

 

The consensus of the workshop was that all recommendations of the Scrutiny 

Review should be implemented. The following key points arising from the workshop 

were highlighted: 

 

• Pre-decision scrutiny should take place at an earlier stage of the decision-

making process 

• Training was essential for Members and Chairmen/Vice-Chairmen of 

Committees 

115



• Consideration should be given to the role of a designated Scrutiny Officer 

• The process of the election of Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of Committees 

should be changed to reflect the recommendation from the scrutiny review 

• A Cabinet and Scrutiny Protocol should be adopted 

• Chairmen of Overview and Scrutiny Committees should attend meetings of 

Cabinet and present recommendations 

• An annual report for Overview and Scrutiny at South Kesteven District Council 

should be produced to provide greater publicity around the work of the 

function 

• Agendas for Overview and Scrutiny Committees should be set sufficiently in 

advance with items on work programmes as early as possible 

• The proposed model of reducing four Overview and Scrutiny Committees to 

three was supported in principle 

 

The workshop closed at 12:03pm 

116



Scrutiny Review – comments from members of the public 

Comments were received by members of the public following the Scrutiny Review 
workshop. These are set out below, together with responses to any points or 
questions raised. 
 
Daniel Speed 
 

Who or what organisation would provide scrutiny training? 

 

We provide training in-house but have also commissioned the Centre for 

Governance and Scrutiny to provide Overview and Scrutiny training for our 

Members. 

 

Scrutiny Committees should be made of non-executive and backbench Members. 

 

They are – this is a requirement prescribed in legislation. 

 

Part of the Cabinet/Scrutiny Protocol should be a requirement for recorded 

responses from Cabinet on Scrutiny reports put to it. 

Any response to a report from an Overview and Scrutiny Committee to Cabinet 

would be recorded in the minutes of the meeting. 

 

Communities should be involved in pre-scrutiny with information gathering in via 

town hall meetings, public surgeries and social media questions. 

 

Overview and Scrutiny Committees have the ability to carryout their business in this 

way now. 

 

Scrutiny needs to hold the executive to account, not be a critical friend. Needs to be 

independent and cross-party. 

 

Scrutiny should be seen as a critical friend, whilst holding the executive to account. 

Politics should not play a part in holding decision-takers to account and the political 

balance of committees ensures that it is undertaken on a cross party basis. 

 

Reviewing and scrutinising past performance, especially when looking at financing 

and return on investment is important to plan for the future – especially in new 

ventures and long term project. 

 

This already takes place. 

 

Further public questions should be allowed. 

 

Members of the public have the ability to speak at meetings of Overview and 

Scrutiny Committees and consideration as to the provision of public speaking was 

undertaken as part of the constitution review. 

 

117



Scrutiny Officers should be independent. 

 

All of the Council’s officers are political impartial and therefore independent. 

 

Committees and Chairs should reflect the balance of the authority with a mix of 

cross-party representation and form a mix of wards. 

 

Committees already reflect the political balance of the authority. Nominations are 

made by political group leaders as to the membership of Committees which are 

approved by Full Council. 

 

The process for the appointment of Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen was covered as 

part of the constitution review but has been identified as specific recommendation in 

the scrutiny review. 

 

Anne Gayfer  

 

My overarching view is this the way SKDC works is too inwards-facing and that it 
must be scanning the horizon for challenges, threat and opportunities, with the 
context of the statutory duties and a strategic overview, taking into account the views 
of the public (With scope clearly defined to weed out personal issues) must be 
defined so that the whole council understand the framework within which scrutiny 
operates. 
 
This is one of the key aspects that the review has highlighted and is something that 
will be addressed through the comprehensive training we will be putting in place for 
all Members of Overview and Scrutiny Committees. It is essential that all Members of 
the Council understand the role of overview and scrutiny and how it can be utilised 
more effectively so sessions on the Council’s governance structure will be included 
as part of the inducation programme for Councillors in May 2023, which all Members 
will be required to attend. 
 
The patriarchal way of running councils was suited to the situation on the 19th 
century, or at least the populace did not have the wherewithal to challenge it.  It’s not 
suitable for a modern society and this is probably partly responsible for the lack of 
democratic engagement.  There are opinions - they’re on social media - how do we 
capture the view of the people and provide the service they want and need? 
 
There are certainly opportunities through social media and other channels to engage 
more effectively with the public on key issues. More informal task and finish groups 
could also be held to more effectively engage with communities and seek to tackle 
issues ‘on the ground’ rather than continuing the practice of solely holding formal 
meetings in a Council Chamber. 
 
Scrutiny needs to be approached from a strategic outcomes perspective to delve an 
overarching framework from within which scrutiny itself can be framed.  It should be 
risk-based as the LA can’t do everything.  Right at the end this was read out from the 
constitution, from the bit I hadn’t been able to find!  But this cannot be boxed up as 

118



you suggested - scrutiny must START from looking outwards at everything. See 
“Trying Hard is Not Good Enough” by Mark Friedman. 
 
We do provide links to the Council’s Corporate Plan and strategic objectives in every 
report – there is a specific part of the report template that covers this, but it could 
perhaps be more comprehensive. We also have a risk section which should make 
links to the Council’s corporate risk register or service risk registers.  
 
A key element coming out of the review was about work programming and ensuring 
that sufficient consideration is given to the work that Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees plan to undertake. A more strategic approach to subjects under scrutiny 
should be undertaken, with a key focus on outcomes – how can scrutiny of this 
particular matter make a difference/influence/improve are examples of questions to 
be asked to achieve this. 
 
There is also a HMT Green Book which is probably too heavy handed to be instituted 
in total, but it should be being used as a modus operandi for all projects (and 
everything is a project).  It includes making the strategic case and then examining 
the cost benefits, which includes “valuing” things like ecosystems, health etc and my 
feeling about this council is that it moves straights to the cost benefit, the strategic 
case is ignored or not known and difficult things in the cost benefit analysis get swept 
under the carpet and put into the “too difficult” box.  For example some of the 
changes such as downgrading Gravity Fields and closing the Deepings Leisure 
Centre are not in the public interest if you take into account things that are hard to 
value e.g feeling positive (leads to better health outcomes). 
 
I would expect this to feature in the training being facilitated by the Centre for 
Governance and Scrutiny.  
 
The NAO has criticised public sector leadership is non-existent, partly because no-
one has been given the role specifically (this is particularly in the context of the 
Climate Act 2008, but it applies across the board).  A Green Book approach would 
create a systems approach where leadership is distributed rather than requiring one 
leader. 
 
Comments at the workshop made it clear that all Members no matter what their 
political persuasion, whether in leadership or opposition, should embrace the value 
that scrutiny can bring, reiterating the critical friend ethos.  
 
Constitution:  there are some circular accountabilities and I think that the Cabinet 
cannot be held to account.  Last time I looked only one third go the constitution was 
online.  I have been sent my own pdf.  Is the constitution now online and accessible 
through a search on the SKDC website? 
 
A comprehensive review of the Constitution was held earlier this year and the new 
version was approved on 26 May 2022. It is accessible on the Council’s website and 
should be the top result if you search South Kesteven District Council Constitution on 
Google. 
 

119



Diversity in scrutiny is best - I went to a Celebration of the Nations event at the 
Jubilee Church recently and the people there are not represented in Scrutiny. 
 
The Scrutiny Review itself is about the practice and governance associated with the 
function. 
 
A fundamental principle should be that people (public, councillors) should be 
educated and empowered to speak.  They should have a right to suggest topics (and 
would need education about what was in scope, which is what I have been trying to 
establish myself, unsuccessfully, by reading the constitution).  You have to be really 
determined to participate as a member of the public - even the door is kept locked 
now and there is no information about how to get in. 
 
Public access to the building is something that is being addressed. Members of staff 
are on hand to allow entry to members of the public during public meetings. 
 
Members of Scrutiny Committees have the right to request items for scrutiny – this is 
within the Constitution. 
 
Members of the public can attend any Scrutiny Committee and ask questions or 
make statements on anything they wish as long as it is relevant to the terms of 
reference of the Committee. This could be to suggest agenda items for future 
meetings, which is something that has recently happened and is welcomed.  
 
Exchange of best practice - should be standard practice to seek this out.  
 
We have a countywide Democratic Services group where managers from the eight 
authorities in Lincolnshire regularly meet and share practice. Officers in the 
Democratic Services Team are also Members of the Association of Democratic 
Services Officers where best practice on a range of issues, including scrutiny, is 
regularly shared and training held. 
 
Confidentiality: I disagree that this is not relevant to Scrutiny.  Meetings should only 
be confidential where this is a real matter of confidentially such as a personal issue 
or something that is commercial in confidence.  Embarrassment should not be 
covered by confidentiality as it lead to rumours and disenfranchisement.  Generally, 
the public should at least be able to observe and preferably make comments. 
 
The press and public would not be excluded from a meeting or have access to 
reports without there being a legitimate reason to do so, as set out in Schedule 12A 
of the Local Government Act (exemption paragraphs). 
 
Peer review: what happened to peer review? 
 
The Local Government Peer Review Panel came back to the Council in September 
to conduct a 6 month review and consider the progress made against an action plan 
that was developed to address a number of recommendations. The progress report 
has now been received and is very positive and was presented to the meeting of 
Cabinet on 13 December 2022. 
 

120



Engaging the public: it has been hard to find out about this workshop.  This should 
be a precedent so that members of the public feel that they are welcome in this 
space - I’d like to attend the Climate Change workshop for example, but even the 
member I asked didn’t know who ran it or how to become a member or to how to 
attend. 
 
There will always be informal meetings of Councils that are not open to the public – 
as much as the Council wishes to be open and transparent, it is not always 
appropriate to hold informal meetings, working groups or workshops in public. 
Outcomes from these meetings will normally be reported into a formal public meeting 
of the Council where public engagement would be able to take place. 
 
Teckal companies: the recommendation is not adequate.  To whom is this function 
accountable?  I have a lot of questions about these companies and even though I’m 
used to trawling though official papers the way the councils minutes of meetings are 
stored makes this so arduous that I have given up.  Not very transparent. 
 
The terms of reference for the Council’s Companies Committee which oversees the 
Council’s interest in its companies is set out in Article 2 of the Constitution. The 
Companies Committee is not a Scrutiny Committee and the recommendation in the 
Scrutiny Review is highlighting that this may not necessarily be adequate scrutiny of 
the Council’s companies as part of the scrutiny function. The draft proposal is 
therefore to disband the Companies Committee and provide the relevant Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee with the power to scrutnise those companies relevant to 
their terms of reference, so that the scrutiny of companies is formally part of the 
Council’s overview and scrutiny function. 
 
Brian Moran 

 

An example was provided of the 2019 Cycle Festival which following consideration at 

a workshop resulted in a different decision being taken, with the Cabinet Member 

choosing to ignore them. The notes of the workshop were not placed in the public 

domain, so there was no record of who attended or who proposed the 

recommendations. 

 

Where was the scrutiny, recommendations and democracy? The Cabinet member 

made a unilateral decision to stop the festival despite recommendations to hold it. 

 

History should be an important part of creating the 'tomorrow', and unless those who 

'say' they are representing the public, admit their failings and change the system of 

patronage and toeing the party line - as opposed to representing the people, there is 

no point in having scrutiny, or are they too egocentric? 

 

Cabinet as a body, or as individual Cabinet Members taking decisions, does have to 

give due consideration to recommendations from Overview and Scrutiny 

Committees, but does not necessarily have to adhere to them. Cabinet, and 

individual members of Cabinet, have the delegated authority to take decisions how 

they see fit. 

121



There will always be informal meetings of Councils that are not open to the public – 
as much as the Council wishes to be open and transparent, it is not always 
appropriate to hold informal meetings, working groups or workshops in public. 
Outcomes from these meetings will normally be reported into a formal public meeting 
of the Council where public engagement would be able to take place. 
 

122



Scrutiny Review Action Plan 
 

 

Recommendation Cabinet Member Response  Action to date or current situation  
 

Proposed next steps Proposed timescale 

 
CLARITY ON SCRUTINY’S ROLE AND RESPONSIBILITIES 

 

1. Further reinforcement of the 
role, purpose and value of 
scrutiny and there would be 
value in developing a protocol 
of working between the 
Cabinet and Scrutiny to 
provide clarity of scrutiny’s 
purpose at SKDC. This could 
be achieved through training 
or direct engagement with 
committees 
 

Agree with the 
recommendation  

• Comprehensive review of the Council’s Constitution undertaken 
and new version adopted in May 2022 

• Terms of Reference set out in the Council’s newly adopted 
Constitution for each Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

• New Rules of Procedure in place as part of the newly adopted 
Constitution to specify the Council’s executive arrangements and 
the overview and scrutiny function and how the two functions relate 
and interact with each other 

• In-house training and externally facilitated training via the 
Association of Democratic Services Officers held for Chairmen and 
Vice-Chairmen of all Committees in July 2022 

• Informal meetings held with Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of 
Committees to consider and share good or best practice  

• Sessions held with the Council’s Conservative Group and 
Independent Group as the official opposition, facilitated by the Local 
Government Association, on the role and responsibilities of elected 
members and the specific role of members on Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees  

• Development of a draft Cabinet and Overview and Scrutiny Protocol 
completed, taking into account examples of good practice from 
other Councils with similar governance structures  
 

• To provide training on the overview and scrutiny 
function for all Councillors on Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees, to be facilitated by the Centre for 
Governance and Scrutiny 
 

• To provide annual training for Chairmen and Vice-
Chairmen of Overview and Scrutiny Committees  
 

• To submit the draft Cabinet and Overview & Scrutiny 
Protocol document to the Governance and Audit 
Committee for consideration, recommending 
adoption by the Council and incorporation into the 
Council’s Constitution  
 

June 2023 (after the all-out 
District Council elections) 
 
 
 
Annually  
 
 
Governance and Audit 
Committee - 15 March 2023 
 
 

2. The planned changes to the 
way the organisation works 
provides an opportunity for 
scrutiny to be involved earlier 
in policy development and 
decision-making, as well as 
holding to account. Scrutiny 
could add significant value if it 
focused more on early scrutiny 
of policy development or on 
pre-scrutiny of key decisions. 
To be effective in doing this it 
needs to operate early in the 
cycle and to create a positive 
(but constructively 
challenging) working 
relationship with political 
decision-makers. It also 
means that scrutiny spends 
more time looking forward 
towards the future, rather than 
in reviewing and monitoring 
past performance (although 
some of this is also 
necessary). This pre-scrutiny 
work also needs to be 
reflected in the work 
programme and agenda 
planning 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Agree with the 
recommendation 

• Regular consideration of Committee work programmes by the 
Council’s Corporate Management Team and briefings with 
respective Committee Chairmen 

• Informal meetings held with Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of 
Committees to consider and share good or best practice regarding 
work programming and the effective use of agenda setting 
meetings and pre-meetings to manage work programmes more 
effectively  

• Encouraged use of the Cabinet Forward Plan to help plan items for 
effective pre-decision scrutiny  

• A focused approach to scrutiny of cross-cutting matters and the 
holding of joint meetings of Overview and Scrutiny Committees for 
specific topics, including the Council’s budget 

 

• To provide training on the overview and scrutiny 
function for all Councillors on Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees, to be facilitated by the Centre for 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 

• To provide annual training for Chairmen and Vice-
Chairmen of Overview and Scrutiny Committees  

 

June 2023 (after the all-out 
District Council elections) 
 
 

 
Annually  

123



 

 

 
COLLABORATIVE APPROACH TO SCRUTINY 

 

3. SKDC develop a Cabinet-
Scrutiny protocol to outline 
and reaffirm roles and 
responsibilities, dealing with 
the practical workings of 
scrutiny as well as the cultural 
dynamics included expected 
behaviours, access to 
information, etc 

 

Agree with the 
recommendation 

• Development of a draft Cabinet and Overview and Scrutiny 
Protocol complete, taking into account examples of good practice 
from other Councils with similar governance structures  

 

• To submit the draft Cabinet and Overview & Scrutiny 
Protocol document to the Governance and Audit 
Committee for consideration, recommending 
adoption by the Council and incorporation into the 
Council’s Constitution  

 

Governance and Audit 
Committee - 15 March 2023 
 

4. That a positive opportunity for 
scrutiny to hold the Leader 
and Deputy Leader to account 
forms a regular part of the 
work programme. The Leader 
already attends scrutiny as 
required or invited and has 
indicated a preference to 
engage more and be visibly 
accountable to scrutiny for 
overall council progress. 
Therefore, a quarterly 
Leader/Deputy accountability 
session could provide an 
opportunity to hold the 
Leader/Deputy to account for 
progress on the delivery of an 
Integrated Corporate Plan and 
Budget Report and any other 
issues scrutiny feels is 
important 

 

Agree with the 
recommendation in principle.  
 
Quarterly updates on progress 
against the Corporate Plan as 
the Council’s principal strategic 
document is considered too 
frequent. It is instead proposed 
that the Leader or Deputy 
Leader of the Council attend 
each of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees at least 
every six months to provide an 
update on progress against the 
Corporate Plan relevant to the 
Terms of Reference of the 
respective Committee.  

• Acknowledgement of the recommendation and ensuring that 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee work programmes facilitate 
updates from the Leader/Deputy Leader on delivery of the 
Corporate Plan 

• Addition of announcements by the Leader, Cabinet Member or 
Head of Paid Service at meetings of Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees to ensure that there is a facility to appraise Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees of any relevant information or updates as 
and when they become available  
 

• The Leader of the Council and/or Deputy Leader of 
the Council to attend each Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee at least every six months to present a 
report and answer questions on delivery of the 
Council’s Corporate Plan  
 

• Objectives in the Council’s Corporate Plan be 
allocated to specific Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees in accordance with their respective 
Terms of Reference for the purpose of six monthly 
progress reports by the Leader or Deputy Leader of 
the Council  

 
 

At least six-monthly 
 
 
 
 
 
February 2023 

 
SCRUTINY’S FOCUS AND WORK PROGRAMME 

 

5. An annual process for 
developing the work 
programme across all of the 
scrutiny committees, engaging 
Members, Officers, partners 
and the public to prioritise the 
topics for review. This could 
involve a member workshop, 
where a shortlist of priority 
topics for the next 12 months 
are identified according to a 
selection criteria, discussed on 
their merit for scrutiny, and 
voted on 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agree with the 
recommendation. 

• Regular consideration of Committee work programmes by the 
Council’s Corporate Management Team 

• Informal meetings held with Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of 
Committees to consider and share good or best practice regarding 
work programming and the effective use of agenda setting 
meetings and pre-meetings to manage work programmes more 
effectively  

• Encouraged use of the Cabinet Forward Plan to help plan items for 
effective pre-decision scrutiny  

• Development of a Partnerships Register to provide a better 
understanding of the Council’s partnership arrangements 

 

• Representatives of the Council to host an annual 
forum for representatives of Town and Parish Councils 
to facilitate engagement in respect of community 
issues which could be fed into work programmes for 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees  

 

• Each Overview and Scrutiny Committee to hold 
workshops at the beginning of the municipal year to 
review its priority topics for scrutiny, key partnerships 
and external stakeholders to help shape the 
Committee’s work programme over the next 12 
months 

 

July 2023 and annually 
thereafter  
 
 
 
 
Annually at the beginning of 
the municipal year  

124



 

 

6. A review of the current 
approach to financial scrutiny 
(across all the committees) 
and MTFS/ budget scrutiny 
and the scrutiny of commercial 
arrangements and to ensure 
lessons from other council’s 
recent experiences have been 
applied 

 

Agree with the 
recommendation. 
 
The process associated with 
budget setting and Member 
involvement is under regular 
review each year, taking into 
account good practice and 
areas for development from 
other Councils. 
 
In reviewing the Council’s 
processes for budget setting 
there are risks associated with 
the submission of 
amendments the budget or 
alternative budgets whereby 
late notice has meant the Chief 
Finance Officer has had 
insufficient time to consider 
whether they are financially 
sound and represent a 
balanced budget.  
 

• Financial scrutiny led by the Finance, Economic Development and 
Corporate Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

• Budget setting and the Medium Term Financial Strategy scrutinised 
by all Members of Overview and Scrutiny Committees as part of the 
Budget Joint Scrutiny meeting 

 
 

• To propose a change in the Constitution to ensure that 
amendments to the budget or alternative budgets are 
considered by the Chief Finance Officer ten days prior 
to the day of the budget meeting of Full Council to 
ensure that the proposals are financially sound and 
represent a balanced budget 
 

• To review the timetabling of the Joint Budget Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee inline with the budget setting 
process and consideration of its recommendations by 
Cabinet  

Constitution Committee –  
February 2023 
 
 
 
 
 
May 2023 

 
COMMITTEE STRUCTURE 

 

7. SKDC to consider a new 
model which either consists of 
an overarching committee with 
standing committees reporting 
to it or two committees, one 
with an internal and the other 
an external focus. There is 
also scope within a revised 
model to create task and finish 
groups or other flexible 
scrutiny capacity 

 

Disagree with the 
recommendation regarding the 
new model, but agree that  
a review of the Council’s 
committee structure is 
necessary 
 
Agree with the 
recommendation regarding 
task and finish groups 

• The existing committee structure consists of four Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees forming its overview and scrutiny function, as 
follows: 
- Culture and Visitor Economy Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee 
- Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
- Finance, Economic Development and Corporate Services 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
- Rural and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

• The Council’s committee structure includes the following other 
Committees which are not part of the Council’s overview and 
scrutiny function: 
- Companies Committee 
- Constitution Committee 
- Governance and Audit Committee 
- Licensing Committee 
- Planning Committee 

• To propose amendments to the Council’s committee 
structure and terms of reference of Committees based 
upon the following: 
- A Finance, Economic and Environment Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee 
(Amalgamation of the Finance, Economic 
Development and Corporate Services, and 
Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committees) 

- A Communities and Housing Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
(Replacing the Rural and Communities Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee)  

- A Culture and Leisure Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee  
(Replacing the Culture and Visitor Economy 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee) 

- The removal of the Constitution Committee, with 
its remit falling under the Terms of Reference of 
the Governance and Audit Committee 

- The removal of the Companies Committee, with 
responsibility for overview of respective 
companies being allocated to the relevant 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee or potentially 
the Governance and Audit Committee  

- The addition of a Standards Committee, with 
Members requiring mandatory training in order to 
act on the Committee 

 

• To encourage the use of Task and Finish Groups as 
part of each Chairman’s management of Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee work programmes  
 
 
 
 

For implementation in May 
2023 (after the all-out District 
Council elections) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ongoing 

125



 

 

8. That the governance and 
scrutiny arrangement for the 
council’s commercial activities, 
including its teckal companies 
are reviewed. It is not 
suggested that Members 
become involved in 
operational matters or 
duplicate the role of the 
Companies Committee, but 
that a consistent and effective 
Member overview and scrutiny 
arrangement is clarified 

 

Agree with the 
recommendation. 

• The Companies Committee is not part of the Council’s overview 
and scrutiny function  

• To propose the abolition of the Companies Committee, 
with responsibility for overview of respective 
companies being allocated to the relevant Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee or potentially the Governance 
and Audit Committee  

 

For implementation in May 
2023 (after the all-out District 
Council elections) 
 

 
CHAIRING AND MEETING PREPARATION 

 

9. SKDC consider changing the 
process for the appointment of 
scrutiny chairs and vice-chairs 
and enabling committees to 
select themselves. This could 
be achieved by candidates 
presenting their credentials at 
the first meeting of the 
committee and a secret ballot 
held to elect the chair based 
on a ‘best person for the job’ 
principle. This may also 
provide the chair with extra 
independence and authority 
 

Disagree with the 
recommendation. 
 
This matter was previously 
considered as part of the 
review of the Constitution.  

• Appointments for Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen are currently made 
at the Annual Meeting of the Council, according to their suitability 
and merit in the opinion of the Leader of the Council  

• To maintain the current process of appointing 
Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of Committees   

N/A 

10. A review of the process for 
signing off papers to ensure 
that it is proportionate, 
supports their timely 
distribution and transparency. 
We would also recommend 
that papers and reports for 
scrutiny are considered by the 
Chair and Vice Chair and are 
not subject to review or sign-
off by Cabinet Members. This 
will maintain the authority and 
independence of scrutiny to 
decide on the information it 
requires to hold the executive 
to account. 

 

Agree with the 
recommendation, in principle. 
 
It is considered that reports 
presented to Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees as part of 
pre-decision scrutiny should 
continue to be in the name of 
the relevant Cabinet Member. 
Scrutiny Chairmen, or Vice-
Chairmen, should be 
encouraged to attend and 
present their Committee’s 
recommendations at meetings 
of Cabinet. 
 
Any items that an Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee itself 
requests which have not been 
identified as requiring pre-
decision scrutiny, should be 
signed off by the relevant 
Chairman as opposed to the 
Cabinet Member. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• A review of the internal sign-off process for reports has been 
undertaken, resulting in a revised report template  

• A new report template has been introduced and regular training on 
report writing is held with Officers, which includes use of the report 
template, deadlines associated with the timely publication of 
reports and the necessary consultation and sign-offs associated 
with the submission of final reports prior to publication 

• Informal meetings held with Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of 
Committees to consider and share good or best practice regarding 
work programming and the effective use of agenda setting 
meetings and pre-meetings to manage work programmes more 
effectively  

 

• To encourage attendance of Overview and Scrutiny 
Chairmen or Vice-Chairmen at meetings of Cabinet to 
present their respective Committee’s 
recommendations  

Ongoing 

126



 

 

11. (Re)introducing pre-meetings 
before formal committee 
between all scrutiny Members 
to provide the space to identify 
priorities and agree 
questioning strategies.  

 

Disagree with the 
recommendation as question 
whether this would work in 
practice at South Kesteven 
District Council.  
 
It may be more necessary 
should a representative from 
an external organisation be 
invited to provide evidence to 
ensure that Committee 
Members get as much 
information as possible out of 
their participation. 
 

• This practice is not currently in place 

• Informal meetings held with Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of 
Committees to consider and share good or best practice regarding 
the running of meetings 

• To provide Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees with ongoing support and 
development and the provision to hold pre-meetings 
should they deem them necessary 
 

Ongoing 

 
MEMBER DEVELOPMENT 

 

12. More targeted support is 
offered for people in key roles 
such as Chairs which can 
meet their needs  

 

Agree with the 
recommendation. 

• In-house training and externally facilitated training via the 
Association of Democratic Services Officers held for Chairmen and 
Vice-Chairmen of all Committees in July 2022 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

• To continue to provide training and development to all 
Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees  

 
 

Ongoing 

 
EXTERNAL ENGAGEMENT 

 

13. We would recommend 
scrutiny exploring ways to 
allow greater access, 
openness, and involvement. 
This could include inviting the 
public to offer ideas for work 
programmes and greater use 
of social media channels for 
resident input and 
communicating the progress 
and impact of scrutiny work. 

 

Agree with the 
recommendation. 

• All meetings of Overview and Scrutiny Committees broadcast live 
and recorded 

• The Communications Team utilise social media to publicise all 
public meetings due to take place every week 

• Public speaking provision at all Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
meetings – members of the public can address meetings regarding 
anything within the Terms of Reference of the Committee rather 
than be limited to items published on the agenda for specific 
meetings 

 

• Representatives of the Council to host an annual 
forum for representatives of Town and Parish Councils 
to facilitate engagement in respect of community 
issues which could be fed into work programmes for 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees  
 

• Produce an Overview and Scrutiny Committee Annual 
Report  
  

July 2023 and annually 
thereafter  
 
 
 
 
Annually  

 

127



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

       

Governance and 
Audit Committee 

 
30 January 2023 
 
Report of Councillor Annie Mason. 
Cabinet Member for People and Safer 
Communities 
 
 

 

 

Safeguarding Annual Report 2021/2022 
 

Report Author 

Carol Drury, Community Engagement Manager 

  c.drury@southkesteven.gov.uk 

 

 

Purpose of Report 

 

In accordance with Article 10 (Regulatory Framework – xxiii) of the Constitution, this 
report presents to the Governance and Audit Committee the Annual Report on 
Safeguarding. The report provides an overview of the Council’s involvement in the 
safeguarding of children, young people and vulnerable adults for 2021/2022.   
 

 

Recommendations 

 

1. It is recommended that the Governance and Audit Committee review the 
appended 2021/2022 Safeguarding Annual Report and note its contents. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

129

Agenda Item 9

http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgMemberIndex.aspx?bcr=1
https://twitter.com/intent/tweet?text=Meeting%20agenda%20@southkesteven
http://www.linkedin.com/shareArticle?mini=true&url=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1
http://facebook.com/sharer/sharer.php?u=http://moderngov.southkesteven.gov.uk/mgWhatsNew.aspx?bcr=1


Decision Information 

Does the report contain any 
exempt or confidential 
information not for publication? 

No  

 

What are the relevant corporate 
priorities?  

High performing Council 

Which wards are impacted? All wards 

 

1.  Implications 
 

Taking into consideration implications relating to finance and procurement, legal and 

governance, risk and mitigation, health and safety, diversity and inclusion, safeguarding, 

staffing, community safety, mental health and wellbeing and the impact on the Council’s 

declaration of a climate change emergency, the following implications have been 

identified: 

 

Finance and Procurement  

 

1.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. 

 

Completed by: Richard Wyles, Chief Finance Officer  

 

Legal and Governance 

 

1.1 There are no legal and governance implications arising which are not already 

referred to in the body of the report or Appendix A. 

 

Completed by: Mandy Braithwaite, Legal Executive 

 

 

Diversity and Inclusion 

 

1.3 Equality impact has been analysed as part of the development and implementation 

of the Safeguarding policy and its associated procedures.  Issues of equality and 

the fair treatment of all individuals regardless of their diversity are addressed 

throughout these documents. 

 

Completed by: Carol Drury, Community Engagement Manager 

 

Safeguarding 

 

1.2 This report provides an update on Safeguarding in line with our constitution. 

130



 

Completed by: Craig Spence, Acting Director of Housing, 12th January 2023 

 

2. Background to the Report 
 

2.1  The 2021/2022 Safeguarding Annual Report (attached at Appendix A) is provided 

to Members in accordance with the Regulatory Framework for the Governance and 

Audit Committee. 

2.2 The report provides a background to the Council’s safeguarding responsibilities; 

training and development opportunities and the uptake by officers and elected 

Members.  The report also outlines the safeguarding interventions undertaken in 

2021/2022, including short case studies to provide a background to some of the 

interactions between residents and officers. Also included is background to, and the 

outcome of, the Council’s submission to the Lincolnshire Assessment and 

Assurance Framework (LAAF) required by the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Adults 

Board under our collective responsibilities relating to the Care Act 2014 to safeguard 

vulnerable adults. 

2.3 As a District Council we have a general duty of care and statutory requirements in 

relation to the safeguarding of both children and adults.  In general, our 

responsibilities are to report incidents or concerns to the responsible authority 

(Lincolnshire County Council) and to work with other agencies to ensure the welfare 

of children and vulnerable adults. The Safeguarding Annual Report reflects these 

duties and highlights how safeguarding is a Council-wide responsibility. 

 

3. Key Considerations 
 

3.1 The 2021/2022 Safeguarding Annual Report (attached at Appendix A) is provided 

to Members in accordance with the Regulatory Framework for the Governance 

and Audit Committee, the report is for information and review.  

 

4. Reasons for the Recommendations 
 

4.1 The report is for information and review. 

 

5. Appendices 
 

5.1 Appendix A – Safeguarding Annual Report 2021-22 

 

  

131



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

 

 

Safeguarding 

Annual Report 2021/2022 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

133



2 

 

1. Introduction 
 
This report provides an overview of the Authority’s safeguarding responsibilities in relation to 
children, young people and adults at risk of harm. 

The Council’s policy sets out its commitment to protect: “children, young people and adults who 
need safeguarding, including employees, volunteers, apprentices and students; those who use 
our services or are cared for by others who use our services; and those with whom our staff, 
elected members, volunteers and key contractors have contact”. 

This document further discusses: 

• Our responsibilities as a district council in relation to safeguarding and Prevent 

• Training and development opportunities and outcomes for officers and elected Members 

• Safeguarding Interactions  

• The current position in relation to the Council’s submission to the Lincolnshire 

Assessment and Assurance Framework (Safeguarding Adults audit) 2022 

• The new safeguarding arrangements within South Kesteven District Council 

 

2.  Responsibilities 
 
2.1 Safeguarding 
As a district authority our services are predominantly provided for adults and those who are 
vulnerable must be protected from harm.  This does not mean however that we do not have a 
legal and moral obligation to safeguard children and young people too. The Council has statutory 
duties under Section 11 of the Children Act 2004 and Sections 42-45 of the Care Act 2014 to 
protect individuals from harm and neglect and to co-operate with other agencies. 

Our responsibilities for the protection of both children and adults are, in basic terms, the same – 
to report incidents or concerns to the responsible authority (Lincolnshire County Council) and to 
work with other agencies to ensure the welfare of children and vulnerable adults.  

 
Safeguarding is the broader term used for the measures available to protect the health and 
wellbeing of children, young people and vulnerable adults to live free from abuse, harm and 
neglect.  
 
In terms of the safeguarding of children and young people1, Lincolnshire has processes for early 
help and intervention which allow agencies to work together to support families at the earliest 
possible time. Through early intervention, children can be the subject of a ‘Team Around the Child’ 
in which the additional needs of the child and its family are met, with their consent, through a 
multi-agency approach.  Depending on the needs of the family, officers from this Authority will be 
invited to attend and participate in Team Around the Child meetings. 

 
The statutory guidance that accompanies the Care Act 2014 (the Act) defines adult safeguarding 
as “protecting an adult’s right to live in safety, free from abuse and neglect.  It is about people and 
organisations working together to prevent and stop both the risks and experience of abuse or 
neglect, while at the same time making sure that the adult’s wellbeing is promoted including, 

 
1 A ‘child’ is defined as a person who has not yet reached their 18th birthday (including unborn children). In 

Lincolnshire this definition extends to the age of 25 for people with disabilities. 

 

134



3 

 

where appropriate, having regard to their views, wishes, feelings and beliefs in deciding on an 
action.  This must recognise that adults sometimes have complex interpersonal relationships and 
may be ambivalent, unclear or unrealistic about their personal circumstances” 

It is clear from this definition that adult safeguarding has its challenges.  The Act is however clear 
that:  

“A local authority2 must act when it has ‘reasonable cause to suspect that an adult in its area 
(whether or not ordinarily resident there): 

• has needs for care and support (whether or not the authority is meeting any of those 

needs) 

• is experiencing, or is at risk of, abuse or neglect, and 

• as a result of those needs is unable to protect himself or herself against the abuse or 

neglect or the risk of it” 

In basic terms adult safeguarding is for people who, because of issues such as dementia, learning 
disability, mental ill-health or substance abuse have care and support needs that may make them 
more vulnerable to abuse and neglect. 

Safeguarding referrals relating to adults must always be made with the explicit consent of the 
individual unless gaining consent would put the individual in danger. Referral without consent, in 
“the best interests” of the individual can also be made if it is assessed that the person lacks the 
mental capacity (as defined by the Mental Capacity Act 2005) to make an informed decision.  

The parameters under which an adult with safeguarding needs is accepted for intervention by 
social care are, as illustrated, incredibly tight.  This often means that those we work with don’t 
meet adult services threshold as they don’t have “identified needs of care and support” as defined 
by the Act.   In these instances, officers will look for alternate support through a referral to the 
Council’s Vulnerable Adults Panel (VAP) or through the instigation of a multi-agency response 
through Team Around the Adult (TAA).  The management, delivery and administration for both 
the VAP and TAA fall within the remit of our housing team. 

2.3 Prevent 
The introduction of the Counter-Terrorism and Security Act in 2015 placed a duty on local 
authorities (County and District in two tier areas) in all our functions to have “due regard to the 
need to prevent people from being drawn into terrorism”. 

In complying with the duty, we are expected to ensure that our venues and resources do not 
provide a platform for extremists and are not used to disseminate extremist views.  This includes 
considering whether IT equipment available to the general public should use filtering solutions 
that limit access to terrorist and extremist material. 

We are further expected to ensure that organisations that work with us are not engaged in any 
extremist views and, where appropriate, to take the opportunity when new contracts for the 
delivery of our services are being made to ensure that the principles of the duty are written in to 
those contracts in a suitable form. 

Prevent falls within the safeguarding arena.  The grooming of vulnerable individuals into 
radicalisation and extreme ideologies is regarded as a safeguarding concern and must be 
addressed as such.  The referral pathways are different, but the principles are the same. 

 
2 The Care Act 2014 and the Statutory Guidance refers throughout to the responsibilities of the Local Authority.  In a 

two-tier county the Local Authority refers to the County Council. 

135



4 

 

It is essential to know that Prevent operates in the non-criminal space.  This means working with 
individuals who have not yet committed a crime but are vulnerable to radicalisation in whatever 
form that takes.  The aim of Prevent is to support such individuals, to divert them away from violent 
extremism before they commit any criminal acts. Prevent does this through a process called 
Channel. The process is a multi-agency approach to identify and provide support to individuals 
who are at risk of being drawn into extremism. Individuals who exhibit concerning behaviour in 
relation to an extreme ideology can be referred to Channel if they give their explicit consent. 

The Authority’s Prevent Lead is Carol Drury, Community Engagement Manager who represents 
the Council on the county’s Prevent Steering Group. This statutory group is a partnership of 
agencies including County and District Councils of Lincolnshire, Police, Health, Fire and Rescue, 
Higher Education, Schools, Third Sector and the Home Office. The Steering Group works 
collaboratively to develop the Counter Terrorism Local Profile for Lincolnshire and its 
accompanying Delivery Plan. The Prevent Lead is also responsible for South Kesteven District 
Council’s contribution to the county’s Strategic Risk Register for Prevent. SDKC’s Prevent Lead 
also Chairs the Community Engagement sub-group that develops and delivers engagement 
activity to raise awareness of Prevent and the support available for those groomed into extremist 
ideology. During 2021/22 awareness raising workshops covering topics of Prevent, Domestic 
Abuse, Cyber Safety and Modern Slavery have been delivered across the County one of which 
was a women-only event held in Stamford at which 32 attendees participated.  

Information requests are received from Police colleagues when an individual is identified in the 
District as a possible Prevent referral. In 2021/22, three such requests for information were 
received.  None of the individual’s identified met the threshold for intervention through Prevent.  
Whilst these individuals were not referred through to Channel, they obviously had safeguarding 
needs.  In all instances alternative support, through safeguarding processes, was put in place to 
meet the needs of these three individuals.   

3. Training and Development 
 
The Lincolnshire Safeguarding Children Partnership and the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Adult’s 
Board request that partners (officers) follow a six-year training pathway that contains training 
specific to levels of interaction with children, young people and vulnerable adults.  The training is 
provided to partners free-of-charge and is a mix of e-learning, virtual and face-to-face modules. 
In addition to this training, officers and Elected Members are required to undergo Prevent training 
to fulfil the requirements of the Local Authority Prevent Duty. 
 
In March 2020 Cabinet took the decision to make safeguarding e-learning mandatory for Elected 

Members.  

All Members are therefore required to complete an e-learning module relating to Safeguarding 

Everyone in Lincolnshire within their first year in office a further requirement to complete 

additional safeguarding-related e-learning modules during their term of office.  Those being: 

• Hate Crime  

• Friends Against Scams 

• Radicalisation and Extremism  

• Tackling Exploitation and Modern Slavery in Lincolnshire 

Seventeen of the Council’s fifty-six elected Members have completed one or more modules of the 
required training to date. 
 
In addition to the e-learning provided, Members were offered the opportunity to participate in one 
of three virtual training/awareness sessions focusing on Modern Slavery.  24 Members attended 
the sessions delivered by Shayne Tyler of Fresca Group. 

136



5 

 

 
309 training modules were completed in 2021/2022.  This includes 258 modules completed by 
officers and 71 by Elected Members. A record of the training completed by officers and elected 
Members is held centrally.  Topics covered are listed in the table below: 
 

Awareness of Domestic 
Violence and Abuse 

Awareness of Child Exploitation Awareness of Self Neglect 

Awareness of Suicidal 
Thoughts 

Brook Traffic-light Tool* Controlling, Coercive 
Behaviour and Stalking 

DASH Toolkit** Domestic Abuse – Short 
Course 

Female Genital Mutilation 
(FGM) 

Friends Against Scams Hate Crime Introduction to Safeguarding 
Adults 

Introduction to 
Safeguarding Children 

Introduction to Safeguarding 
Everyone in Lincolnshire 

Mental Capacity Act 

Mental Health Awareness Mental Health, Dementia and 
Learning Disability 

Missing Children 

Radicalisation and 
Extremism 

Safer Recruitment Suicide Awareness (Zero 
Suicide Alliance) 

Suicide Awareness – 
Veterans Edition (Zero 
Suicide Alliance) 

Supporting Staff through Mental 
Health 

Trafficking, Exploitation and 
Modern Slavery 

 
The level of direct involvement staff have with children, young people or vulnerable adults also 
determines how often training needs to be undertaken.  Community focused staff are required to 
undertake some form of safeguarding training on an annual basis whilst those without direct 
involvement need only complete training appropriate to the service area and level of responsibility 
within that area once within the required cycle unless changes to legislation, statutory guidance 
or procedures require that an update/refresher be completed.  
 

*The Brook Traffic-light Tool is a nationally recognised Sexual Behaviours Traffic Light Tool that 
provides a highly visible, multi-agency response that helps professionals to identify, understand 
and respond appropriately to sexual behaviours in young people. 
 
** The DASH tool (Domestic Abuse, Stalking, Harassment and Honour Based Violence 
Assessment) is part of the Multi Agency Risk Assessment Co-ordinator (MARAC) referral. DASH 
is a risk assessment form to help professionals work out the risk level for a victim. The DASH 
form gives safeguarding professionals vital information to determine whether a person requires a 
referral to MARAC (high risk Domestic Abuse) or support through an alternate agency such as 
EDAN Lincs. In Lincolnshire DASH is a 27 question process used to identify, assess and manage 
risk. 

 
Learning is also essential for the Lead and Deputy safeguarding officer from Serious Case 
Reviews (Children), Adult Safeguarding Reviews and Domestic Homicide Reviews. Whilst these 
types of review do not make for comfortable reading, it is imperative that we take account of 
lessons learned and implement, where appropriate to the District Council’s responsibilities, the 
recommendations of these reviews. 

137



6 

 

4. Safeguarding Interactions and Interventions  
 
Whilst there are requirements on us as a district council to have an identified lead for safeguarding 
it should be acknowledged that there are no safeguarding-specific roles within the Authority.  This 
does not undermine the importance of the safeguarding of individuals from harm and neglect but 
seeks to highlight the fact that safeguarding is everyone’s responsibility.  Officers from across 
the Authority have the knowledge, skill and training to identify the potential for harm and to refer 
individuals to the appropriate support service when a concern is identified. Support for officers 
and elected Members is available through our safeguarding leads. 
 
Any officer in the course of their duties, or an elected member carrying out their representational 
role, may witness, or be informed of, an issue that they feel should be referred to Adult or 
Children’s Services. Referrals during 2021/22 were made by colleagues in Housing and 
Neighbourhoods directly to the responsible authority. During 2021/22 referrals related to 4 adults 
and 1 child.  

Designated officers also attend Multi-agency Child Exploitation (MACE) meetings were cases of 
missing children and those being criminally or sexually exploited are discussed and partner 
actions agreed.  This could be simply providing support to the family to address issues through to 
agreeing and issuing closure orders on properties to disperse or stop criminal activity from taking 
place in identified locations. Vetted officers attend Multi-agency Risk Assessment Conferences 
(MARAC) in relation to high-level domestic abuse cases and any officer working with a child, 
family or vulnerable adult will attend Team Around the Child, Child in Need, Child Protection 
Conferences, Vulnerable Adults Panels, Team Around the Adult and Channel meetings on 
invitation. Officers can instigate Team Around the Child and Team Around the Adult meetings as 
early interventions within the safeguarding arena. This early intervention is often the level at which 
officers become involved with individuals thereby allowing for support to be made available in a 
more preventative manner.  These case rarely require intervention by social workers but could 
require input from social care (Wellbeing Lincs). To illustrate the types of interventions carried out 
by officers during 2021/22, their tenacity in gaining the required outcome and their response to 
the duty of care we have as a District Authority, highlights of some of the cases we have been 
involved in are highlighted here: 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Senior Neighbourhoods Officers received a report of an accumulation of waste and 
personal items stored in the rear garden of a terrace property which had right of way access 
to other neighbouring properties. Neighbours also alleged the occupant was sleeping in the 
passage way. Visits were carried out to the location and the garden was evidently an issue. 
Despite several visits the officer struggled to speak to occupant as they were never at home. 
Land registry checks and Council Tax checks were carried out to identify the owners. The 
Officer located the occupant in the town, and spoke to them regarding the allegation that they 
were sleeping in passage way and about accumulation. Occupant did not want to engage, 
denied that there was any issue and claimed, their garden, their belongings, no problem. 
 
A visit was carried out to the area at 5.30am in the morning and the Officer identified the 
occupant sleeping in a quilt within the passage way of the property. An adult safeguarding 
referral was made. Contact was also made with the GP who agreed to do a joint visit to meet 
with the occupant. Contact was made with occupant’s family to determine ownership of 
property and to ascertain whether any health and wellbeing support was already in place. The 
property was so hoarded that the occupier was not able to get in to their home further than the 
door way of the front door. This meant they could not access the property and sleeping in the 
passage way had become the only option. Referral was also made to NHS Neighbourhoods 
Team, Wellbeing Lincs and Homelessness team. Working with the family, the occupant and 
all of these support services, the property was cleared. It remained  unhabitable despite this 
intervention however so the occupant was rehomed in a council property. Support agencies 
continue to work with this individual in support of their mental health and wellbeing. 
 
 
 138



7 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5. Lincolnshire Assessment and Assurance Framework (LAAF) – Adult 
Safeguarding Audit 

The Care Act 2014 places duties on a range of organisations and individuals to ensure their 
functions and any services they contract to others are discharged having regard to the need to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of vulnerable adults. As a district authority these duties relate 
to the delivery of services such as: housing, sport, culture and leisure services and also to our 
responsibilities as a licensing authority. 

The Lincolnshire Safeguarding Adults Board requires its partners to carry out assessments of 
partner compliance with their duties on a three-yearly cycle.  The current assessment opened for 
self-assessment in May 2022 and was completed in September 2022. 
 
During the self-assessment process, organisations within the partnership complete an online 
assessment tool across six categories, further broken down into 35 questions.  Partners supply 
an overview for each question that is applicable to their organisation and are further required to 
provide evidence to support the narrative to prove arrangements in place. Evidence is uploaded 
onto the online toolkit. A self-assessed grading is given for each question of red, amber, green or 
blue as follows: 

The Neighbourhoods Team received a complaint about a young person involved in committing 
anti-social behaviour and crime in a town centre location. The report stated that damage was 
being done to public furniture; the young person was attending shops and being abusive 
towards staff and customers as well as being generally abusive towards members of the public 
in the street. Contact was made with the Joint Diversionary Panel (JDP). This panel determines 
the punishments given to young people if an offence they are alleged to have carried out is 
proven. The panel aims, wherever possible, to utilise a community resolution such as a youth 
restorative intervention rather than criminalise the child. Officers contacted the JDP at the 
earliest opportunity to determine whether an intervention is already in place and whether 
support agencies were already working with the child before any action was taken.  In this 
instance officers were advised that agencies were aware of, and involved with, the family and 
that the child in question had an early help worker.  

The officer followed this up with a visit to the family home. As with most cases officers from the 
district council get involved in, safeguarding concerns are identified whilst carrying out day-to-
day duties.  This case was one such instance.  Having met with the family, early help worker 
and the school about the anti-social behaviour being perpetrated by one of the children,  the 
officer uncovered concerns about family home life, the life choices of the parents and non-
attendance at school.  There was also a concern about the risk of child sexual exploitation with 
this child.  There were clear signs of neglect of all the children in the household.  Both the early 
help worker and the school had raised safeguarding concerns but none had been escalated 
further due to non-engagement with safeguarding professionals as it was felt there was not 
enough evidence to support the concerns. Following the home visit, the Neighbourhoods 
Officer made a children’s safeguarding referral relating to all the children in the household. 
This again was considered not to meet the threshold for safeguarding intervention. All agencies 
that had raised concerns relating to this family subsequently initiated a Team Around the Child 
meeting.  The collective voices of these agencies ensured that the case was escalated initially 
to Child in Need and subsequently to Child Protection.  As a result of the work carried out and 
the collective effort of all these agencies the Police also recorded the crime of child neglect 
against the parents.  The children and family were being given the support they needed and 
remain in child protection until sufficient evidence of change is proven. 

 

139



8 

 

 

• Red = Not Effective 

• Amber = Working Towards 

• Green = Effective 

• Blue = Excelling 

 
This is the third adult safeguarding audit instigated by the Lincolnshire Safeguarding Adults Board, 
previous audits being in 2016 and 2019 and, for the first time, moderation of the self-assessment 
formed part of the process.  The moderation is intended as challenge to the Council’s self-
assessment. It ensures sufficient and appropriate evidence has been provided to ensure 
compliance with the requirements placed on the District Council in relation to the safeguarding of 
adults. The self-assessment narrative and supporting evidence was completed by officers from 
the Council’s Housing Service with support from the Community Engagement Manager to meet 
the required deadline. Moderation (by dip test) has been completed by the Safeguarding Adults 
Board and fed back. The next step in this process is for officers to address any actions required 
as a result of the moderation.  The moderation challenged two responses made by the Council 
and made recommendations to address these.  The recommendations requirement that we 
amend the self-assessment relating to question 1.4 of the audit: “The organisation's strategy 
and/or safeguarding policy clearly sets out its commitment to its prevention duty under the Care 
Act 2014”. Whilst there is content within the policy to reference this commitment, no evidence of 
the commitment in practice was provided therefore the moderation recommended that the self-
assessed status be changed from  blue to green (effective). The moderation also recommended 
further evidence be provided for question 2.7 “Organisations can demonstrate that any decision 
in relation to the safeguarding of an adult is driven by the principals of Making Safeguarding 
Personal” to support the Council’s green status.   Once these changes have been made the 
Council’s assessment will show green (effective) status across all 6 categories. The final result of 
the Lincolnshire Assessment and Assurance Framework audit will published by the Safeguarding 
Adults Board in summer 2023. 
 
 

6. New Safeguarding Arrangements 

 
As previously reported to this committee, an internal review of our Safeguarding practice was 
carried out during 2020/21. The review helped to determine areas of improvement under the 
headings of: 

• Governance and Visibility  

• Tools and Training  

• Processes and approach  

 
Part of this review looked at safeguarding from an operational management perspective to 
determine whether the structure remained fit for purpose. The Strategic Lead for Safeguarding 
has, since 2011, been the Director for Housing.  During this time, operational lead for safeguarding 
was taken by the Community Engagement Manager.  
 
Recommendations from the review highligted that, whilst the responsibility for safeguarding 
vulnerable individuals falls to us all, regardless of our individual role or position within the Council, 
much of the day-to-day responsibility for policy, procedure, ensuring appropriate training, support 
and advice fell to the operational lead, creating a single point of failure. It was agreed that central 
record-keeping relating to referrals and training would still need to be maintained but additional 
officers were required as deputies to the operational lead to ensure continuity of support. Changes 
to the structure were put in place to address this, with officers from Neighbourhoods and Housing 

140



9 

 

being identified as safeguarding champions to offer further support to colleagues. Whilst in a 
practical sense this improved the support on the ground, having officers from several services 
areas identified for safeguarding led to some confusion around where incidents should be 
reported.  Keeping a central record for incidents and referrals is important in determining potential 
trends, geographical hot spots and links in cases, so, keeping the process simply is vital.   
 
During the review it was also recognised that, as a housing authority, the majority of interactions 
with vulnerable people are carried out by housing colleagues.  This is not to say that officers from 
other service areas, particularly Neighbourhoods, Revenues and Benefits, Environmental Health 
and other front-line colleagues do not encounter and support vulnerable people, nor does it mean 
that referrals to protect people from harm only come from housing colleagues.  Legislative 
guidance still maintains that safeguarding is everyone’s business.  Officers from across the 
Authority need to be  aware of safeguarding practices and know how to respond if concerns are 
identified.   
 
The decision was taken in April 2022 to move strategic and operational management of 
safeguarding from Community Engagement to Housing. The Assistant Director for Housing has 
therefore become the Designated Safeguarding Lead for South Kesteven District Council. The 
Head of Housing and the Housing Options Manager will support the Director going forward.   
Safeguarding, including Prevent, remains a corporate responsibility and therefore these officers 
will continue to support colleagues from across the Council ensuring policy and training 
requirements remain fit for purpose.  
 
 
 
 

141



This page is intentionally left blank



Governance and Audit Committee Work Plan 2022-23 
 

Committee Membership: 7 
 

Chairman: Councillor Paul Wood 
 

Vice-Chairman: Councillor Kaffy Rice-Oxley 
 

Item Current Issues/Status Outcome Sought 

 

 30 January 2023  

Scrutiny Review Update Report summarising the key findings from the scrutiny review. To review and note the contents of 
the report. 

Treasury Management Strategy 
Statement 

Finance to present the Treasury Management Strategy Statement For Committee to review 

Safeguarding Annual Report 
2021/22 
 

An overview of the Council’s involvement in the safeguarding of 
children, young people and vulnerable adults for 

2021/22. 
 

To review and note the contents of 
the report. 

Appointment of External 
Auditors 

To inform committee of the outcome of the Public Sector Audit 
Appointment procurement process. 

To review and note the contents of 
the report. 

Internal Audit Progress Report 
 

Update from the Council’s Internal Auditors. To review and note the contents of 
the progress report. 
 

 15 March 2023  

Review of Effectiveness and 
Terms of Reference 

Biennial review of the Committee’s Terms of Reference To consider the Committee’s work 
over the previous two municipal 
years and suggest changes to the 
Terms of Reference if necessary. 

Internal Audit Draft Plan 
2022/23 

Internal Audit to present Draft Audit Plan for 2022/23. To review and note the contents of 
the plan. 
 

Planning Service Review 
Progress Report 

The progression made following an external review of the 
Planning Service commissioned by South Kesteven District 
Council 

To note the external review and 
planned member engagement. 

143

A
genda Item

 10



Item Current Issues/Status Outcome Sought 

External Audit Annual Report on 
Grants and Returns  
 

Report providing details on the Housing Benefit Subsidy claim. To review and note the contents of 
the report. 

Strategic Risk Register The Strategic Risk Register is presented to the Committee twice a 
year as part of the monitoring and review of the risk management 
arrangements. 

 

To review and consider approving 
the Strategic Risk Register. 

Statement of Accounting 
Policies  
 

Annual report prior to the preparation of the Statement of 
Accounts to ensure that the policies are up to date and in line with 
the CIPFA Code of Practice. 

 

To consider approving the 
Statement of Accounting Policies. 

Items to be allocated as and when required 

Financial Regulations 

Code of Corporate Governance 

Code of Conduct 

Contract Procedure Rules 

Risk Management Framework 

Committee Members Meeting with Auditors 

Counter Fraud Framework 

 

 

 

 

144


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 30 November 2022
	4 Updates from previous meeting
	5 Appointment of External Auditors
	6 Internal Audit Progress Report
	SKDC Programme Management
	SKDC Void Management

	7 Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2023-24
	Appendix A

	8 Short Scrutiny Improvement Review
	Appendix A - Centre for Governance & Scrutiny feedback letter
	Appendix B - Scrutiny Review Workshop Notes
	Appendix C - Written representations from members of the public
	Appendix D - Scrutiny Review Action Plan

	9 Safeguarding Annual Report 2021-2022
	Appendix A - Safeguarding Annual Report 2021-2022a

	10 Work Programme 2022 - 2023

